

LUND UNIVERSITY

Mammographic density. A marker of treatment outcome in breast cancer?

Dalene Skarping, Ida

2020

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Dalene Skarping, I. (2020). Mammographic density. A marker of treatment outcome in breast cancer? [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Mammographic density

A marker of treatment outcome in breast cancer?

IDA SKARPING FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY





FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2020:113 ISBN 978-91-7619-976-3 ISSN 1652-8220



Mammographic density: A marker of treatment outcome in breast cancer?

Mammographic density

A marker of treatment outcome in breast cancer?

Ida Skarping



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Belfragesalen, BMC, Lund. Friday, November 6, 2020, at 09.00

> *Faculty opponent* Professor Charlotta Dabrosin, Linköping University, Sweden

Organization	Document name		
LUND UNIVERSITY	Doctoral Dissertation, Serie	s 2020:113	
Faculty of Medicine	Date of issue	Date of issue	
Department of Clinical Sciences, Lun	d November 6, 2020		
Division of Oncology and Pathology			
Author: Ida Skarping, MD	Sponsoring organization		
Title and subtitle Mammographic de	ensity: A marker of treatment outcome i	n breast cancer?	
Abstract			
 Background: Breast cancer is the most common cancer in women worldwide. Personalized cancer treatment requires predictive biomarkers, including image-based biomarkers. Mammographic density (MD) is a risk factor for developing breast cancer (BC). To study MD might be a feasible way to clarify the role of both potential risk factors and risk-reducing factors for BC, with statins among the latter. MD might also serve as a treatment predictive marker. During neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT), it is possible to radiologically evaluate treatment response and compare the results to whether pathological complete response (pCR) was accomplished or not. Aims: The biological explanation for the link between MD and BC seems to be highly complex. We aim to address this association from a different point of view; understanding if pharmaceuticals can cause a decrease in MD, thereby studying how MD can serve as a predictive biomarker, advantageously tested in the neoadjuvant setting. Methods: Paper 1: More than 41,000 women attending BC screening completed a questionnaire covering BC risk factors and various baseline characteristics, as included in the prospective national study cohort, KARMA. Information on medication use was derived from national registers. Paper 2: The retrospectively gathered regional study cohort, NeoMon, consists of more than 300 BC-patients receiving NACT. MD was assessed according to the Breast Imaging-Reporting and Data System (BI-RADS) 5th 			
Edutor. Patient and tumor characteristics were retrieved from medical charts. <u>Papers 3 and 4:</u> In the prospective study, NeoDense, BC patients receiving NACT (N = 200), underwent mammography, breast tomosynthesis (N = 156), and ultrasound at baseline, and after 2 and 6 cycles, respectively. MD was measured with Volpara TM . The different imaging modalities' capacities in terms of evaluating respectively.			
Results: Paper 1: After a multivariab	le adjustment, we found no association	between statin use and absolute	
dense volume than the non-statin users ever using HRT.			
Paper 2: Logistic regression models, with multiple adjustment factors, showed that in comparison to patients with non-dense breasts (BI-RADS a), patients with denser breasts had a lower chance of accomplishing pCR, most prominently seen in premenopausal patients. Paper 3: A total of 74% of patients decreased their absolute dense volume during NACT. The likelihood of			
accomplishing pCR following NACT was independent of volumetric MD at diagnosis and change in volumetric MD during treatment.			
Paper 4: Early radiological responders had 2–3-times higher chance of pCR than early radiological <u>non-</u> responders. Post-NACT, mammography, ultrasound, and tomosynthesis could accurately estimate tumor size (within a 5 mm margin compared to pathological evaluation) in 43–46% of all tumors. The diagnostic precision in predicting pCR was similar between the three modalities; however, tomosynthesis had slightly higher specificity and positive predictive values.			
Conclusions: MD might have a predictive value during NACT; however, future larger studies are needed to understand how MD can be used in the clinical routine. Lack of early radiological response is worrisome, and there might be a need for improved monitoring and changed treatment plans; trials designed to evaluate the efficacy of changing or adding treatment are warranted.			
Keywords: Mammographic density, pCR, neoadjuvant chemotherapy, diagnostic precision			
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)			
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language: English	
ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-7619-976-3	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 134	Price	
	Security classification		
I the undersigned being the converget	aumor of the chatrast of the chave me	ntioned dispertation, berehv grant to all	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature (ela Skaeping

Date 2020-09-24

Mammographic density

A marker of treatment outcome in breast cancer?

Ida Skarping



Supervisor

Professor Signe Borgquist, MD, PhD

Co-supervisors

Professor Sophia Zackrisson, MD, PhD Daniel Förnvik, Medical Physicist, PhD Marie Klintman, MD, PhD

Clinical Sciences, Lund Division of Oncology and Pathology Lund University, Lund, Sweden Cover photo by Ida Skarping

Dissertational thesis – Copyright © Ida Skarping Paper 1 © by the Authors (Open Access BioMed Central) Paper 2 © by the Authors (Open Access Springer Nature) Paper 3 © by the Authors (Open Access Elsevier Ltd.) Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Division of Oncology and Pathology Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2020:113 ISBN 978-91-7619-976-3 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2020



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN

To Ebba and Viktor

Table of Contents

List of original papers	10
Thesis at a glance	11
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning (in Swedish)	12
Abbreviations	14
Introduction	15
Background	19
Breast cancer	19
The breast	19
Breast carcinogenesis	20
Risk factors	20
Obesity and inflammation	23
Breast cancer classification – prognostic and predictive factors	26
Breast cancer treatment	28
Breast imaging	33
Mammographic density	
Aims	53
Overall aims	53
Specific aims	53
Patients and Methods	55
Cohorts	55
Patient and tumor characteristics	57
Patient characteristics	57
Tumor characteristics	58
Neoadjuvant chemotherapy	59
Breast imaging	60
Statistical analysis	62
Ethical considerations	69
Methodological considerations	71

Results and discussion	
Paper I	77
Results	77
Discussion	
Paper II	80
Results	80
Discussion	80
Paper III	
Results	
Discussion paper II and III	
Paper IV	
Results	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
Future perspectives	95
Acknowledgements	97
References	101

List of original papers

The thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the thesis by their Roman numerals:

- I. Skarping I, Brand J, Hall P, Borgquist S Effects of statin use on volumetric mammographic density; results from the KARMA study *BMC Cancer*, 15:435, 2015
- II. Skarping I, Förnvik D, Sartor H, Heide-Jørgensen U, Zackrisson S, Borgquist S.
 Mammographic density is a potential predictive marker of pathological response after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer. *BMC Cancer*, 19(1):1272, 2019
- III. Skarping I, Förnvik D, Heide-Jørgensen U, Sartor H, Hall P, Zackrisson S, Borgquist S
 Mammographic density changes during neoadjuvant breast cancer treatment: NeoDense, a prospective study in Sweden *The Breast*, Vol. 53, p33–41 Published online: June 17, 2020
- IV. Skarping I, Förnvik D, Heide-Jørgensen U, Rydén L, Zackrisson S, Borgquist S Neoadjuvant breast cancer treatment response; tumor size evaluation by various conventional imaging modalities in the NeoDense study Accepted to Acta Oncologica 2020-09-24

All publications are reprinted with permission from the copyright holders.

Thesis at a glance

Paper	Questions	Methods	Results and Conclusions
I "KARMA"	In order to clarify the effect of statins on breast cancer risk, we asked: Is there an association between statin use and volumetric MD?	Over 41,000 women attending breast cancer screening and completing a questionnaire covering breast cancer risk factors and various baseline characteristics were included in the study cohort. Information on statin use was derived from national registers.	After a multivariable adjustment, we found no effect of statin use on absolute dense breast volume. Statin users reporting ever using HRT had a larger absolute dense volume than the non-statin users ever using HRT.
II "NeoMon"	Can MD, assessed with BI-RADS, be a predictive marker of pCR?	The retrospectively gathered regional study cohort consists of over 300 patients receiving NACT. MD of diagnostic mammograms was scored according to BI-RADS 5 th Edition. Patient and tumor characteristics were retrieved from medical charts.	Logistic regression models, with multiple adjustment factors, showed that in comparison to patients with low MD (BI-RADS a), patients with denser breasts had a lower OR of accomplishing pCR, most prominently seen in premenopausal patients.
III "NeoDense"	Can MD, assessed with Volpara [™] , be a predictive marker of pCR? Does MD change during NACT - and to what degree?	Breast cancer patients receiving NACT (N = 207) enrolled in the study underwent imaging evaluation at baseline after 2 and 6 cycles of NACT, respectively. MD was measured with Volpara [™] and BI-RADS.	Logistic regression models, with multiple adjustment factors, showed no evidence of MD as a predictive marker with neither Volpara [™] nor BI-RADS. A total of 74% of patients decreased their absolute dense volume during NACT.
IV "NeoSize"	What is the association between radiological complete response and pCR post- NACT? How is early radiological response associated with pCR?	The same cohort as in paper III. Detailed information on radiological tumor characteristics at baseline, after 2 and 6 cycles of NACT for mammography, breast tomosynthesis and ultrasound, respectively. Agreement and accuracy (in relation to pathological tumor size) were evaluated with Bland-Altman plots. The ability to correctly identify pCR with conventional breast imaging was evaluated.	Patients with radiological early response had a chance of pCR 2.9-, 2.8-, and 1.8-times higher compared to radiological early <u>non</u> -responders assessed with ultrasound, breast tomosynthesis and mammography, respectively. Post-NACT imaging was accurate (within a 5 mm margin), in terms of tumor size estimation by imaging in relation to pathological tumor evaluation, in 43–46% of all tumors. Early radiological non-responding patients may be considered for changed treatment plans.
Abbreviations: BI-RADS: Breast Imaging-Reporting and Data System; HRT: hormonal replacement therapy; MD: mammographic density; NACT: neoadjuvant chemotherapy; OR: odds ratio; pCR: pathological complete response			

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning (in Swedish)

Bröstcancer är den vanligaste cancerformen hos kvinnor globalt så väl som i Sverige. Uppskattningsvis kommer var nionde svensk kvinna att drabbas av bröstcancer under sin livstid. Antalet fall av bröstcancer ökar i Sverige. Överlevnaden vid bröstcancer är mycket god, och blir allt bättre. Den genomsnittliga 5-års överlevnaden är 92% och 10-års överlevnaden är 86%. Bröstcancer utan dottersvulster (metastaser), är därmed att betrakta som botbar.

Bröstcancer är inte bara en sjukdom, utan ett samlingsbegrepp för många tumörer med olika egenskaper t.ex. i form av känslighet för kvinnligt könshormon, östrogen. För att varje patient ska få skräddarsydd behandling, ge eller avstå från extra och starkare behandlingar till patienter utifrån risk för återfall, är det viktigt med markörer som kan hjälpa oss att identifiera patienternas riskprofil. Vanligtvis ges cellgiftsbehandling efter operationen och syftar i första hand till att ta bort mikroskopisk cancersjukdom som kan finnas kvar i bröstet och på andra ställen i kroppen efter att man opererat bort brösttumören. Ett alternativ är att göra tvärtom – ge cellgiftsbehandling först och därefter operera, så kallad neoadjuvant behandling. På så sätt går det att mäta tumörens storlek före, under och efter behandlingen och säkerställa att behandlingen hjälper mot just den tumören hos just den kvinnan.

I Sverige har vi ett screeningprogram för bröstcancer där alla kvinnor i åldern 40– 74 år regelbundet bjuds in att ta röntgenbilder av brösten, en så kallas mammografiundersökning. I Sverige upptäcks ca 60% av alla bröstcancrar genom screeningprogrammet. Bilddiagnostik av brösten spelar en stor roll när man fattar beslut om behandling av patienter. De vanligaste metoderna för bröstdiagnostik är mammografi och ultraljud.

Förutom tumören, så kan själva bröstet i sig se ut på olika sätt i en mammografibild. Bröst som innehåller mycket körtelvävnad är vitare på en mammografibild medan fettrika bröst är mörkare på en mammografibild. Det vita, eller relationen mellan vitt och svart i bilden är det som kallas mammografisk täthet eller brösttäthet. Hög (mammografisk) brösttäthet är en etablerad riskfaktor för att utveckla bröstcancer och för att drabbas av återfall om man en gång har haft bröstcancer. Studier har visat att kvinnor vars brösttäthet minskar under anti-hormonell behandling har lägre risk för att få tillbaka bröstcancer jämfört med kvinnor vars brösttäthet inte minskar.

Genom att studera hur olika mediciner påverkar brösttäthet, t.ex. statiner som är en kolesterolsänkande medicin med anti-inflammatoriska egenskaper, kan man indirekt studera hur dessa mediciner påverkar risken att utveckla bröstcancer. Med anledning av detta finns det även förutsättningar att undersöka om cellgiftsbehandling påverkar brösttätheten. Avseende cellgifter vill vi även undersöka om brösttäthet är relaterad till behandlingseffekt. Det övergripande målet med denna avhandling, bestående av fyra delarbeten, är att skapa djupare förståelse för hur läkemedel, primärt cellgifter, påverkar brösttätheten. Vi har studerat om brösttäthet är förknippat med behandlingseffekt av cellgifter i den neoadjuvanta behandlings-situationen. Vi har även undersökt hur tumörstorleken förändras under cellgiftsbehandling med tre olika bilddiagnosiska metoder: mammografi, ultraljud och bröst-tomosyntes, en 3D-mammografi av brösten. Vi undersökte hur väl man med olika bilddiagnostiska metoder kan förutspå vilka patienter som kommer att ha så god effekt av cellgifterna att ingen tumör finns kvar när alla behandlingar är givna och det är dags för operation. Här följer en kortfattad sammanfattning av de fyra delarbetena.

Delarbete 1 bygger på en stor nationell studie av kvinnor utan bröstcancer som genomgick mammografiundersökning. Genom utförliga frågeformulär samt datauttag från svenska läkemedelsregister, hade vi tillgång till detaljerad information om kvinnornas användning av statiner. Våra resultat kunde inte påvisa några starka samband mellan mängd tät bröstvävnad och användande av statiner.

I **delarbete 2 och 3** tittade vi på sambandet mellan brösttäthet och behandlingseffekt av cellgifter. I **delarbete 2** samlade vi in information om ca 300 kvinnor som tidigare fått neoadjuvant cellgiftsbehandling i Skåne. Vi gjorde en visuell täthetsbedömning av mammografibilder från diagnostillfället och undersökte om det fanns ett samband mellan brösttäthet och om tumören hade försvunnit helt efter avslutad behandling, så kallad komplett respons. Vi fann att kvinnor med mycket täta bröst, speciellt kvinnor som ännu ej kommit i klimakteriet, hade en lägre sannolikhet att tumören var helt borta efter cellgifterna jämfört med kvinnor med mindre täta bröst.

Strax över 200 kvinnor med bröstcancer aktuella för neoadjuvant cellgiftsbehandling tillfrågades om de vill vara med i NeoDense-studien i samband med att de fick sin bröstcancerdiagnos. I delarbete 3 undersökte vi hur kvinnornas brösttäthet, mätt med ett automatiserat datorprogram för brösttäthet, vid start av cellgiftsbehandling, under och strax efter avslutad behandling, var relaterat till behandlingseffekt i tumören. Vi såg att brösttätheten minskade under behandling för en stor andel av kvinnorna, men vi kunde inte hitta något samband mellan brösttäthet och behandlingseffekt i tumören.

I **delarbete 4** undersökte vi om bilddiagnostik av brösten redan under pågående behandling kunde förutspå om tumören svarade så bra på behandlingen att den försvann helt. Vi jämförde tre olika sorters bilddiagnostik (mammografi, brösttomosyntes och ultraljud av bröstet). Vi undersökte hur överensstämmande den bilddiagnostiska tumörstorleken var med den av patologen uppmätta tumörstorleken i den bortopererade bröstvävnaden. Vi såg att om en tumör inte markant minskade i storlek redan under de första två omgångarna med cellgifter så var det låg sannolikhet att tumören skulle försvinna helt efter alla sex omgångar.

Abbreviations

ANCOVA	Analysis of Covariance
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
BI-RADS	Breast Imaging-Reporting and Data System
BMI	Body Mass Index
BRCA	Breast Cancer Gene
CC	Craniocaudal
CI	Confidence Interval
DCIS	Ductal Carcinoma In Situ
EC	Epirubicin and Cyclophosphamide
ER	Estrogen Receptor
FEC	Fluorouracil, Epirubicin and Cyclophosphamide
HER2	Human Epidermal growth factor Receptor 2
HRT	Hormonal Replacement Therapy
MLO	Mediolateral Oblique
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
NSAID	Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs
OR	Odds Ratio
pCR	pathological Complete Response
PR	Progesterone Receptor
TNM	Tumor, Node, Metastases
VBD%	Volumetric Breast Density percentage

Introduction

Breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer form in women, accounting for nearly one in four female cancer cases worldwide¹. Every year, more than two million women are diagnosed with breast cancer¹, and one in eight women in the western world is affected by breast cancer during their lifetime^{2,3}. Breast cancer incidence in Sweden is increasing (Figure 1), and in 2016, 7558 women were diagnosed with breast cancer, representing 29% of all cancer cases in Swedish women⁴. However, mortality rates have improved; the 5- and 10-year survival rates have increased steadily, reaching, 92% and 86% in 2016, respectively⁴. Early breast cancer is thus considered to be curable, in contrast to advanced, metastatic disease⁵.



Figure 1. Incidence and mortality of breast cancer in Sweden^{6,7} © International Agency for Research on Cancer

Breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease, with different subtypes having a diverse natural history and responding differently to treatment⁸. The categorization of subgroups can be based on the histology of the tumor⁵, e.g., ductal or lobular carcinoma, on their pattern of gene expression (the intrinsic system⁹), or – most often used in the clinic – a surrogate intrinsic system¹⁰ based on the immunohistochemical expression of a few key points. Reasons beyond the improved long-term survival are multifactorial: earlier detection through screening programs¹¹, and improved adjuvant treatment according to molecular subtype¹²; a beneficial shift from focusing on tumor burden to directing treatment towards the actual biology of the cancer⁵.

Risk factors for developing breast cancer can traditionally be divided as either nonmodifiable factors (e.g., gender, age, height, genes) or modifiable factors (lifestyle factors, weight)¹³, the latter category having the potential to be modified by preventive measures. Mammographic density can be considered a partly modifiable factor. After female gender, age, and breast cancer gene (BRCA) mutation status, mammographic density, reflecting the amount of radiodense tissue (fibroglandular) and the radiolucent tissue (fat) on an X-ray of the breast (mammogram)¹⁴, is considered to be the most important risk factor^{15,16}. It has been suggested that almost 30% of premenopausal and 15% of postmenopausal breast cancers can be attributed to high mammographic density alone¹⁷. Since mammographic density is such a major risk factor for breast cancer¹⁸, to study mammographic density might be a feasible way to clarify the role of both potential risk factors and risk-reducing factors for breast cancer.

There are three levels of prevention: primary prevention (prevent disease before it occurs), secondary prevention (reduce the impact of disease that has already occurred), and tertiary prevention (reduce severity and sequelae)¹⁹. Early detection (secondary prevention) and personalized treatment (tertiary prevention) is the best strategy for a better cancer outcome. However, a large challenge lies in finding strategies to prevent breast cancer occurrence (primary prevention)²⁰⁻²². Statins, blocking a rate-limiting step in the mevalonate pathway, are cholesterol-lowering drugs with proven anti-proliferative and anti-inflammatory properties in cancer²³. Epidemiological studies have shown conflicting results regarding the role of statins in prohibiting breast cancer occurrence²⁴⁻²⁶, but more certainty exists regarding statins and tumor progression²⁷⁻³⁰. An alluring concept is to address potential risk-reducing factors for breast cancer by studying its association with mammographic density, considered as an intermediate in breast cancer etiology. In this thesis, we studied the association between statins and breast cancer risk by studying mammographic density.

A clinical treatment decision, preferably a multidisciplinary $one^{31,32}$, is based on tumor characteristics (i.e., stage and molecular subtype³³) and the individual

patient's personal wishes, prerequisites, and potential comorbidities. Breast cancer treatment is based on two pillars: locoregional treatment (surgery and radiotherapy) and systemic treatment (chemotherapy, endocrine therapy and targeted therapy). Often breast cancer patients considered operable undergo primary surgery, and depending on clinical, pathological, and molecular risk factors³⁴, are followed by adjuvant systemic treatment and locoregional radiotherapy. The adjuvant treatment aims at eradicating any remaining cancer cells.

When the concept of neoadjuvant treatment, i.e., systematic chemotherapy before surgery, was introduced in the 1970s³⁵, the primary aim was to downstage locally advanced inoperable tumors and make them operable³⁶. Subsequently, the indication has broadened, enabling breast-conservatory surgery, and now neoadjuvant chemotherapy is widely used for both large tumors and also smaller tumors with other risk factors^{36,37}. In the neoadjuvant setting, one can study the tumor's response to given treatment *in vivo*, both clinically and – of great interest to this thesis – by imaging.

Imaging of the breast is dominated by mammography and ultrasound, although other modalities, such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), are also widely used. Recently, breast tomosynthesis, a 3-dimensional X-ray technique, has become more common³⁸. For metastatic screening, i.e., cancer staging, computed tomography of the chest, abdomen, and pelvis is used in the vast majority of cases³⁹. For patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy, radiological diagnostics help evaluate treatment response *in vivo*, and imaging should help clinicians make an as early and accurate informed treatment decisions as possible.

This thesis focuses on radiological characteristics, predominantly mammographic density, and its association with treatment response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Also, we want to deepen the knowledge of mammographic density and its association with systemic treatment with pharmaceuticals (statins).

Background

Breast cancer

The breast

The female breast consists mainly of fat, connective tissue, and glandular tissue, and the proportion of the components differs individually and over time. The structure of the mammary gland is similar to a tree. Most distal in the tree-like structure is the alveoli, consisting of two layers; facing the lumen is the milk-producing and secreting cells (luminal epithelial cells) and basal to this layer, the (basal) myoepithelial cells, responsible for contraction and thus transportation of milk into the ducts and out of the nipple of the lactating breast¹⁵. The alveoli unite to form lobules, which in turn is a component of one of the 15–20 lobes that each breast contains. A thin continuous basement membrane surrounds the myoepithelial cells of the lobules, lobes, and ducts¹⁵. The functional unit of the breast (milk-producing and milk-secreting) is the terminal duct lobular unit, consisting of the lobule, and the intra- and extra lobular terminal ducts (Figure 2).



Figure 2. a) Schematic cross-section of a breast b) Illustration of the terminal duct lobular unit (TDLU) c) Details of a single acinus (alveolus). Reprinted from "Breast Cancer and its Precursor Lesions", Chapter 2, Patricia A Thomas, Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 2011, with permission © 2011, Springer Nature.

The lobular and ductal structure of the mammary gland is surrounded by stromal connective tissue with the main cellular component being collagen synthesizing fibroblasts and adipocytes. Interspersed lies blood vessels, neuronal cells, and various kinds of immune cells. The major differences in breast volume between women are mainly due to the individual differences in the amount of fat and connective tissue¹⁵ and not in the lobular/ductal tissue. Conveniently, the two cell types found in the alveoli – luminal epithelial cells and basal myoepithelial cells – have distinguished immunohistochemistry⁴⁰.

Breast carcinogenesis

Tumor development is a complex multi-step biological process during which normal cells are transformed into tumor cells. The transformation is believed to follow a chronological development starting with premalignant atypical hyperplasia followed by pre-invasive carcinoma in situ (e.g., ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) and lobular carcinoma *in situ*) and lastly, invasive carcinoma (i.e., cells are capable of crossing the cell membrane enabling metastatic spread)⁴¹. This is, however, perhaps an oversimplification; DCIS might not progress into invasive carcinoma, and some invasive tumors might develop directly of normal-appearing epithelial cells⁴². The ten hallmarks of cancer, the first six presented in 2000 by Hanahan and Weinberg⁴³, and a decade later update with four additional hallmarks⁴⁴, are general biological principles contributing to tumorigenesis for cancer in general. The six original hallmarks that enable tumor growth and dissemination are: sustaining proliferative signaling, evading growth suppressors, resisting cell death, enabling replicative immortality, inducing angiogenesis, and activating invasion and metastasis⁴³. The two enabling characteristics/hallmarks are: genome instability and mutation, and tumor-promoting inflammation and lastly, and the two latest emerging hallmarks are reprogramming of energy metabolism and evading immune destruction⁴⁴.

Almost all breast cancers are carcinomas (sarcomas account for < 1% of all breast malignancies⁴⁵), developing from the epithelial cells lining the ductal tree in the breast, the functional unit of the breast⁵. A histological classification is based on the tumor's structural organization, e.g., whether the tumor has risen from the ducts (ductal carcinoma) or the lobules (lobular carcinoma) of the breast^{5,8}. The majority of breast cancers are ductal carcinomas (also called invasive carcinoma of no special type) (70–75%), followed by lobular carcinomas (12–15%)⁴⁶. The other 18 subtypes are rare (0.5–5%) and demonstrate specific characteristics, e.g., tubular, cribriform, mucinous, medullary, and apocrine carcinoma^{5,46,47}.

Risk factors

Risk factors for breast cancer can be grouped as either non-modifiable (e.g., hereditary predisposition, age, female gender)¹⁶ or modifiable (e.g., weight, alcohol consumption, age first birth, number of pregnancies, breast-feeding, hormonal

replacement therapy (HRT), oral contraceptives)⁴⁸⁻⁵⁴, the latter having the potential of being affected by preventive actions. It is estimated that $\sim 20\%$ of breast cancers can be attributed to modifiable risk factors⁵.

Of all breast cancer, <1% occur in men⁵, and the female gender is – together with age – the most important risk factors for breast cancer¹⁶. In Sweden, the highest incidence is seen in women aged 60–69 years³⁷. Previously, the typical incidence curve of breast cancer showed a constant increase with age, with a less steep slope around/after menopause, called the Clemmensen's hook⁵⁵, interpreted as the overlapping of two separate curves corresponding to pre- and postmenopausal breast cancer. Later this theory has been dismissed in several papers, and the current incidence curves by age do not mirror this theory^{55,56}.

After gender, age, and BRCA mutation carriership, mammographic density is considered to be one of the strongest risk factors for breast cancer^{15,16}. For a detailed description, please refer to the section "Mammographic density" on page 38.

High socioeconomic status and high level of education increase breast cancer risk, partly due to exogenous hormone use and reproductive factors^{57,58}. Alcohol is an established risk factor for breast cancer⁴⁸, each 10 g of alcohol (~1 drink) consumed daily will lead to a 7–10% increase in breast cancer risk^{5,59,60}; one contributing explanation might be the higher levels of estrogen and androgen seen in women consuming alcohol⁶¹. In terms of tobacco smoking and the risk of breast cancer, the literature has long shown no convincing support for an association between smoking and increased risk of breast cancer¹⁶. However, there is now some evidence for a moderate increase in the risk of breast cancer in women who smoke tobacco⁶².

The breasts are radiosensitive organs, and previous radiation is a risk factor for breast cancer¹⁶. Knowledge about radiation-related breast cancer risk originates mainly from epidemiological studies of patients exposed to medical radiation and of the Japanese atomic bomb survivors⁶³. The risk increases linearly with dose, and radiation is most harmful at a young age; the risk is estimated to be minimal for women exposed after the menopausal ages⁶³.

The previous history of benign breast disease, a heterogeneous entity encompassing numerous of histological subtypes, is a risk factor for breast cancer^{16,64}. The risk is almost doubled for women with proliferative changes without atypia and 3–5-fold increased for women with atypical hyperplasia⁶⁴.

Genetic factors

Approximately 10% of breast cancers are considered inherited and associated with a family history⁵. In patients with a personal and/or family history suggestive hereof, a specific gene is identified in <30% of cases⁶⁵. The rare, but highly penetrant genes BRCA1 and BRCA2 are the most common breast cancer susceptibility genes⁶⁶, and

female carriers of mutations in these genes have a lifetime risk of breast cancer of 50–85%^{65,67,68}. Around 2–3% of the hereditary breast cancer cases are due to moderate penetrant genes, e.g., CHEK2, ATM and PALB2, and carriers of these genes have around a twofold increase in risk⁶⁵. Through the basis of genome-wide studies, multiple single-nucleotide polymorphisms have been identified and reported to be associated with a minor increase in breast cancer risk⁶⁹.

Reproductive factors

Early age of menarche, late menopause, and nulliparity are all aspects that increase the lifetime exposure of endogenous hormones and are associated with increased risk of breast cancer⁴⁹. For each birth, the relative risk of breast cancer is reduced by $7\%^{50}$. The vulnerability of the breast epithelium is considered to be highest between menarche and first childbirth since the glandular tissue of the breast has not yet undergone the further differentiation associated with pregnancy and lactation^{53,70} and postponing childbirth is estimated to increase the relative risk of breast cancer with 3% each year⁵⁰. Breastfeeding is protective of breast cancer, with a 4% relative risk reduction per year of breast feeding⁵⁰. In both premenopausal and postmenopausal women, systemic levels of sex hormones are positively associated with the risk for breast cancer⁷¹⁻⁷³. Not only endogenous hormones are associated with breast cancer risk, hormonal replacement therapy, especially the combined preparations containing both estrogen and progestogen⁵¹ (a synthetic compound that mimics the physiological effects of progesterone), increases the risk for breast cancer. Also, the use of oral contraceptives has been shown to slightly increase the risk of premenopausal breast cancer^{53,54}. In terms of breast cancer subtypes, reproductive risk factors are mainly associated with estrogen receptor (ER) positive breast cancer⁷⁴.

Risk models and preventive measures

A wide range of breast cancer risk prediction models have been presented, both models that estimate the risk of developing breast cancer and models that estimate the risk of carrying a high risk-gene/genes⁷⁵. One of the earliest models, and also the most widely validated model for clinical use, is the Gail model, based on hormonal variables (age at menarche, age first live birth), pathologic variables (number of prior breast biopsies), and hereditary variables (first-degree relatives with breast cancer)⁷⁵. The Tyrer-Cuzic model can be used in the general population but is most useful in high-risk populations since it gives an estimation of mutation carrier status as well as the risk of breast cancer development⁷⁵. Recognizing the large impact of mammographic density on the risk of developing breast cancer, many later developed risk prediction models include mammographic density in the models⁷⁵.

For women with a high risk of developing breast cancer, preventive measures can be undertaken^{76,77}. Individualized screening, reducing risk factors, and taking chemoprevention are three different strategies⁷⁶. Apart from the use in the adjuvant setting, selective estrogen receptor modulators, such as tamoxifen, and aromatase inhibitors, such as anastrozole, reduce the risk of developing (ER-positive) breast cancer when used in the primary preventive setting⁷⁸. A significant proportion of breast cancers can be assigned to high mammographic density, thus indicating that interventions to reduce mammographic density might have the potential to eliminate a large proportion of breast cancers in the population^{17,77}. Recently, the intervention trial "KARISMA 2"⁷⁹ closed for inclusion and the data are currently being analyzed. By identifying the lowest dose of tamoxifen that reduces mammographic density and at the same time keeping the side effects as mild as possible, the "KARISMA 2" trial aims at identifying the optimal dose for tamoxifen when used in the prevention of breast cancer. The results of the "KARISMA 2" trial will be key for the study design of "KARISMA 3", a study that will be including women at high risk of breast cancer. Other biological pathways in dense breast tissue are also being explored, such as the extracellular matrix proteins osteopontin⁸⁰, decorin, and lumican⁸¹.

In Sweden, known BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers are offered clinical oncogenetic consultation, yearly breast imaging (breast-MRI), and discussion regarding prophylactic bilateral mastectomy³⁷. It is also important to offer regular gynecological consultations and discussions regarding prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy³⁷.

Obesity and inflammation

Adipocytes are the major component of adipose tissue (also containing, e.g., connective tissue, nerve cells, stromovascular cells, and immune cells)⁸². Dysfunction in the energy balance leads to overweight (body mass index (BMI) \geq 25) that can evolve into obesity (BMI \geq 30). Adipose tissue is not a passive energy storage reservoir; on the contrary, adipose tissue is a highly metabolic active endocrine organ⁸³. Besides releasing metabolic substrates (free fatty acids, cholesterol, glycerol, and triglycerides), a wide range of adipokines are released from adipose tissue, especially estrogen (increased aromatase enzyme activity in adipose tissue that converts androgens into estrogen), adiponectin, and leptin⁸². Adipokines are biologically active factors, including enzymes, hormones, growth factors, and inflammatory cytokines produced by the adipose tissue⁸⁴. The local fat in the breast, the black or radiolucent part of a mammogram, contributes considerably to the relative mammographic density estimates (please refer to the section "Mammographic density" on page 38).

The association between obesity and breast cancer is complex and is dependent on menopausal status and histological subtype⁵². Postmenopausal obesity is predominantly associated with increased risk for hormone receptor positive breast cancer, but not HR or triple-negative breast cancer^{52,85}. Contrasting this, obesity is associated with a decreased risk of premenopausal breast cancer^{52,85}. However, some studies have shown an association between obesity and increased risk of HR negative, basal-like and triple-negative breast cancer in premenopausal women^{52,85}. The association between HR- and triple-negative breast cancer in postmenopausal is less clear, and two large meta-analyses have reported null association^{86,87}, while others have reported moderate association⁸⁸ or inverse association⁸⁹.

Obesity-associated comorbidities such as metabolic syndrome⁹⁰, diabetes mellitus type II⁹¹, and hypercholesterolemia⁹² are associated with increased risk for breast cancer, particularly HR-positive breast cancer⁵². Physical activity is shown to play a protective role against breast cancer⁹³⁻⁹⁵, and this association might partly be explained by a reduction of endogenous sex hormones in physically active postmenopausal women⁹⁴.

The worldwide prevalence of overweight (BMI ≥ 25) is approximately 40%⁹⁶ and is considered responsible for almost 7% of all breast cancers⁹⁷. Furthermore, obese (BMI ≥ 30) breast cancer patients have a poorer prognosis than their normal-weight counterparts regardless of menopausal status⁹⁸. In 2004, Calle and Kaaks presented three possible mechanisms explaining the link between adiposity and cancer: sex hormone metabolism, insulin and insulin-like growth factor signaling, and adipokine dysregulation⁹⁹ (Table 1). Related to the adipokine system, systemic subclinical chronic inflammation has become apparent as an additional important link between obesity and cancer⁸⁴. Recent evidence from experimental and translational research have provided mechanistic insights to the role of the obesity-, insulin resistance- and adipokine- triad in breast cancer⁵² (Table 1).

Mechanism	Simplified explanation	Pharmaceutical	Implications
Sex hormone metabolism	Aromatase in adipocytes converts androgens to estrogens, resulting in increased levels of estrogen and consequent stimulation of estrogen- dependent tumors ⁸⁴ .	Aromatase inhibitors, Tamoxifen	Used as chemoprevention for breast cancer ⁷⁸ .
Insulin and IGF signaling	Obesity-related insulin resistance results in elevated levels of insulin and growth-promoting signaling. Insulin-IGF hypothesis: Elevated levels of bio- active IGF promote the development and progression of tumors ¹⁰⁰ .	Metformin	Inhibit breast cancer cells in vitro ¹⁰¹ Associated with a better outcome in patients with breast cancer ^{102,103} . Conflicting results regarding metformin and incidence of breast cancer ¹⁰⁴⁻¹⁰⁶
Adipokines and inflammation	Obesity is associated with chronic subclinical inflammation. Increased leptin, decreased adiponectin and increased inflammatory cytokine secretion (C- reactive protein (CRP), tumor necrosis factor α, interleukin-1β (IL-1β), IL-6 and IL-18) ⁸⁴ .	NSAID/Aspirin	Protective role of aspirin and NSAID in breast cancer survival ¹⁰⁷ . A moderate to no decrease in breast cancer incidence in aspirin users ^{108,109} .
Mevalonate pathway	Importance in cholesterol metabolism. Metabolites of the mevalonate pathway also have apoptotic, anti- proliferative, and inflammatory-inhibitory effects ²³ .	Statins	Please, read the section "Statins" below

Table 1. Summary of links between adiposity and breast cancer.

Abbreviations: NSAID: non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, IGF: insulin-like growth factor

Statins

Statins are frequently prescribed cholesterol-lowering drugs, inhibiting 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl co-enzyme A reductase and thus blocking a rate-limiting step in the mevalonate pathway²³. Metabolites from the mevalonate pathway have, in addition to their importance in the cholesterol metabolism, apoptotic, antiproliferative and inflammatory inhibitory effects²³. Given these properties, there has been scientific interest in statins from an oncological point of view. Pre-clinical studies have reported anti-carcinogenic properties of statins^{110,111}. Regarding statins in breast cancer prevention, i.e., primary prevention, studies have shown conflicting results²⁴⁻²⁶. However, on the recurrence side, epidemiological studies of patients from Scandinavia have shown a lower risk of breast cancer-related death²⁷⁻²⁹ and breast cancer recurrence³⁰ among statin users, i.e., a large amount of evidence of statins in the secondary preventive setting. Today data thus suggest that statins inhibit the progression of existing cancers (affecting the phenotype), rather than preventing cancer initiation (affecting the malignant genotype).

Breast cancer classification - prognostic and predictive factors

Different classifications schemes are used to categorized breast cancer according to different criteria (e.g., grade, stage, and additional histopathological characteristics) and different purposes, i.e., prognostic (associated with risk of recurrence and natural history of the disease¹¹²), predictive (prognosis after a certain intervention/treatment¹¹²), or comparing groups of patients in clinical trials¹¹³. Treatment decisions are based on evidence-based clinical guidelines, i.e., The Swedish Breast Cancer Group (http://www.swebcg.se/).

Staging system

The tumor node metastases (TNM) system¹¹⁴ of malignant tumors is widely used for cancer staging, estimating the extent of the cancer burden. Patients are categorized into four prognostic groups (I- IV) based on the three parameters: the extent of the primary tumor (T), cancer affected regional lymph node (N), and distant metastases (M). The parameters have different prognostic value in different cancers, e.g., for breast cancer, the size of the primary tumor (along with several other factors such as lymph node involvement) is a key factor, whereas for colorectal cancer, the size is less important, and the depth of invasiveness is a more important prognostic feature¹¹⁵. Invasive breast cancer size is divided into four groups: T1: \leq 20 mm; T2: 21-50 mm; T3: > 50 mm; and T4: skin or muscular involvement irrespective of size¹¹⁵. The number of involved lymph nodes is categorized as follows: no positive nodes, 1–3 positive nodes, 4–9 positive nodes and ten or more positive nodes; the N-stage is also dependent on the localization of the pathological lymph nodes¹¹⁵. The M-stage is dichotomous; with apparent distant metastases or not¹¹⁵. The staging can be based on clinical pre-surgery parameters ("c" as a designator) or information from surgery ("p" as a designator). In the case of neoadjuvant treatment, the designator "yp" is used for post-chemotherapy staging¹¹⁵. In order to adhere to the knowledge of cancer biology and better reflect the prognosis for patients, in the 8th and the latest version of the TNM-staging system ("AJCC Prognostic Stage Group"), in addition to the traditional TNMvariables, non-anatomical factors such as tumor grade and tumor receptor status (human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), ER, and progesterone receptor (PR)) have been included in determining the prognostic stage group¹¹⁴.

Tumor grade

The Nottingham histological grade¹¹⁶ is an international widespread grading system, also used in Sweden. Grading is a measure of differentiation, simply put, how abnormal the tumor cells and tumor tissue looks under the microscope in comparison to normal epithelial cells¹¹⁷. The Nottingham histological grading system, categorizing tumors in three categories (I-III), is based on numerical scores of three morphological features: tubule formation, nuclear pleomorphism, and mitotic count¹¹⁶.

Molecular subtypes

On the molecular level, breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease, diverse in both their natural history and their responsiveness to treatment^{8,9,118}. The intrinsic system, developed by Perou and Sørlie in 2000^{9,119}, is a way of categorizing breast cancer according to the combination of multiple genetic alterations. At least four subtypes of breast cancer were identified: luminal A, luminal B, HER2-enriched and basal-like subtype. Using a standardized assay testing for 50 genes, prediction analysis of microarray (PAM50)^{120,121}, making it easier to decide on intrinsic subtype. Due to the high cost, clinical decision-making is often based on immunohistochemistry and fluorescence *in situ*¹²¹ rather than the intrinsic subtype based on PAM50. A surrogate system based on a few surrogate key points (ER, PR, HER2, and Ki67)¹²² (Figure 3) was developed and incorporated into international guidelines in 2011¹⁰. The appropriate cut-off for high vs. low Ki67 fluorescence is debated^{123,124}. Lately, tumor grade in addition to Ki67, have been utilized in order to better discriminate between the subtypes Luminal A-like and Luminal B-like^{37,125}.



Figure 3. Illustrating different levels of breast cancer classification and the distribution of different subtypes^{5,126}. Ductal carcinoma is also called carcinoma of no special type (NST). The overlap between the intrinsic and surrogate intrinsic subtypes is not complete (e.g., basalness and triple negativity are not synonyms, although the overlap is approximately 80%¹²⁷), as visualized in the figure. Also, the clinically defined HER2-overexpressing (HER2+) group is heterogeneous; approximately half occurring in the HER2-enriched group, another part in the luminal group¹²⁸.

Predictive factors - neoadjuvant treatment

Accomplishing pathological complete response (pCR) after neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer is considered a surrogate marker for long term survival and is the Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved as an endpoint in clinical studies¹²⁹. Different rates of pCR are to be expected depending on breast cancer subtype¹²⁹ (Table 2); in general, tumors with the worst prognostic factors have the best pCR rates¹³⁰. It is implicated that pCR is not associated with prognosis for less aggressive tumors¹³¹, such as luminal A tumors¹³⁰. High Ki67 is associated with higher pCR rates¹³².

Other factors associated with better response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy is: younger age^{133} and lower BMI^{134,135}. In one study, menopausal status was not associated with pCR¹³⁴.

More predictive markers are warranted, and one of the aims with this thesis is to address whether mammographic density holds predictive value in the neoadjuvant setting. Immunological biomarkers, e.g., tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, have been shown to be predictive markers to neoadjuvant chemotherapy¹³⁶. Another approach for finding predictive markers has been to investigate tumor gene expression, and some of the profiles relevant in the adjuvant setting seem to predict pCR in the neoadjuvant setting¹³⁷.

Subtype	pCR-rate
All	18% (def: no invasive cancer in breast nor axilla, remaining DCIS is permitted)
"Luminal A-like"*	7.5%
"Luminal B-like"**	16.2%
Triple-negative	33.6%
HER2+/non-luminal	Without trastuzumab: 35.7%, 30.2%
	With trastuzumab: 72.4%, 50.3%
HER2+/luminal	Without trastuzumab 17.6%, 18.3%
	With trastuzumab: 45.7%, 30.9%

Table 2. pCR rate following neoadjuvant chemotherapy for different subtypes of breast cancer

*Hormone-receptor-positive, HER2-negative grade 1/2 **Hormone-receptor-positive, HER2-negative, grade 3 Ref: 131,138

Breast cancer treatment

Early breast cancer, in contrast to advanced (metastatic) disease, is considered curable with modern multidisciplinary management⁵. The two main pillars of breast cancer care are locoregional treatment and systemic treatment. Histological and molecular characteristics of the tumor influence the clinical treatment decision. Two major categories of classifications systems help clinicians worldwide: tumor burden expressed according to the TNM-system¹¹³ and the more recent biology focused

classifications such as the intrinsic system⁹ (gene expression) and the surrogate intrinsic system¹⁰ (based on immunohistochemistry and fluorescence *in situ*).

Surgery

Most women with breast cancer have some type of surgical removal of the tumor as part of their treatment¹³⁹, and for women with early-stage breast cancer, primary surgery, alone or in combination with radiotherapy, is considered to cure the disease¹⁴⁰. There are mainly two different types of surgical approaches: breast-conserving surgery if the tumor can be radically removed with good cosmetic results or mastectomy, i.e., for large and multifocal cancers³⁷. Breast-conserving surgery followed by radiotherapy has been a standard treatment regimen for a couple of decades¹⁴¹, and patients undergoing this treatment have similar survival rates as patients undergoing mastectomy^{142,143}.

Clinical lymph node status has low sensitivity and specificity¹⁴⁴, and the addition of imaging (ultrasound) improves the numbers for the correct staging of the axilla¹⁴⁵. Sentinel lymph node biopsy, a concept that involves identifying the first draining lymph node/nodes from the tumor with the help of a radioactive isotope and blue dye injected near the tumor^{146,147}, further improves correct staging of the axilla and is a widely practiced method for the staging of the axilla¹⁴⁸ with high accuracy¹⁴⁹. In clinical routine, when there are no cytology-verified lymph node metastases in the axilla, sentinel node biopsy is a standard procedure to pathologically detect micro- and macro-metastases³⁷. For breast cancer patients with pathology verified axillary lymph node metastases, axillary lymph node dissection is the standard treatment^{37,150}. There is a high risk of arm morbidity associated with axillary dissection¹⁵¹, and, if considered safe, the omission of this procedure would be beneficial to the patient.

There has been a shift in the clinical management of the axilla, from extensive axillary surgeries to more reliance on effective adjuvant therapies^{145,148}. However, whether patients with macro-metastases in the sentinel node can be spared of axillary surgery and treated systemically alone, still remains uncertain¹⁴⁸. For neoadjuvant treated patients, the timing for the sentinel node biopsy is controversial¹⁵². Sentinel node biopsy is considered reliable when performed prior to neoadjuvant chemotherapy^{37,153}, and in case of a negative sentinel node biopsy prior to neoadjuvant chemotherapy, axillary dissection after completion of neoadjuvant chemotherapy)^{37,153}. However, more recently, several studies support the use of sentinel node after neoadjuvant chemotherapy and consider it safe to omit axillary dissection for sentinel node-negative (no macro- or micro-metastases and no isolated tumor cells¹⁵⁴) patients¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁵⁷.

Radiotherapy

Radiotherapy, administrated after both mastectomy and breast conservatory surgery, reduces the rate of local relapse and breast cancer-related death^{158,159}. Whole breast irradiation is the standard treatment for the optimal outcome for patients undergoing breast-conserving surgery³³. Current international guidelines recommend regional radiotherapy (regardless of breast-conserving surgery or mastectomy) in the case of \geq 4 positive lymph nodes in the axilla and in the case of 1–3 positive lymph nodes with adverse prognostic factors³³. However, results from the prospective MRC/EORTC SUPREMO trial (which assesses the value of regional radiotherapy to intermediate risk patients with 1-3 positive lymph nodes) might change current recommendations¹⁶⁰. Mostly, post-mastectomy radiotherapy is given to the chest wall for primary tumors >5 cm³³. In case of neoadjuvant treatment and according to Swedish national recommendation, postsurgical radiotherapy is given loco-regionally unless: the initial sentinel node biopsy was negative, then the regional radiotherapy can be omitted; and radiotherapy can be omitted altogether if the initial sentinel node biopsy was negative, initial tumor size < 5 cm and a mastectomy have been performed³⁷. The most severe but rare side effects of radiotherapy are cardiovascular events (a relative increase of 7.4% per Grey)¹⁶¹ and lung cancer¹⁶².

Systemic treatment – chemotherapy

To eliminate any remaining cancer cells, a systemic treatment is recommended to high risk (of recurrence) patients conditional on clinical, pathological and molecular features³⁴. Different biomarkers are used as surrogates for these features to estimate the prognosis and to predict treatment response.

In a chemotherapy regimen consisting of different cytotoxic drugs, synergistic effects are seen, and the breast cancer survival rates improve¹⁶³. Adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer is shown to reduce the 10-year mortality rate by one third¹⁶³. According to the latest St Gallen Conference, for ER-positive and nodenegative tumors, an alkylator- and taxan-based regimen is often recommended, whereas, for the higher risk tumors, an anthracycline-based regimen is recommended³³. In Sweden, the current recommended adjuvant and neoadjuvant chemotherapy regimen is: $Epirubicin(E)_{90}Cyclophosphamide(C)_{600}$ alternatively fluorouracil(F)₅₀₀E₁₀₀C₅₀₀) \times 3 \rightarrow Docetaxel₈₀₋₁₀₀ \times 3 every third week³⁷. Side effects associated with chemotherapy can be seen as acute or as late side effects and are partly drug-specific and dose-related. Examples of severe acute side effects are neutropenia, and infections¹⁶⁴ and severe long term effects are, for example, cardiac toxicity, secondary leukemia, cognitive function impairment, and neurotoxicity¹⁶⁵. It is therefore important to identify subgroups of patients were chemotherapy safely can be omitted; commercial gene assays (e.g., MammaPrint¹⁶⁶ and OncotypeDx¹⁶⁷) that help identify these patients are now incorporated in several guidelines^{46,168}.

Neoadjuvant treatment

The indication for neoadjuvant chemotherapy, i.e., chemotherapy before surgery, for breast cancer has broadened, and an increasing number of patients receive chemotherapy before, instead of after, surgery. There is no proven difference in recurrence rate or overall survival between the two treatment strategies¹⁶⁹, and the advantages with neoadjuvant treatment in terms of being able to monitor the tumor's response to given treatment *in vivo* makes this an appealing strategy. In accordance to international guidelines, national and local guidelines recommend that the following patients should be offered neoadjuvant chemotherapy: patients with large tumors (T3/T4), patients with positive lymph node status in the axilla, or patients with tumors larger than 20 mm and simultaneously, other risk factors, e.g., triple-negative tumor or HER2-overexpressing tumors^{33,37}. Another important indication for neoadjuvant chemotherapy is the possibility for surgical conversion from mastectomy to partial mastectomy^{170,171}, subsidizing the use of neoadjuvant chemotherapy.

Currently, with the introduction of the important concept of salvage adjuvant chemotherapy (recommending additional (adjuvant) chemotherapy, according to ypTN-staging) has been added to the list of benefits of neoadjuvant chemotherapy¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁴.

Endocrine treatment

In ER-positive breast cancer, estrogen is the main driver for tumor development. In premenopausal women, the ovaries are the main producers of estrogen, whereas, for postmenopausal women, estrogen is produced in adipose tissue and muscles through the conversion of androgens produced in the adrenal glands¹⁷⁵. It is historically known that breast cancer prognosis improved by lowering the patients' estrogen levels, by oophorectomy or later by radiating the ovaries³⁷. Modern endocrine treatment functions by targeting the ER-pathway¹⁷⁵. Tamoxifen is a selective ER modulator, a competitive inhibitor that blocks the downstream signaling in the ER-pathway¹⁷⁶, and thus works irrespectively of menopausal status.

Aromatase is a cytochrome P450 enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of androgens to estrogen, and thus, aromatase inhibitors are mainly used in patients with no ovarian estrogen production, i.e., postmenopausal women¹⁷⁷. According to current national guidelines, adjuvant endocrine treatment for at least 5 years is recommended to patients with ER-positive tumors, with the exception of very low-risk tumors (tumors \leq 10mm, axillary node-negative, and Luminal A-like) where the systemic treatment may be omitted after a discussion with the patient³⁷. Results from the ATLAS study showed that patients with ER-positive disease have a further reduction in recurrence (3.7%) and mortality (2.8%) when continuing tamoxifen treatment for 10 years instead of stopping after 5 years¹⁷⁸. International guidelines recommend women with lymph node-positive disease to continue adjuvant

endocrine therapy for 10 years¹⁷⁹. At present, in Sweden, only patients with highrisk ER-positive tumors (axillary lymph node metastases, HER2-overexpressing or other risk factors) are recommended 10 years of endocrine treatment¹⁷⁴. Importantly, and an individualized discussion regarding the balance between the benefits and the drawbacks of prolonged treatment is warranted.

Non-adherence or discontinuation is, as with many medications used chronically, a considerate problem with endocrine treatment; studies indicate up to 49% non-adherence rate after 5 years of follow up¹⁸⁰. Side effects of tamoxifen treatment are menopausal symptoms such as hot flushes, increased risk of thromboembolic complications, and endometrial hyperplasia¹²⁷. Aromatase inhibitors are associated with fewer adverse health outcomes than tamoxifen¹⁸¹. Still, aromatase inhibitors users are at increased risk for osteoporosis and cardiovascular events than non-users¹⁸¹. However, many patients treated with aromatase inhibitors suffer from musculoskeletal symptoms, vaginal side effects, and cognitive symptoms¹⁸².

Targeted therapy

For patients with HER2-overexpressing tumors, chemotherapy, in combination with HER2-targeted therapy, is offered^{46,174}. The addition of trastuzumab to chemotherapy dramatically improved the overall survival for HER2-overexpressing early breast cancer; the hazard ratio was 0.66; 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.57 to 0.77 in favor of the combined therapy¹⁸³. Trastuzumab and pertuzumab are both humanized monoclonal antibodies that target the HER2-protein^{184,185}. They do, however, bind to different domains¹⁸⁵, and indeed, even if only marginally, the addition of pertuzumab to chemotherapy and trastuzumab improved the survival rates for HER2-overexpressing breast cancer (estimated 3 years rate of disease-free survival: 94.1% in the pertuzumab group vs. 93.2% in the placebo/standard treatment group)¹⁸⁴. In the adjuvant setting, double HER2-blockade with trastuzumab and pertuzumab is, in contrast to the neoadjuvant setting, not routinely recommended in Sweden³⁷. However, many patients with HER2-overexpressing tumors are treated with neoadjuvant therapy and thus receive double HER2blockade³⁷. One major drawback with anti-HER2 treatment is its cardiac toxicity¹⁸⁶, and cardiac function is monitored for patients receiving these drugs^{37,186}.

Bisphosphonates

Bisphosphonates are osteoclast inhibitors and have been successfully used in the metastatic breast cancer setting, with a shown reduction in skeletal-related events¹⁸⁷. In 2016, the Swedish national guidelines broadened the indication for bisphosphonates, now a treatment added to the adjuvant treatment arsenal for early postmenopausal breast cancer, mainly to patients with lymph node metastases or other high-risk factors of recurrence³⁷. Results from a meta-analysis showed an

absolute risk reduction of 2.2% for bone metastases and 3.3% for breast cancer mortality in postmenopausal women¹⁸⁸.

Breast imaging

Radiological imaging of the breast is dominated by a traditional, two-dimensional x-ray of the breast, a mammogram. Other imaging modalities such as ultrasound, breast tomosynthesis, and MRI are also widely used. In addition to imaging, clinical examination and biopsy are the cornerstones of the concept of triple-assessment, considered as the gold standard when a patient is presenting with clinical symptoms in the breast or is selected from screening mammography due to suspicious findings. Several reports support that triple assessment has an accuracy reaching 100%^{189,190}.

Mammography and breast tomosynthesis

In mammography, the x-ray photons move through the breast and are absorbed by an image detector and transferred to a digital signal that creates the image we know as the mammogram¹⁹¹. The inherent differences in x-ray attenuation between the different components of the breast are used in image acquisition¹⁹¹. The craniocaudal (CC) and mediolateral oblique (MLO) views are both used in screening, and in clinical examinations, the lateromedial view is acquired in addition to the other two views. Repeated imaging with mammography during neoadjuvant chemotherapy treatment is seen in Figure 4.


Figure 4. Mammography at three different time points during neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer in a premenopausal patient. In the first mammogram, the tumor was estimated to be 27 mm; in the mammogram, in the umor has been coil-indicated, and the tumor estimate was 8 mm, and in the last mammogram, the tumor is no longer visible, radiological complete response. The mammographic density was scored according to BI-RADS (5th Edition) as BI-RADS b. For this patient, pCR was accomplished. © Region Skåne, SUS

Breast tomosynthesis, a 3-dimensional x-ray technique, utilizes an x-ray source that moves along an arc of the excursion, and thin slices are reconstructed with the aim to minimize the influence of overlapping breast tissue^{38,192}. In comparison to mammography, breast tomosynthesis has been shown to improve accuracy, as well as lesion conspicuity and localization³⁸. Many studies have evaluated the radiation dose for breast tomosynthesis when performed in addition to mammography, which, obviously, substantially increases the radiation dose¹⁹³. However, instead of performing both a breast tomosynthesis and a 2D mammogram, a synthetic 2D reconstructed image can be used in addition to breast tomosynthesis, and thus limit the additional radiation dose that a "double" examination entail¹⁹⁴. The radiation dose for breast tomosynthesis is similar to a conventional mammogram^{193,195}. The average effective dose from two-view mammography equals approximately two months of natural background radiation¹⁹⁶. One recently published meta-analysis showed no significant difference in diagnostic sensitivity (detection) between breast tomosynthesis alone and the combination of breast tomosynthesis with mammography³⁸. A tumor depicted with both mammography and tomosynthesis is shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Comparison of imaging of the same breast depicted with (A) mammography and (B) tomosynthesis. Breast imaging at baseline before neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. A premenopausal woman with heterogeneously dense breast (BI-RADS c (5th Edition) as assessed by the clinical radiologist at the time of the examination). © Region Skåne, SUS

Other breast imaging modalities

In ultrasound, high-frequency sound waves are generated in a transducer and are partially reflected from tissue interfaces¹⁹⁷. Thus, the technique behind the image generation in ultrasound is very different from mammography. The combination of ultrasound and mammography increases the sensitivity and the diagnostic accuracy¹⁹⁸, especially in younger women and/or women with dense breasts¹⁹⁸. However, for high-risk women (e.g., high mammographic density and BRCA mutation carriers), MRI (with or without mammography) is the standard modality for follow-up in breast cancer screening in many places^{199,200}. In addition to detection and follow up of breast lesions, ultrasound is important for image-guided breast and axillary biopsies. In addition, ultrasound is the first-hand choice for axillary imaging²⁰¹.

Recent technical developments with the introduction of automatic breast ultrasound, and computer-aided detection of breast ultrasound, thus partly overcoming some of the drawbacks with the modality¹⁹⁸.

Contrast-enhanced MRI has become an additional tool in breast imaging. In comparison to the other imaging methods. MRI has the highest sensitivity for detecting breast cancer, but the specificity is lower compared to mammography (the specificity of MRI ranges between 83% and 98%)²⁰². The specificity of MRI is improved by adding specialized MRI-sequences²⁰³. The supplemental use of mammography increased the sensitivity and decreased the specificity, whereas adding ultrasound only decreased the specificity (no supplemental value)²⁰². MRI is useful for screening in very high-risk populations, e.g., BRCA mutation carriers²⁰⁴. Also, MRI is being evaluated as a supplemental screening method in women with high mammographic density and normal results on screening mammograms²⁰⁵. The role of MRI in preoperative staging is debated; either improving surgical treatment or merely leading to more mastectomies²⁰⁶. It is suggested that MRI can detect additional malignancy in 12-13% of the cases²⁰⁷, and a Swedish multi-centre study showed higher rates of MRI-associated conversions (from breast-conserving surgery to mastectomy), however, the final numbers of mastectomies was the same (with or without MRI), thus the number of reoperations was lower when using MRI pre-operatively²⁰⁸. A meta-analysis by Houssami et al., did not show improved surgical treatment; higher rates of mastectomies (and of contralateral prophylactic mastectomy), although not associated with reduced risk of recurrence²⁰⁹, and no favourable effect on margins/incomplete excision or re-operation rates²⁰⁶. MRI is also used for monitoring treatment response in the breast of breast cancer patients receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy^{207,210,211}.

Contrast-enhanced mammography, offering a morpho-functional approach, is gaining increased clinical utility. The technique includes an algorithm generating a subtracted image, highlighting sites of contrast enhancement in the breast, i.e., hypervascular lesions such as cancer²¹². Contrast-enhanced mammography is challenging MRI as superior method in many important breast cancer settings, e.g., pre-surgical staging, post-operative surveillance, option for recalled suspicious findings, and neoadjuvant chemotherapy response monitoring²¹³. A comparison between breast imaging modalities is seen in Table 3.

	Radiation dose	Advantages	Disadvantages
Digital mammography	Screening: ~3 mGy ^{193,196}	Easy for storage High throughput of patients Short reading time for radiologists	Sensitivity in screening around 80% ³⁸ (higher for non-dense breasts, Table 6, page 50).
Breast tomosynthesis	Screening: ~3 mGy ¹⁹³	Sensitivity in screening around 90% ³⁸ . Lower false-positive rates ²¹⁴ Lower recall rates when baseline recall rates are relatively high ²¹⁵	Longer reading time than for mammography ²¹⁶ , though with the prospects of improving ²¹⁷ Larger data volumes for storage compared to mammography
Ultrasound	None	High degree of patient acceptability ¹⁹⁸ High sensitivity in younger women and/or dense breasts ¹⁹⁹ No radiation	Operator dependent Time-consuming Less suitable for saving and interpretation afterward High false-positive rate ¹⁹⁹
MRI	None	High sensitivity ²⁰⁷ No radiation	High cost Low availability Long examination time Lower specificity ²⁰⁷ Gadolinium contrast: nephrogenic systemic fibrosis and gadolinium retention ²¹⁸
Contrast-enhanced mammography	Approximately 20- 80% more than a digital mammogram ^{219,220} (low energy contrast-enhanced images are considered sufficient, lowering radiation dose ²¹²)	Higher sensitivity and specificity in clinical and screening setting compared to digital mammography ²²¹⁻²²³ Lower cost than MRI ²²⁴ .	lodine contrast Higher radiation dose More time-consuming than mammography.

 Table 3. Comparison between breast imaging modalities.

Screening

In Sweden, women aged 40–74 years are invited to participate in breast cancer screening with mammography every 18–24 months³⁷. Ever since the introduction of the mammography screening programs, there has been a debate over the benefits and harms²²⁵. The estimated reduction in breast cancer mortality in women attending screening is $20-40\%^{225-228}$. The major harm by screening is overdiagnosis, i.e., finding cancer that would otherwise not have come to attention during that woman's lifetime²²⁵. The best method to estimate overdiagnosis is debated. However, two expert panels propose that a valid estimate of overdiagnosis for a population invited

to screening is around 10%^{200,229}. The specificity of the screening program is high 94–97%²³⁰, a prerequisite to avoid false-positive and the associated negative psychological consequences²²⁵. False-positive readings (the mammogram looks abnormal even though no cancer is actually present) are also troublesome, and the rates vary with both patients (e.g., more frequent in younger women due to lower specificity of mammography in dense breasts and a lower cancer incidence in younger ages) and radiology-related factors²³¹. The cumulative proportion of false-positive readings in women regularly attending screening every second year over two decades is estimated to be 20% in a European study²³² and are considerably higher in the United States²³¹. In Sweden, approximately 60% of all breast cancers are screening-detected⁴.

Mammographic density

Breast density is an imaging parameter, most often assessed with mammography – mammographic density, although breast density can be assessed with other imaging modalities as well. In the following chapter, mammographic density will be addressed, but most of the reasoning is also applicable to breast density in its more general meaning. For an overview of the histological and radiological aspects of mammographic density, please refer to Figure 7 on page 48.

Mammographic density on a cellular level

Mammographic density reflects the relationship between radiodense tissue, i.e., fibroglandular tissue, and radiolucent tissue, i.e., fat, in a mammogram. Note that mammographic density is an imaging parameter mirroring the entire breast/breasts, and does not refer to tumor stiffness²³³. Mammographic density is a strong determinant of risk for all breast cancer precursors²³⁴ as well as invasive breast cancer, with up to a 4–6 fold increase in breast cancer risk for women with extremely dense breast (>75% dense tissue) compared to women having non-dense breast (<5% dense tissue)¹⁸. Studies of both surgical breast specimens and mammograms have shown that higher mammographic density was associated with greater amounts of stroma (including collagen) and marginally larger amounts of epithelium²³⁵⁻²³⁸ and a greater total nuclear area with higher mammographic density²³⁷. The differences in amounts of epithelial cells are seemingly smaller than the difference in the stroma between high and low-density breast tissue²³⁸, possibly explaining the inconsistent results regarding epithelial cells and mammographic density reported in the litterature²³⁹: reports of an association between high mammographic density and proportion of epithelial cells^{237,240-242}, as well as studies finding no such association^{243,244}. Fibroblasts, stromal cells responsible for synthesizing products of the extracellular matrix, and their capacity to differentiate into adipocytes¹⁵, make

them important in the biological understanding of mammographic density. Also, it is indicated that the phenotype of fibroblasts varies depending on mammographic density²³⁹. The collagen structure, with a more organized linearized collagen in high-density tissue²³⁸, varies between high and low dense breast, and abnormal expression of extracellular matrix proteins, with increased stiffening of the microenvironment, may cause cancer-promoting structure¹⁵. A study of breast tissue from rats showed less linearized collagen and a lower degree of stromal stiffness in parous rats compared to nulliparous rats²⁴⁵. Perhaps this is a contributing factor to the lower risk of breast cancer²⁴⁶ seen in parous women compared to nulliparous women. An initial study by McConnel et al. demonstrated that, on top of collagen remodelling info large stiff fibers, the upregulation of periostin and collagen XVI, molecules associated with collagen organization, proliferation and cell invasiveness, is seemingly a feature of high-mammographic density peri-ductal regions²⁴⁷. These molecules are, thus, possibly markers of breast cancer risk and not only a marker of breast cancer and metastasis²⁴⁷. On the molecular level, systemic circulating levels of mitogens (insulin-like growth factor $I^{236,248-250}$), regulators of growth factors (tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 3²³⁶), and mutagens (malondialdehyde²⁵¹⁻²⁵³) have been linked to increased mammographic density.

Breast tissue with high mammographic density has greater amounts of the stromal matrix regulatory protein tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 3²³⁶, regulating stromal matrix, activating growth factors, effector of early stage tumorigenesis, as well as player in the process of metastasis²⁵⁴. Also, the repression of transmembrane receptor CD36 (not limited to a certain cell type but generally expressed in stromal components), controlling both adipocyte content and matrix accumulation, has been associated with both high mammographic tissue and breast cancer stroma²⁵⁵. The repression of CD36, controlling several stromal elements, creates a pro-oncogenic stromal state; the broad impact of CD36 makes it an attractive therapeutic target²⁵⁵. CD36-nonexpressing fibroblasts exhibit changes towards characteristics of cancerassociated fibroblasts (CAFs)²⁵⁵. Thus, high mammographic density is associated with "activated" fibroblasts as illustrated in Figure 6, a desmoplastic/protumorigenic phenotype, with some of the properties of cancer-associated fibroblasts. The research surrounding cancer-associated fibroblasts is vast since they are key players, involved in many of the hallmarks of (breast) cancer (e.g., immune suppression, angiogenesis, altered metabolism, tumor cell survival, migration, and metastases), by creating/supporting a pro-oncogenic milieu^{256,257}. Relevant to this thesis, are the findings that the expression of CD36 is increased by statin, aspirin, and corticosteroids (dexamethasone)²⁵⁸⁻²⁶⁰.

DeFilippis *et al.* further explored mechanism behind CD36-repression and concluded that telomere malfunction and activin A expression in epithelial cells repress CD36 expression in the neighbouring fibroblasts²⁶¹. Epithelial cells in tissue with high mammographic density had more basal DNA damage, and a different

DNA damage response/signaling, shorter telomeres, and higher activin A secretion, in comparison to epithelial cells from low-density tissue²⁶¹. Without knowing if the initial event occur in the epithelial or stromal compartment (or in both), these findings further highlight the importance of interactions between epithelial and stromal cells and present findings of a difference in this important cross-talk between high and low breast density tissue.

A study published in 2016^{262} established that the cancer cells "remember" the environment they were in, as was also suggested by DeFilippis *et al.*²⁶¹ two years earlier. When MDA-MB-231 cells (triple negative breast cancer epithelial cells) were grown on top of the extracellular matrix derived from healthy fibroblasts, a significantly lower proliferation rate was observed, in comparison to the proliferation of their counterparts grown on stiffer surfaces. Interestingly, when these cells were moved from fibroblast-derived matrices to stiffer surfaces, they retained their lower proliferation rate. In other words, the growth-inhibitory effects of the healthy fibroblast-derived extracellular matrix on the breast cancer cells persisted²⁶².

Cells sense the stiffness of the surrounding microenvironment through pulling on the extracellular matrix and/or the nearby cells. Forces are transmitted through the cytoskeleton by processes between cells and extracellular matrix, cell-to-cell adhesions, or intracellular contractility, the latter being mediated by Rho GTPases²⁶³. Thus, Rho GTPases allows cells to sense matrix stiffness and respond to mechanical signals. There may be different levels of Rho GTPases between low and high density breast tissue⁷⁷ (Figure 6), of interest since breast cancer cells seems to proliferate in response to stiff matrices, partly mediated by Rho GTPases²⁶³.

The association between circulating sex hormone levels and mammographic density in postmenopausal women is complex: obese women have higher estradiol levels through increased aromatase activity in adipose tissue²⁶⁴; on the other hand, obese women have in average lower mammographic density. It has been suggested that mammographic density may represent the influence of circulating estrogen; however, associations of endogenous estrogen levels with mammographic density in postmenopausal women have been inconsistent, including null, positive, and inverse association²⁶⁵⁻²⁷⁰. However, it has previously been suggested that, in the premenopausal period, an etiologically important exposure period, with, on average, higher levels of sex hormones, high levels of sex hormones might be associated with premenopausal mammographic density²⁷¹. Investigating a group of young premenopausal women, no association between breast density (MRI-based) and circulating levels of estrogen was found²⁷². Recent results from a sub-study within the KARMA cohort presented by Gabrielson et al., including over 1000 women, showed that several sex hormones were associated with mammographic density (using the automated software STRATUS²⁷³) in the following way: positive

association with progesterone, 17OH-progesterone, oesterone sulphate, prolactin, and SHBG, and negative association with 11-deoxycortisol²⁷⁴. However, *change* in mammographic density was primarily associated with androgens. The authors further presented a non-linear association between sex hormones and mammographic density, possibly contributing to the diverse results from previous studies²⁷⁴. In terms of receptor expression, no differences have been found between the expression of ER and PR between high- and low-density breast tissue^{238,241}.

Mammographic density changes naturally during a woman's life with age and hormonal events (e.g., pregnancy, breastfeeding, and HRT)^{275,276}. The breast of a premenopausal woman undergoes both expansion and involution during a menstrual cycle, though, with only quite small/negligible changes in mammographic density²⁷⁷. On average, mammographic density declines with age and the normal breast development in a postmenopausal woman includes lobular involution (physiologic atrophy of breast, the replacement of glandular tissue with adipose tissue)⁷⁰. Although involution and mammographic density are correlated²⁷⁸⁻²⁸⁰, complete involution is not a guarantee for non-dense breast. In a study by Ghosh et al.²⁴¹, surprisingly, 52% of the women with complete involution had dense breasts and 23% of the women with no involution had non-dense breasts. However, epithelia are only a minority of the dense tissue; the dominating part is the stroma. In addition, the first step in lobular involution is the dense stroma, further complicating the association between age, lobular involution and mammographic density and, also, reflecting the importance of the timing of mammography assessment²⁸¹. An accelerated decline is often seen during the perimenopausal period, corresponding to up to two decades of aging²⁸². Identifying why mammographic density remains high for some postmenopausal women, might be a fruitful approach towards improved understanding of the association between mammographic density and breast cancer risk, with possible targets for intervention.

Different amounts of fat and connective tissue mainly explain the differences in breast volume between women¹⁵. The local fat in the breast is thought to play a protective role against breast cancer²⁸³. Although a higher BMI (through raised circulating metabolites and adipokines), subsequent increase postmenopausal breast cancer risk, local adipose tissue in the breast *per se* may reduce breast cancer risk by diminishing the possibilities of hazardous interactions in the breast between epithelial cells and the stroma²³⁸. However, findings from pre-clinical studies highlight that obesity is associated with increased adipose tissue fibrosis²⁸⁴ (also locally in the breast) and extracellular matrix stiffness that promote breast tumorigenesis²⁸⁵. For a deepened discussion, please refer to section "Absolute or percent dense tissue" on page 51.

In conclusion, the interaction between the different components of the breast seems to be highly complex¹⁴ and targeting different aspects of the stroma may have an impact on breast cancer treatment²⁸⁶.

A schematic image of differences between high and low-density breast tissue is seen in Figure 6. Histological and radiological aspects of mammographic density are illustrated in Figure 7 on page 48.



Figure 6. Biological differences between low and high mammographic density breast tissue. Reprinted from "Key steps for effective breast cancer prevention." *Nat Rev Cancer.*, 2020, Britt *et al.*, with permission © 2020, Springer Nature.

Inflammation and mammographic density

Studies indicate that high mammographic density reflects a pro-inflammatory environment^{239,287}. High-density normal breast tissue showed a higher number of CD45+ and CD68+ immune cells in comparison to less dense breast tissue^{238,287} and presented a pro-inflammatory cytokine profile; higher levels of interleukin-6, interleukin-8²⁸⁷, and higher levels of osteopontin, a key protein in the inflammatory response⁸⁰. In addition, the angiogenic vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) seems to be more abundant in dense tissue in comparison to non-dense breast tissue^{287,288}. Immune cell infiltration is seen in DCIS as well as in invasive breast cancer²⁸⁹. A Swedish study on the microenvironment in healthy breast tissue and breast cancer tissue, respectively, showed a similar profile of inflammatory proteins in the microenvironment in both cases²⁹⁰. In summary, these findings indicate dense breast tissue as a possible site for local inflammation.

The use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID) has been associated with reduced risk for breast cancer¹⁰⁹. A biological mechanism is presented through which aspirin might exercise its breast density- and breast cancer risk-reducing

effects: suppression of cyclooxygenase-2 (possibly increased in high mammographic density tissue²⁹¹), lowering prostaglandin production, and in so doing, reducing the carcinogenic activity in breast tissue. The pro-inflammatory microenvironment in dense breast tissue further supports the association between NSAID and reduced risk of breast cancer. There are only a few studies investigating the association between NSAID, including aspirin, and mammographic density, the literature showing none²⁹²⁻²⁹⁴ or an inverse (i.e., lower density in aspirin-users)²⁹⁵ association between NSAID and mammographic density. Thus, it is plausible that NSAID exerts its anti-carcinogenic effect through a different pathway than mammographic density.

The masking effects

High mammographic density, besides being a risk factor for breast cancer, reduces the potential to detect a malignancy on a mammogram, known as the "masking effect"²⁹⁶⁻²⁹⁹. As a result of this effect, the sensitivity of mammograms is dependent on mammographic density. It is well known that mammography has lower cancer sensitivity in dense breasts. Studies of a large Danish screening cohort³⁰⁰ showed an overall sensitivity of mammography (invasive cancer or DCIS) of 72% (95% CI, 68–76) and a specificity of 98% (95% CI, 97–98). Sensitivity decreased with increasing mammographic density; sensitivity for Breast Imaging-Reporting and Data System (BI-RADS) was 78% (95% CI, 69–85) and sensitivity for BI-RADS d was 47% (95% CI, 30–65)³⁰⁰ (also, please refer to Table 6 on page 50).

Different approaches are available in order to circumvent the masking effect: young women (in average having higher mammographic density) might benefit from more frequent screening¹⁷⁴, and other complementary imaging modalities might be used for normal screening findings in high-density breasts³⁰¹ (please refer to section "Other breast imaging modalities" on page 36 and "Legislation" on page 51).

Risk factors associated with mammographic density

Paradoxically, with increasing age, mammographic density decreases and the incidence of breast cancer increases²⁸². The Pike model³⁰², a model of cumulative exposure of hormones during a woman's life leading to breast tissue aging and increased breast cancer risk, might explain this apparent paradox³⁰³. Data from a large Dutch breast cancer screening cohort indicate a slight increase in mammographic density across birth cohorts³⁰⁴. Mammographic density has a strong heritable component, heritability accounting for 60% of the variation³⁰⁵.

In terms of hormonal and reproductive factors, on average mammographic density decreases with every live birth³⁰⁶. A steep decline is often seen during menopause³⁰⁶. On the contrary, both nulliparity³⁰⁶ and higher age at first birth³⁰⁷ are associated with higher mammographic density. While breastfeeding reduces the risk of breast cancer, the association between breastfeeding and mammographic density is less

clear³⁰⁸. An interesting approach towards understanding the association between reproductive history and risk of breast cancer was used within the KARMA project: exploring the association between tissue composition and hormone receptors and breast cancer risk factors³⁰⁹. Among many interesting findings, they found that breastfeeding was associated with the increased epithelial area later in life, but not associated with changes in the stroma³⁰⁹. Also, the amount of local adipose tissue in the breast was inversely associated with breastfeeding, even further complicating the translation to mammographic density. HRT increases mammographic density^{310,311}, whereas the association between oral contraceptive use and mammographic density seems to be mainly unexplored³¹². However, one study reported no association between oral contraceptive use and mammographic density³⁰⁷.

Mammographic density is inversely associated with BMI^{275,313}. There seems to be no effect of smoking and physical activity on mammographic density^{314,315}, whereas a small or no increase in mammographic density was seen in users of alcohol^{316,317}.

High mammographic density is associated with an increased risk of DCIS^{318,319}. Mutations in BRCA1 or BRCA2 do not seem to be associated with mammographic density³²⁰.

In recent years, mammographic density change in association to breast cancer risk has been investigated with interesting results: many risk factors for breast cancer associated with baseline mammographic density are not associated with change in mammographic density (except from age, physical activity, and BMI)^{276,321}.

A summary of risk factors/protective factors of breast cancer and their association with mammographic density is seen in Table 4. Mammographic density and its association with prognosis is briefly addressed in the section "Mammographic density - breast cancer risk and prognosis" on page 46.

	Risk of breast cancer	Mammographic density
Higher age	↑ ¹⁶	↓ ^{282,303}
BRCA1, BRCA 2	↑ ⁶⁶	No effect ³²⁰
Higher socioeconomic class	↑ ⁵⁸	↑ ³²²
Alcohol use	1,59,60	No effect ³²³ or a small ↑ ^{307,316}
Smoking	Some evidence a slight ↑ ⁶²	No effect ³¹⁶
Physical activity	↓ ⁹⁵	No effect ^{315,316}
Previous benign breast disease	↑ ⁶⁴	
Radiation	↑ ¹⁶	(Radiotherapy: probably no effect ^{324,325})
HRT	↑ ⁵¹	1 ³¹⁰
Parity	↓ ⁵⁰	↓ ³⁰⁶
Breastfeeding	↓ ⁵⁰	Unclear ³⁰⁸
	↓ HR-positive breast cancer ⁵²	
Premenopausal obesity	\uparrow HR-negative, basal-like and triple-negative breast cancer 52	↓ ²⁷⁵
	↑ HR-positive breast cancer ⁹⁷	
Postmenopausal obesity	No association or minimally ↓ for ER-negative and triple-negative breast cancer ⁸⁵	↓ ²⁷⁵
Height	↑ ³²⁶	1 ³²⁶
Diabetes Mellitus II	↑ ^{97,327}	No effect ³²⁸
Postmenopausal systemic estrogen levels	↑ ^{72,73}	No effect ^{269,270} or a ↑ ²⁷⁴
Premenopausal systemic estrogen levels	↑ ⁷¹	No effect ²⁷² or a \uparrow^{274}
Aspirin	↓ ¹⁰⁹	No effect ²⁹³
Metformin	Conflicting results ¹⁰⁴⁻¹⁰⁶	Probably no effect ³²⁸
Statins	Probably no effect ²⁴⁻²⁶	No effect ³²⁹
Tamoxifen, aromatase inhibitors	↓ ⁷⁸	↓ ³³⁰
Subclinical inflammation	↑ ⁸⁴	↑ ²⁸⁹

Table 4. Summary of associations between risk/risk-reducing factors of breast cancer and mammographic density.

Mammographic density and tumor characteristics

In general, scientific inconsistency exists regarding the association between tumor characteristics and mammographic density³³¹. In a large meta-analysis of 16 studies, most studies found no association between HR status or molecular subtype and mammographic density³³². Among the studies finding an association, there was a predominance forwards higher density being associated with larger, ER-positive, axillary lymph node-positive cancers³³². A large pooled analysis with data from over 3000 breast cancer cases and over 7000 controls, showed an association between mammographic density and all breast cancer subtypes across all ages, but with a more pronounced association between high mammographic density and large tumors and positive axillary lymph nodes³³¹. For women < 55 years old, they found an association between high mammographic density tumors³³¹. The authors, Bertrand *et al.*, conclude that high mammographic density may be

important in tumor aggressiveness, especially in younger women³³¹. A metaanalysis from 2012 showed that mammographic density is a marker of breast cancer risk overall; the magnitude of association was similar between mammographic density and ER-positive and ER-negative tumors, and the association did not differ by HER2 status³³³. A Canadian study from 2019 showed no association between mammographic density and tumor receptor status³³⁴. The association between nodal status and mammographic density was explored in another study; it was hypothesized that the high extracellular matrix in high-density breasts could influence tumor spread; however, they found no association between mammographic density and spread to axillary lymph nodes in the nearly 2000 patients included in the analyses³³⁵. An Australian study found that high mammographic density was associated with larger tumors and positive lymph node status (but no associations with ER, PR, and HER2 status of the tumor)³³⁶, and the authors, Krishnan et al., propose that their findings suggest that dense breast tissue play a role in faster tumor growth and spreading to the lymph nodes that would not be accounted for by the delay of cancer detection due to masking³³⁶.

The association between mammographic density and the proliferative marker Ki67 in normal breast tissue remains controversial⁸¹. One study found increased stromal Ki67 expression in breasts with high mammographic density, while other studies found no association^{238,337,338}. Analyzing breast core biopsies from healthy women, Ghosh *et al.* found no association in the expression of Ki67 between dense and non-dense tissue²⁴¹. Investigating Ki67 in tumors in relation to mammographic density in nearly 2000 patients, Heusinger *et al.* found no significant differences in mammographic density between women with tumors of low versus high Ki67 values³³⁹. Aiello *et al.* neither found any association between mammographic density and Ki67 in breast cancer tissue²⁶⁶.

In conclusion, the associations between mammographic density and tumor characteristics, especially HR-status, seems to be ambiguous. Giving the incoherent results from the literature, in my opinion, the associations are probably not very large and, therefore, possible of borderline clinical significance.

Mammographic density - breast cancer risk and prognosis

Only female gender, age and BRCA mutation status seem to be associated with a higher risk of breast cancer than high mammographic density^{15,16}. Despite mammographic density being related to hormonal events in a woman's life, high mammographic density is, as it seems, equally associated with ER-negative and ER-positive breast cancer³³³. The clinical association is well-studied, but the biological links are less clear. Breasts with high mammographic density have greater proportions of the epithelium, stroma, and collagen, and less fat, than in low-density breasts²⁴¹, and the properties of these components, single-handedly or in combination, may support the acquirement of mutations in the epithelial cells³⁴⁰.

High mammographic density is also associated with various kinds of benign breast disease³⁴¹. The increased risk of breast cancer in women with high mammographic density is most likely due to a cumulative "exposure" to (a larger amount of) epithelium and various hormonal factors in the microenvironment and a pro-inflammatory milieu²³⁸. One alluring hypothesis is presented by Abrahamsson *et al.*; if endothelial atypia arises in dense breast tissue, the pro-inflammatory microenvironment would be accommodating these cells to continue carcinogenesis, forming a carcinoma²⁹⁰. The complex interplay between the epithelia and the stromal cells, possibly dissimilar in high and low breast density tissue, might also be of great importance in breast carcinogenesis²⁶¹.

Mammographic density is associated with an increased risk of local recurrence and of a second primary breast cancer³⁴²⁻³⁴⁴. The association between mammographic density and breast cancer survival has been studied with various designs, outcomes and conclusions³⁴⁵⁻³⁴⁹. Biases in many studies are associated with mode of detection and the masking effect related to dense breasts. In a study investigating the potential of pre-operative mammographic density as a prognostic marker for breast cancer, it was shown that high mammographic density was associated with improved survival, mainly in patients older than 50 years, and, when split according to subtype, only in the HR-positive/HER2-negative subtype³⁵⁰. The study authors, Hwang *et al.*, believe that their results could partly be explained by clinico-pathological factors (younger age, lower BMI, positive hormone receptor status in high mammographic density patients), treatment factors (socio-economical and lifestyle factors)³⁵⁰. The predictive value of mammographic density in an adjuvant setting is mainly studied for endocrine treatment and not for chemotherapy.

In conclusion, even though there is strong evidence of mammographic density as a risk factor for breast cancer, mammographic density may not necessarily be associated with the risk of death from breast cancer once it has occurred.



Figure 7. Low and high mammographic density (MD). 1. Schematic picture of breast anatomy. 2. Histology of breast tissue. Paraffin-embedded tissue section, stained with hematoxylin and eosin. 3. Mammograms. Modified image by Sherratt *et al.*, "Raised mammographic density: causative mechanisms and biological consequences", *Breast Cancer Research*, 2016. Permission to reprint under the terms of CC BY 4.0 (<u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0.</u>). Mammograms © Region Skáne, SUS and courtesy of Hanna Sartor³⁵¹.

Assessment of mammographic density

It is of great importance that mammographic density can be assessed accurately both clinically and in a research setting³⁵², and many methods, with their respective advantages and limitations, are available. Mammographic density assessment-methods can broadly be classified according to the mode of assessment (visual, semi-automated, fully-automated), whether they are area or volume-based, or whether they are qualitative or quantitative³⁵². Mammographic density was originally assessed with area-based methods, and, in an attempt to increase the precision, volumetric methods were introduced. In Table 5, a summary of the assessment methods is presented.

Mode of assessm	ent		Method	Output
		Dananakumat nattama	Wolfe patterns ³⁵³	4 categories
		Parenchymal patterns	Tabar ³⁵⁴	4 categories
Visual	Area-based	Qualitative	BI-RADS ³⁵⁵	4 categories
			Boyd categories ²⁴⁰	6 categories
		Semi-quantitative	Visual analog scale ³⁵⁶	Continuous percent
Comi outomotod	Area based	Quantitativa	Cumulus ³⁵⁷	Continuous percent
Semi-automated	Area-based	Quantitative	Madena ³⁵⁸	Continuous percent
		Qualitative	DenSeeMammo ³⁵⁹	4 categories
			AutoDensity ³⁶⁰	Continuous percent
			ImageJ ³⁶¹	Continuous percent
	Area-based	Quantitative	STRATUS ²⁷³	Continuous percent
			Libra ³⁶²	Continuous percent
Fully-automated			MedDensity ³⁶³	Continuous percent
			BDsxa ³⁶⁴	Continuous percent
			CumulusV ³⁶⁵	Continuous percent
	Volumetric	Quantitative	Quantra ³⁶⁶	Continuous percent
			Spectral Density ³⁶⁷	Continuous percent
			Volpara ³⁶⁸	Continuous percent

 Table 5. Mammographic density assessment methods

One of the most clinically used qualitative methods of mammographic density assessment is BI-RADS³⁵⁵. The 5th version of BI-RADS aims at improving mammographic density assessment by taking into account the masking effect³⁶⁹.

BI-RADS has four categories³⁵⁵: a: "the breast are almost entirely fatty", b: "there are scattered areas of fibroglandular density", c: "the breasts are heterogeneously dense, which may obscure small masses" and d: "the breasts are extremely dense, which lowers the sensitivity of mammography" (Figure 8).



Figure 8. The appearance of mammograms, BI-RADS a-d. Modified image by Kwan-Hoong Ng and Susie Lau, "Vision 20/20: Mammographic breast density and its clinical applications", *Medical Physicist*, 2016 Permission to reprint under the terms of CC BY 3.0 (<u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/</u>)

One often-quoted guide of the distribution of mammographic density among women in the mammography practices in the United States (the screening population), using BI-RADS, is: a = 10%, b = 40%, c = 40% and $d = 10\%^{355,370}$, although other studies have shown a larger proportion of BI-RADS $a^{300,371}$ (Table 6).

	Percentage	of the screening p	oopulation	Sensitivity		
BI-RADS	Posso <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , EJRad ³⁷¹	Von Euler- Chelpin <i>et al.</i> , Breast Cancer Res ³⁰⁰	Spauge <i>et al.</i> , J natl Cancer Inst ³⁷²	Posso <i>et al.,</i> EJRad ³⁷¹	Von Euler- Chelpin <i>et al.</i> , Breast Cancer Res ³⁰⁰	Carney <i>et al.</i> , Ann Intern Med ³⁷³
	N=177,164	N=54,997	N=764,507	N=177,164	N=54,997	N=329,495
а	24.7%	28%	13.3%	89.2%	78%	87%
b	54.7	40%	43.3%	79.4%	75%	
С	14.0%	27%	35.9%	75%	68%	
d	6.6%	5%	7.4%	67.9%	47%	62.9%

 Table 6. Summary of breast density distribution in the screening population and the sensitivity of mammography (invasive cancer/DCIS) according to BI-RADS classification.

VolparaTM is a Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved fully-automated software tool to calculate volumetric density³⁶⁸. It is validated against MRI^{374,375} and is considered robust during changes in imaging conditions such as vendor^{376,377}. VolparaTM uses the 2-dimensional digital mammogram, and with the pre-defined assumption of breast anatomy and information of breast thickness from the image, it creates an artificial volume³⁶⁸. The software measured mammographic density in both absolute (absolute dense and absolute non-dense volume) as well as in relative terms (percent dense volume).

Absolute or percent dense tissue

It is debated whether absolute dense tissue or percent dense tissue is a stronger breast cancer risk factor^{18,378}. Some studies support increased risk of breast cancer with larger amounts of dense tissue, i.e., more fibroglandular tissue at risk²³⁴, leaning towards absolute dense tissue as the stronger risk factor. Other studies advocate higher risk for percentage density^{378,379}, an estimate dependent on both dense and non-dense tissue (i.e., mostly adipose tissue), implying that either is non-dense tissue inversely associated with risk, i.e., is a protective factor, or the ratio itself reflects a biological mechanism in breast cancer etiology^{234,378}. Regarding nondense tissue in the breast, i.e., predominately adipose tissue, it is proposed to decrease breast cancer risk by diminishing the possibilities of harmful interactions in the breast between epithelial cells and the stroma²³⁸. However, results from preclinical studies also highlight hazardous properties of fat, including local breast fat^{284,285} (please refer to page 41 under the heading "Mammographic density on a cellular level"). Also, the positive association between lobular involution (occurring with aging and during/after pregnancy⁷⁰), associated with decreased breast cancer risk and non-dense tissue²⁷⁸ could, as an expression for lobular involution, additionally contribute to the inverse association between non-dense tissue and breast cancer risk³⁷⁸. It is noteworthy that inconsistency exists in the field; it has, contradicting other studies, been suggested that fat in the breasts increases breast cancer risk³⁸⁰.

In conclusion, there is no consensus on the most useful measure of mammographic density. As an indicator of breast cancer, perhaps relative measures are preferred; however, absolute density measures might be a better choice when investigating the causes and determinants of breast density³⁸¹. Also, breast density can be assessed with other imaging modalities such as breast-MRI, tomosynthesis or automated whole breast ultrasound (ABUS)³⁸².

Legislation

Starting from patient advocacy groups in Connecticut, the United States in 2009, a legislative change made it mandatory for the radiologists to notify the patients of their breast density as well as the possible need for complementary imaging³⁸³, the

"Are you dense?"-campaign (https://www.areyoudense.org/). Several states have followed; in 2015, 19 American states had passed the corresponding laws³⁸³, and in 2018, more than 70% of American states had a density reporting law³⁸⁴. Since over 40% of US women aged 40 to 74 years are estimated to have dense breasts (BI-RADS c or d)³⁷², as a consequence of the legislation, breast cancer screening practices have changed; more complementary screening with a substantial increase in follow-up ultrasound³⁸⁵ and MRI^{386,387}. The uncertainty regarding the appropriate next step in breast cancer screening and whether breast density alone is sufficient to warrant further examinations, might have contributed to the temporary decrease in the percentage of mammograms reported as dense immediately after enactment of the density legislation, seen in a large American register-based study of 4 million mammograms³⁸⁸. Today in Sweden, mammographic density is considered and reported in the diagnostic setting, but not used or reported in screening¹⁷⁴.

Aims

Overall aims

The biological link between mammographic density and breast cancer is highly complex. The overall aim of this thesis is to address this association from a different point of view; to understand if pharmaceuticals, mainly chemotherapy, can cause a decrease in mammographic density, and thereby study how mammographic density can serve as a predictive biomarker, predominantly tested in the neoadjuvant setting.

Specific aims

Paper I

To investigate the effect of statin on breast cancer risk by studying the association between volumetric mammographic density and statin use in a large screening based cohort of healthy women.

Paper II

To investigate the association between mammographic density assessed qualitatively at diagnosis and the pCR-rate after neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer in a retrospective cohort.

Paper III

To investigate if mammographic density changes during neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer in a prospective cohort. Also, to investigate if mammographic density assessed both qualitatively and quantitatively, can serve as a predictive marker of pCR.

Paper IV

To investigate the association between early radiological response by three conventional breast imaging modalities and pCR. In addition, to investigate the agreement between these modalities, and the accuracy of predicting pathological residual tumor burden by imaging.

Patients and Methods

Cohorts

The papers in the thesis are based upon three different cohorts described below: "KARMA", "NeoMon" and "NeoDense"-cohort.

KARMA-cohort (paper I)

The Karolinska Mammography (KARMA)-project³⁸⁹ for the risk prediction of breast cancer is a multicentre Swedish study and consists of 70,876 women who had either a screening or clinical mammography performed at different study sites. All mammograms were stored in their raw digital format and an extensive patient questionnaire including more than 250 questions covering main breast cancer areas such as reproductive health, medication, substance use, diseases and treatments, heredity aspects, quality of life, physical activity, and diet, were filled in by the study participants. For paper I, only women performing a screening mammogram were included. Exclusion criteria are shown in Figure 9. Finally, a total of 41,102 women made up the study population for paper I and were part of the statistical analyses.



Figure 9. Patients included in paper I, "Karma". MLO: medio-lateral oblique

NeoMon-cohort (paper II)

The consecutive retrospectively gathered NeoMon cohort consists of patients receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy (alone or in combination with HER2 targeted therapy) for breast cancer from January 2005 to June 2016 at Skåne University Hospital, Sweden. A total of 419 patients were identified through a search in a national cancer database (INCA) (search terms neoadjuvant treatment and breast cancer). In accordance with a regional ethical committee decision, all living patients were asked for consent at the time of the study. Only a minority (N = 8) did not wish to participate: the others were subsequently included in the database. Deceased patients (N = 23) were identified through cross-referencing with the Swedish population registry and were included without consent. Exclusion criteria are shown in Figure 10. Finally, a total of 302 patients were included in the study population and were part of the statistical analyses.



Figure 10. Patients included in paper II, "NeoMon".

NeoDense-cohort (papers III and IV)

During 2014–2019, neoadjuvant treated breast cancer patients at the University Hospital of Skåne, Sweden were prospectively included in the study cohort. Patients were simultaneously enrolled within the SCAN-B trial (Clinical Trials ID NCT02306096, <u>https://www.scan-b.lu.se/</u>), and patients gave informed consent with the possibility of different levels of study participation. The clinical oncologist included patients at the time of breast cancer diagnosis. The reasons for not completing the study are shown in Figure 11. Finally, a total of 200 patients were part of the statistical analyses in paper III, and 202 patients were part of the statistical analyses in paper IV, respectively.



Figure 11. Patients included in paper III, "NeoDense" and paper IV, "NeoSize".

Patient and tumor characteristics

For descriptive statistics in the form of baseline characteristics, but also for adjustment of potential confounders, a wide variety of patients and tumor characteristics were collected/abstracted for all three cohorts.

Patient characteristics

Karma-cohort

Upon inclusion in the Karma study (<u>https://karmastudy.org/</u>), each woman filled in a web-based questionnaire covering: breast cancer risk factors, including a family history of breast cancer. Also, a wide range of baseline characteristics anthropometrics, habits regarding alcohol and smoking, level of education, reproductive and hormonal factors (age at menarche, number of births and age at first birth, menstruation status, use of oral contraceptives, and HRT).

Data were also retrieved through linkage with Swedish national registers (inpatient care, prescriptions of pharmaceuticals, cancer, and causes of death).

NeoMon-cohort

Data were manually retrieved from digital medical charts.

NeoDense-cohort

At the time of diagnosis/study inclusion, each patient filled in a questionnaire with question covering anthropometrics, lifestyle, hormonal events (menarche, age at first birth, number of children, menstruation status, current and former use of oral contraceptives and HRT), alcohol and smoking habits, history of breast disease, and use of prescribed drugs.

Tumor characteristics

In papers II–IV, tumor characteristics were derived from clinical pathology reports. A summary is presented in Table 7.

Estrogen and progesterone receptor

There is not yet a global consensus among clinicians and scientists regarding what cut-off level should be used classifying a tumor as ER/PR positive or negative. The American Society of Clinical Oncology and the College of American Pathologists recommends that tumors are considered positive when at least 1% of tumor nuclei are stained positive in the specimen³⁹⁰. Objections to this have been that tumors with low-ER (1–9% staining cells) show more clinic-pathological and molecular similarities with ER-negative tumors^{391,392}. Since our study cohorts partly pre-dated the recommendation of using 1% as a cut off³⁹⁰, different local clinical guidelines were used for reporting receptor positivity during the study's time span of eleven years. We used the current Swedish guidelines¹⁷⁴ of 10% cut-off for both ER and PR in order to dichotomize receptor status the same way for each study participant.

Ki67

There is no doubt that Ki67 carries strong prognostic information³⁹³. Regarding Ki67 as a predictive marker, some uncertainty exists for the adjuvant setting^{394,395}, whereas the data that support Ki67 as a predictive marker in the neoadjuvant setting are stronger³⁹⁶⁻³⁹⁸. Ki67 is used in order to discriminate luminal A-like from luminal B-like¹⁰, but there is a matter of controversy regarding the optimal cut-off, due to interlaboratory variations³⁹⁹ and different discriminatory cutoffs are proposed in the literature^{123,124}; the consensus of the 12th St Gallen conference was that Ki67<14% should be considered as "low"¹⁰, however, 2 years later the panel voted for a threshold of 20%⁴⁰⁰. Several groups have later demonstrated that 20%, the cut-off used in paper II, is a reliable cut-off of Ki67 to stratify patients with luminal-like breast cancer^{124,401,402} and identifying high-risk patients⁴⁰³.

It is suggested that laboratory-specific cut-offs for Ki67 are used and the tumors later categorized as low, intermediate or highly proliferative⁴⁰⁴, a methodology used in the NeoDense-cohort (paper III and IV).

pCR

In NeoMon and NeoDense, pCR was defined according to current guidelines⁴⁰⁵ in the following way: the absence of any residual invasive cancer in the resected breast and all sampled regional lymph nodes. However, in NeoSize, our main focus was on the radiological response in the breast only, and we, therefore, used a modified definition of pCR not accounting for the existence of lymph node metastases, "pCR_{breast}".

	Paper I "Karma"	Paper II "NeoMon"	Paper III "NeoDense"
			Paper IV "NeoSize"
Patients characteristics	Web-based questionnaire (by the patient)	Medical charts (by the researcher)	Questionnaire and medical charts (by patient and researcher)
Menopausal status	According to a detailed questionnaire on menstruation status, when lacking information postmenopausal when ≥55 years	According to medical charts, when lacking information considered as postmenopausal when ≥55 years	According to a detailed questionnaire on menstruation status, when lacking information postmenopausal when ≥55 years
BMI	Self-reported length and weight	Derived from medical charts	Self-reported length and weight
Tumor characteristics	Not applicable		
ER/PR		*Positive: >10% Negative: ≤10%	Positive: ≥10% Negative: <10%
Ki67		High: >20% Low: ≤20%	Low, intermediate or high. Local laboratory-specific cut- offs.
HER2		Positive if the tumor was assessed as 3+ with immunohistochemistry and/or amplified with <i>in situ</i> hybridization	Positive if the tumor was assessed as 3+ with immunohistochemistry and/or amplified with <i>in situ</i> hybridization
pCR		No invasive cancer in neither breast nor axilla	NeoDense: No invasive cancer in neither breast nor axilla NeoSize: No invasive cancer in the breast. "pCR _{breast} "

*No patient had ER/PR=10%; thus, this slightly different cut-off has not influenced the comparison of the results.

Neoadjuvant chemotherapy

The standard neoadjuvant chemotherapy treatment contained three series of FEC/EC followed by three series of taxanes (docetaxel or paclitaxel) and, in the case of HER2-overexpressing tumor, combined with HER2-blockade. A summary of the received treatment of the study participants in papers II–IV is presented in Table 8.

NeoMon-cohort

A total of 96% of the patients received neoadjuvant chemotherapy containing taxanes. Of the 95 patients with HER2-overexpressing tumors, a total of 97% (N =

92) received a single anti-HER2 treatment (trastuzumab), while the remainder (N = 3) received no anti-HER2 treatment.

NeoDense-cohort

Ninety-seven percent of the patients received standard treatment (paper III: 194 out of 200, and paper IV 196 out of 202), five of the patients received a taxane-only chemotherapy-regimen, and one patient received EC only. Among the patients with HER2-overexpressing tumors, 94% (paper III: 45 of 48 for and paper IV: 46 out of 49) received a double HER2-blockade whereas the remainder (N = 3) received only trastuzumab.

	Treatment	Paper II "NeoMon"	Paper III "NeoDense"	Paper IV "NeoSize"
All	FEC/EC + taxane	240	194	196
	Taxanes	50	5	5
	EC/FEC	8	1	1
	Other	4	-	-
		N=302	N=200	N=202
HER2+	Single HER2-blockade	92	3	3
	Double HER2-blockade	-	45	46
	No HER2-blockade	3	-	-
		N=95	N=48	N=49

Table 8. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy in the NeoMon and NeoDense-cohort.

Breast imaging

A summary of breast imaging features of papers I-IV is presented in Table 9.

Karma (paper 1)

Raw-data ("for processing") mammograms were saved. VolparaTM was used for mammographic density assessment, and we used the average score from both breasts (of the MLO view) in our statistical models.

NeoMon (paper II)

Processed mammograms were collected from the Picture Archiving and Communication System and were retrospectively evaluated by a radiologist (HS) and categorized according to BI-RADS 5^{th} Edition, accounting for all available views in both breasts. The reviewing radiologist (HS) was blinded to all patient and tumor characteristics besides the name and birthdate of the patient.

NeoDense (paper III)

In cooperation with Karolinska Institutet, using their already existing serversolution for women in the large KARMA-study, we saved all raw data mammograms as well as processed mammograms from the examinations as part of the study. Breast tomosynthesis images were saved in a separate server. In real-time, the clinically assigned radiologist filled in a study-specific form with detailed information on bilateral cancer, multifocal cancer, tumor size, and axillary lymph node status by imaging as well as categorized each patient according to BI-RADS 5th Edition. At the time of data-management, using the automatic software VolparaTM, density analysis was carried out. The CC and MLO-views in both breasts and the contralateral healthy breast only, respectively, were used. Both volumetric breast density percentage (VBD%), a continuous variable calculated as the ratio of absolute dense tissue volume to total breast volume, and the absolute dense tissue volume were calculated.

NeoSize (paper IV)

The same study-specific forms, as in paper III, were used. Patients were categorized according to radiological response as follows: complete radiological response representing no visible tumor and a partial radiological response indicating $a \ge 30\%$ decrease in the (largest) diameter of the largest foci (modified after RECIST criteria, version 1.1.⁴⁰⁶); otherwise, they were classified as radiological response after two cycles of neoadjuvant chemotherapy compared to baseline (early radiological responders: T1 $\le 0.7 \times T0$).

The tumor size assessments were based on three-view mammograms, ultrasound, and one-view (MLO), wide-angle digital breast tomosynthesis.

	Paper I "Karma"	Paper II "NeoMon"	Paper III "NeoDense"	Paper IV "NeoSize"
Breast imaging modality	Mammography	Mammography (ultrasound for tumor size)	Mammography (ultrasound for tumor size)	Mammography, breast tomosynthesis, and ultrasound
Main radiological feature	Mammographic density	Mammographic density	Mammographic density	Tumor size (largest diameter)
Are raw image data available?	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Method of mammo- graphic density assessment	Volpara™	BI-RADS	Volpara™ BI-RADS	Not applicable
View	MLO	All available views	Three views (only CC, MLO for density analysis)	Mammography: Three views Tomosynthesis: MLO
Density assessment in both breasts?	Yes	Yes	Volpara [™] : Analyses with contralateral and bilateral breasts, respectively. BI-RADS: contralateral breast	Not applicable
Multifocal BC	Not applicable	No data, largest foci used in the analyses	N=25 on mammography, only the largest foci in analyses	N=25 on mammography, only the largest foci in analyses
Bilateral BC	Not applicable	Exclusion criteria, N=8. Both breasts are included in density assessment	Bilateral BC (N=4), the breast with the single largest foci included	Bilateral BC (N=4), the breast with the single largest foci included

Table 9. Summary of imaging features.

Statistical analysis

Statistics is essential to all medical research. Through the art of collecting, organizing, and presenting data, we can estimate associations and test hypotheses. Statistics is used to formally manage the data, taking several levels of variation into account. In this section, statistical terms and concepts are explained, and in the end, Table 12 on page 68 summarizes the statistics used in each paper of this thesis.

Normal distribution

Many statistical methods/tests are based on the assumption of the normal distribution, referring to a symmetrical bell-shaped distribution where the mean, median and mode values are identical. When these assumptions are met, a parametric test can be used (e.g., the Student T-test), and otherwise, a non-parametric test can be used (e.g., Mann-Whitney or Kruskal-Wallis test). Also, the non-normally distributed variable can be transformed in a number of ways to

approximate the normal distribution. Logarithmic transformation (e.g., for the mammographic density measurements in paper I) can sometimes be used to approximate the normal distribution. In order to make the results easier to comprehend after such logarithmic transformation, when reporting the results from log-transformed variables, they are often transformed back (anti-logs or exponentiation), resulting in a geometric mean. After the exponentiation of the corresponding 95% confidence interval as well, the values will not be symmetric about the geometric mean on the natural scale. The geometric mean is thus a special type of average, using the product of the values, and is often defined as the nth root of the product of n numbers.

In paper I, differences in categorical or categorized clinical variables were tested with the $\chi 2$ test, and for continuous variables, the Student's T-test was used. In paper IV, the $\chi 2$ test was used when analyzing pCR-rate by radiological early response.

Level of significance

The *p*-value is a value between zero and one, and is defined as the probability of obtaining a result at least as extreme as in the study if the null-hypothesis (there is no difference between the groups) is true. Often the significance level is arbitrarily set at $\alpha = 0.05$, implying a 5% risk of falsely rejecting the null hypothesis when it is true (type I error). Reporting a point estimate and a confidence interval is preferred over *p*-values since they tell us not only if the difference is significant, they give an estimation of the direction, magnitude, and uncertainty of the effect, enabling interpretation of clinical relevance.

ANOVA (Analysis of Variance) and ANCOVA (Analysis of Covariance)

In paper I, we used ANCOVA to address the question of an association between statin use and volumetric breast density. Simply put, ANCOVA is a statistical model that combines ANOVA with regression. ANOVA is used to compare the means of two or more groups (and requires at least one continuous variable and one nominal variable). Instead of an ANOVA, one could use multiple t-tests between the different groups, but we would then run into difficulties with each test having its own α -level and error compounds with each test, causing α -inflation⁴⁰⁷. ANOVA is a variability ratio expressing the association between variance between each subgroup and the general mean and the variance within each subgroup ("variance between"/"variance within"). Given that the ANOVA test is significant, and that we have three or more groups, one would need follow-up tests called *post hoc* tests, e.g., Bonferroni Tukey, Newman-Keuls and Scheffé, since ANOVA does not tell where in the difference lies⁴⁰⁷.

Subgroup analyses and interaction

In a study, we often want to investigate if the observed relation is different across subgroups (e.g., is there a difference for premenopausal vs. postmenopausal patients). It might be interesting to look for heterogeneity of an effect, i.e., is an effect modified by the value of another variable. This is what the term interaction refers to and can commonly be interpreted as synergy, or the opposite, between variables. In a statistical model (e.g., logistic regression or ANCOVA) with many confounders, the potential interactions are plentiful. Even if we do not believe that the included variables are truly independent of one another, in order to steer away from "significance fishing", we should abstain from such exploratory testing. On the contrary; if we have previous knowledge or suspicious of a particular interaction, we should rightly include it in our model, as we did in paper I with statin and HRT. I believe models should be pre-specified; interaction terms in statistical models can often be (statistically) insignificant because few patients will have both/all conditions. Also, statistical and biological interaction are two different things, and the focus should be on what is biologically important.

Logistic regression

The term regression refers to a statistical model displaying the association between a dependent variable (outcome) and independent (explanatory) variables. Logistic regression is a common method when the outcome is (often) a binary variable, e.g., pCR in paper II and III, and gives an odds ratio (OR) of the outcome with a confidence interval, comparing levels of the independent variables. Although not applicable in this thesis, multinomial logistic regression can be used with ordinal or nominal outcome⁴⁰⁸. In logistic regression, we can control, or adjust for a number of potential confounders, e.g., HRT or ER-status in papers II and III, i.e., we can build a model where we ideally remove the effect of the confounders from the result.

Diagnostic precision

A diagnostic test is usually a test (or procedure) to classify individuals as positive ("sick") or negative ("healthy"). The perfect test would correctly identify all sick persons as sick (100% sensitivity) and correctly identify all healthy persons as healthy (100% specificity); conditions seldom met in clinical tests. There is always a trade-off between sensitivity and specificity, and often we can decide on which of the two is prioritized, e.g., deciding on a cut-off for when a laboratory test value is considered pathological. In clinical practice, when facing a test result in a patient and deciding on course of action, it is of interest to answer the questions: "What is the likelihood that this patient has the disease given that the test result is positive?" (positive predictive value) and "What is the likelihood that this patient does not have the disease given that the test result is negative?" (negative predictive value). Positive and negative predictive value depends on the sensitivity, specificity and

notably, the prevalence in the population. If the prevalence of a disease is very low, e.g., breast cancer in a mammography screening population, a large proportion of women with a positive test result will actually be healthy (the positive predictive value will not be near 1). In paper IV, we presented test characteristics for three conventional radiological imaging modalities in terms of the association between radiological complete response (test variable) and pCR post-neoadjuvant chemotherapy (gold standard) (Table 10).

	pCR	Non-pCR
rCR	True positive (A)	False positive (B)
Non-rCR	False negative (C)	True negative (D)

Table 10. Association between rCR (test variable) and pCR (gold standard).

Sensitivity: A/(A + C), Specificity: D/(B + D), positive predictive value: A/(A + B), and negative predictive value: D/(C + D)

Correlation and agreement

When comparing two tests with one another and no gold standard or "truth" is available, other methods are needed. Correlation and agreement are two related but different statistical terms. A perfect linear association between x and y (y = x, y =0.75x) will both have a perfect correlation ($R^2 = 1$), but their agreement will not be the same (Table 11). Possible ways of assessing agreement are the paired t-test (parametric) or Wilcoxon's matched-pairs signed-rank test (non-parametric); calculating the slope of the trend line in a scatterplot, or as done in paper IV, a Bland-Altman plot. Kappa or Cohen's Kappa is a statistic model ranging from -1 to 1, measuring the agreement between classifiers, which accounts for agreement by chance. The interpretation of a kappa (κ)-value is as follows: complete agreement κ = 1, a level of agreement that would be expected by chance alone then $\kappa = 0$, and last, less agreement than would be expected from chance alone, $\kappa < 0^{409}$.

	i alla agreement.	
	Correlation	Agreement
Equation	Pearson's correlation (R ²)	Paired t-test
y = x	1	No significant difference
y = 0.75x	1	Significant difference

Bland-Altman plot

In paper 4, several Bland-Altman plots were presented, and this is a short guide of how to interpret these graphs. The advantage of Bland-Altman-plots is that it graphically shows systematic differences between the variables. Bland-Altman plots are used when comparing two measurements, x and y, that are supposed to be the same⁴¹⁰. In a Bland-Altman plot, the difference (y = a - b) between two methods are plotted against the mean value (x = (a + b)/2) in a scatter plot (Figure 12).

The 95% limits of agreement and the mean difference summarize how far apart measurements by the two methods are⁴¹¹. The plot highlights differences, e.g., if one of the methods systematically over- or underestimates a result, compared to the other and if (dis)agreement is dependent on high or low mean values⁴¹².



Figure 12. Schematic picture: Bland–Altman plot with limits of agreement (LOA).

If one of the methods is the reference method, "gold standard", one can use these values instead of the mean. However, this is debated, since a plot of the difference against a "gold standard" will always show a relation between difference and magnitude when there is none⁴¹¹. In paper IV, we, therefore, chose to have the mean of the two methods at the x-axis, even when comparing radiological tumor size against pathological tumor size.

Missing data

In epidemiological and clinical studies, missing data is almost unavoidable. It is important to account for missing data and how they are dealt with. Exclusion of cases with missing data can exclude a substantial proportion of cases, and thereby compromise conclusions from clinical studies due to decreased power and less precision. There is a risk of bias due to missing data since there might be a systematic reason for the missingness. The reasons for missing data are often classified as: "missing completely at random", "missing at random", and "missing not at random"⁴¹³. When data is "missing at random", but not "completely at random", analyzing complete cases only might bring bias into the results. Different statistical strategies have, therefore, been developed to handle missing data. One way is to replace missing values with what is assumed best- and worst-case scenarios. This, however, creates a (too) wide range of estimates, and another method is multiple imputation.

In paper I, missing data was assumed to be "missing at random", and multiple imputation was used. Multiple imputation is the process of replacing missing data with replaced values several times, thus making multiple copies of the completed dataset. Each dataset can then be analyzed, and the results can be aggregated; the imputation itself is a statistical technique for sampling values of the variables based on associations with other variables in the dataset⁴¹⁴. In paper II, analysis of complete cases only was done, and since all data came from medical charts and none was self-reported, we assumed variables to be missing "completely at random". In paper III and IV, the number of missing data was very small and here too, only analyses of complete cases were done.

Confounders

In papers I-III, a number of predefined confounders were accounted for. A confounder is a "third factor" that might be partly or wholly responsible for an observed association between the exposure and the outcome⁴¹⁵, and in data analyses, researchers want to adjust for such variables. It is problematic defining a confounder; an often used definition of a confounder is a variable being associated with both the exposure, and the outcome (conditional of the exposure) in the population and is not in the causal pathway between the two⁴¹⁶. However, this definition is not complete; and more comprehensive definitions are proposed⁴¹⁷, though out of scope for this thesis. Decisions on included confounding variables should not be based on statistical grounds only (e.g., a factor change the estimate by more than 10% or stepwise selection) since statistics cannot: 1) Draw conclusions on temporality, or 2) Differ between a confounder and a mediator⁴¹⁵. Prior knowledge should influence the choice of confounders⁴¹⁶. In epidemiology, to eliminate a false association, one can adjust or stratify on common causes⁴¹⁶. Stratifying means that we produce subgroups within which the confounder does not vary and then evaluate the association between exposure and outcome within each stratum⁴¹⁸. Several techniques can be helpful when accounting for confounding; however, it is still challenging to fully exclude the impact of remaining confounding, especially since confounding may be unknown to the researcher and/or difficult to identify/measure⁴¹⁹. Lastly, lacking consensus of potential confounding variables in epidemiological studies might lead to inconsistent results and reduced reproducibility⁴¹⁹.

In papers I–III, confounding variables were chosen based on *a-prior* knowledge (and practice in adjacent studies) of plausible biological associations. For example, in the field of mammographic density, age, BMI, parity, and menopausal status are standardly considered important confounders⁴²⁰.

Table 12. Statistics	s of paper I-IV - in su	mmary					
Paper	Study design	Methods	Outcome measure	Independent variable ("exposure")	Subgroup analyses	Confounders	Missing values
I "KARMA"	Cross- sectional	Characteristics of statin users: X2 for categorial, T-test continuous ANCOVA to examine the examine the association between statin use and mammographic density	Volumetric breast density	Statin	Statin class and statin duration	Four models with an increasing number of adjustment factors. BMI, density BMI, density (hormonal, lifestyle factors), co- medication	17% had missing values in one or more covariates, multiple imputation (missing at random)
ll "NeoMon"	Retrospective cohort study	Logistic regression models: estimate OR (95%CI) for association BI- RADS and pCR.	pCR (dichotomous)	BI-RADS 5 th Edition	Menopausal status	Three models with an increasing number of adjustment factors: crude, minimally and fully adjusted.	Only complete cases in the logistic regression models
III "NeoDense"	Prospective cohort study	Logistic regression models: estimate OR (95%CI) for association BI- RADS and VBD%, respectively, and pCR.	pCR (dichotomous)	BI-RADS 5 th Edition VBD% (static and dynamic)	Menopausal, ER, and axillary lymph node status	Three models with an increasing number of adjustment factors. Crude, minimally and fully adjusted.	Only complete cases in the logistic regression models
IV "NeoSize"	Prospective cohort study	Bland-Altman- plots, test characteristics, χ2 kappa statistics, χ2	pCR (dichotomous), remaining invasive focus	Imaging tumor size, radiological complete response	None	Not applicable	Only patients with visible turnor with all three modalities post- treatment included in statistics for test characteristics

Ethical considerations

The studies were performed in accordance with the Helsinki declaration and its later amendments and were approved by the Regional Ethics Committees.

Paper I was approved by the Regional Ethics Committee in Stockholm, and paper II-IV were approved by the Regional Ethics Committee in Lund (Dnr 2014/13, 2014/521 and 2016/521).
Methodological considerations

Errors in estimation can either be random or systematic; the latter is often referred to as bias. Validity is most easily explained as the opposite of bias; an estimate with little bias is a valid estimate. In analogy, precision is the opposite of random error. Accuracy comprises precision and validity⁴²¹.

Study design

All papers, as part of this study, are observational studies. Paper I is based on a prospective cohort, and the nature of this particular study is cross-sectional with its inherent limitations, most notably the lack of temporal associations. Paper II is a retrospective cohort study, meaning that the cohort was identified retrospectively, and data were abstracted at the time of the execution of the study. However, it is worth mentioning that (most of) the data are still prospectively collected by the clinician in that we went through medical charts rather than asked someone (patient/relative/doctor) what the patient's, e.g., BMI was back then. Paper III and IV are based on the same cohort and are prospective cohort studies (Figure 13). An advantage with the prospective design is the pre-defined questions and collection of specific data hereafter. On the other hand, it is more time-consuming and requires long durations of follow-up⁴²².



Figure 13. Study design of papers I-IV.

p-value and Type I/II errors

Finding differences/effects between study groups through statistical tests is essential to medical research. What is more important, though, is to know if our finding is applicable in the underlying population; are our results clinically useful? A way of reducing random error, and thereby increase precision, is by making the study population larger. Statistical inference, meaning drawing statistical conclusions about some population-based on studies of a sample from that population, is done by calculating the probability that chance alone might have accounted for the study results. In this context, three statistical concepts are important; effect/point estimate, confidence intervals and *p*-value.

In null hypotheses significance testing, we start our statistical analyses by specifying the null hypothesis, typically assuming that there is no difference between groups. We then apply our different statistical methods in order to test if the null hypothesis can be rejected.

A *p*-value is a number between 0 and 1 and measures how consistent the study result is with the null-hypothesis and answers the question: What is the probability of observing an effect as strong, or stronger, like the one we found in our results, if every model assumption was correct⁴²³, including the null-hypotheses? The degree of acceptable certainty, the level of significance, is often arbitrary set at $\alpha = 0.05$.

There has been a shift in the scientific world with a more critical approach towards "statistical significance"⁴²³. The main critic is the dichotomization as a statistically significant result or not, and the conclusion of "no difference/association" is based on a *p*-value being larger than a certain threshold (e.g., 0.05)⁴²⁴. A shift towards confidence intervals and estimation^{424,425} is an improvement, although thoughtful interpretation is warranted. Therefore, in papers II–IV, we were very restrictive with presenting *p*-values. In Paper I, however, multiple *p*-values are presented, and it is possible that, if the paper was to be re-written today, less focus would have been on the *p*-values and more on the effect sizes.

When performing hypothesis testing, there is always a risk of two errors to occur: types I and II errors. Type I error is related to the level of significance (α) and happens when one wrongly rejects a true null-hypotheses. Simply put, a type I error is a "false positives" - the test shows a statistically significant difference even though there is no difference. Another way to look at it, type I error can be thought of as *overreacting* to results that are actually caused by chance alone. Type II errors, on the other hand, are "false negatives". It happens when one wrongly accepts a false null-hypotheses. Type II errors can thus be thought of as *underreacting*. The probability of type II error is denoted β and depends on the power of the study ($\beta = 1$ -power).

Statistical significance is not the same as clinical significance, and in many epidemiological studies, it is sometimes implausible that there is no effect at all; the question is whether the effect is clinically meaningful and that the estimates are precise enough to make you feel confident enough to draw firm conclusions. In paper I, the main conclusion "no evidence of an overall effect of statin use on absolute dense volume"³²⁹, based on a *p*-value of 0.06, is, in my current opinion, a bit too categorical, and this reasoning *per se* sets grounds for a potential type II error. On the other hand, the finding/conclusion of a modification effect by HRT (*p*-value 0.03) could, in theory, correspondingly be a type I error. For further details, please refer to section "Effect size", on page 79. You can never for sure know when you run into a type I or type II error; however, a safe way to avoid them is to abstain from null hypothesis significance testing.

The power of a study is the likelihood that it will detect an effect as statistically significant when there is actually an effect to be detected. If a study is underdimensioned (low statistical power), we might reject results as null even if there is an important finding, and possibly even more important: the lower the power, the higher the risk that the statistically significant effects are overestimated⁴²⁶. I believe this phenomena "effect inflation/exaggeration" as well as type I and II errors, are avoided in paper II–IV; we have most certainly not found true/exact effect estimates, but we have presented the actual estimates, and as such, we have not reduced our results to the overly simplistic statement that there is an/no association.

Statistical power should be seen as a tool when planning a study, and should not be used when interpreting test-results⁴²³. A small difference (effect size) in groups with large variability is harder to find/detect as a statistically significant difference, in comparison to larger differences, thus, requiring a larger sample size if statistical significance is the goal. Power estimations have several drawbacks; mainly, it is connected with the dichotomous outcome statistical significance, not recognizing continuous findings/measures. As an alternative, study size can be based on desired precision (i.e., a width of a confidence interval)⁴²⁷.

In epidemiological, registry-based, studies, such as paper 1, we often have very little control over the number of patients, and power calculation *per se* is not applicable. However, the concept can help us decide whether it is worthwhile conducting the study or not. In paper II, all patients meeting the inclusion criteria were included (after consent), and hence no power calculation was performed. As for the cohort in paper III and IV, the number of patients included was a balance between power and time; the 200 patients were collected during several years, and longer inclusion time was not possible in order to conduct the study within the framework of this PhD. One can ask if it is correct to abstain from research just because there are not very many patients – and how will this affect research on rare disorders and/or study sites with a relatively small number of patients.

Validity

Validity can be divided into internal validity (study sample vs. target population) and external validity (vs. a more general population - generalizability). Confounding, selection bias and information bias, three forms of systematic errors, are all violations of the internal validity. Systematic errors, in contrast to random error, do not disappear when the sample size is increased⁴²¹. Confounding is already accounted for in the previous chapter ("Confounders" page 67), and here the other two forms of bias will be discussed.

Selection bias may occur when there is a systematic difference between a characteristic of study participants and those who are not part of the study. It is well known that people with better health status are more prone to participate in studies. In paper I, there are two steps of selection bias: only women attending screening (or a clinical mammogram) could be included in the cohort; and women then visiting the mammography units actively chose to participate in the KARMA cohort. We expect that women in the KARMA cohort generally have higher education and are more likely to have a family history of breast cancer in comparison to women invited to a screening in Sweden³⁸⁹. In paper II, the patients were retrospectively identified through the Swedish cancer register. It is mandatory by law for healthcare to report to this register. Patients were informed by mail and asked to communicate if they did not wish to participate (N = 8). Thus, in paper II, the selection bias is assumed to be negligible. In papers III and IV, only patients judged to be able to give informed consent and fully understand the oral and written (only in Swedish) information provided to them. This procedure thus excluded patients not speaking Swedish, predominantly immigrants with a lower socioeconomic status.

Inaccurate information collection of study participants is called information bias. In paper I, the study participants independently filled in a web-based questionnaire with its inherent limitations and strengths, e.g., self-reported alcohol consumption, especially high consumption⁴²⁸, might not be as accurately/truthfully answered as the number of births. Other data came from national registers (such as the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register) and are therefore believe to be associated with as little information bias as possible in the cohort. In paper II, only one researcher made a thorough review of the patients' medical charts, and data was filled in according to pre-specified algorithms. Also, in paper II, only one radiologist evaluated all the BI-RADS categorizations. In papers III and IV, the patients filled in a paper questionnaire with detailed information on anthropometrics, hormonal events, prescribed drug use, personal medical history, and family history of breast cancer. Information on tumor characteristics was retrieved from clinical pathology charts. Radiological data was retrieved from study-specific forms, filled in by the clinically assigned radiologist at each examination. The different radiologists were at group meetings instructed on how to fill in the forms. However, since it is a question of individual judgment of the findings by the radiologist, information bias regarding

the radiological data is inevitable, with the exception of the volumetric density assessment as it was performed using the fully-automatically software VolparaTM. For secure data entry, the Research Electronic Data Capture⁴²⁹ application was used. Only one researcher (IS) entered data to the database, except for the pathology parameters, for which it was two researchers following the same algorithms for data entry.

Paper I is based on a national, multicentre cohort, and the external validity to the Swedish population in screening-age (40–74 years old) is believed to be acceptable (selection bias, as previously mentioned, slightly reduces the external validity). Papers II–IV are based on cohorts from one-site (Skåne University Hospital) only, thus reducing the external validity. However, the oncological treatment for these patients followed the national guidelines, and there are no major reasons for questioning the generalizability to a Swedish national level. Hence, I do not believe that the (biased) selection resulted in (much) biased estimates. I believe that the conclusions of the associations between exposure and outcome would not be different if I could convince everyone to participate in the studies. Thus, although the populations under study are selected, I believe estimates from the populations still are valid/generalizable. Breast cancer is a global concern with different patients-and tumor characteristics across the world^{5,430}, as well as differences in access to (early) diagnostics and treatment in different parts of the world, and therefore the global generalizability of our results remains to be elucidated.

Lastly, but most importantly, when evaluating the validity of a study, the statistical associations and the clinical relevance must both be carefully interpreted⁴³¹. A clinically meaningful effect size (or clinically meaningful difference/minimally important change), refers to a change in the outcome that is considered "worthwhile" for the clinician/patient or would result in a change in treatment decisions⁴³².

An overview of strengths and limitations in each paper is presented in Table 13.

Table 13	. Strengths	and limitations	in papers	I–IV.
----------	-------------	-----------------	-----------	-------

Paper	Strengths	Limitations
I "KARMA"	The large, well-characterized cohort with detailed patient information through an extensive web-based questionnaire. Reliable registry information on pharmaceuticals. Access to information on statins sold and dispensed by prescription at pharmacies, not only prescribed statins. Access to raw mammograms enabling volumetric density with Volpara [™] : measurement and analysis of both dense, non-dense, and percent dense volume. Statistical stringency: Analyses followed a pre- specified statistical plan; the main objective was set up before analysis. Multivariable analyses are adjusting for other known risk factors. Multiple imputation was used for missing data.	A cross-sectional study limits the ability to account for any temporal association between statins and mammographic density. No available data on statin dosage. Due to the population-based prescription register, not reaching full coverage until 2005, we could not study the long-term effects of statins.
ll "NeoMon"	Detailed patient and tumor information retrieved from electronic medical charts. Statistical stringency: The analyses followed a pre-specified statistical plan, and the main objective was set up before analysis. Multivariable analyses are adjusting for other known risk factors. One person created the database, hence minimal collecting bias. One experienced radiologist made all the BI- RADS classifications blinded to all other data.	Mammograms were restricted to processed images, with its limitations. Complete cases only in logistic regression. Few patients within the extreme BI-RADS categories (a and d), creating small reference groups. No subgroup analyses are based on breast cancer subtype. A single-site study, reducing external validity.
III "NeoDense"	Prospective well-defined cohort Detailed patient information through patient questionnaires and search in electronic medical charts. Extensive tumor information from pathology reports. Assess to raw mammograms enabling volumetric density assessment using the fully- automated software Volpara [™] . Statistical stringency: The analyses followed a pre-specified statistical plan, and the main objective was set up before analysis. Multivariable analyses are adjusting for other known risk factors. A very small number of missing values.	Mammograms were retrieved from three different vendors, and no subgroup analyses were made based on vendor. No subgroup analyses are based on breast cancer subtype due to a limited number of patients. A single-site study, reducing external validity.
IV "NeoSize"	Same as paper III. However, statements of density measures and multivariable adjustments are not applicable.	Same as in paper III, also: No analyses of inter-observer variability Only one-view tomosynthesis, no MRI.

Results and discussion

In this chapter, the main results of each paper are presented and discussed. For more detailed results and discussion, please refer to each paper, respectively.

Paper I

Results

Statin-users were more likely to be older, postmenopausal, to have a higher BMI, and have a smoking history compared to non-users. Also, they more often reported co-medication use (i.e., HRT, metformin, and aspirin-use).

Statin users had a lower percent dense volume than non-users (*p*-value < 0.001); this was interpreted as due to the influence of a larger absolute non-dense volume in statin users (*p*-value < 0.001). Therefore, in paper I, the emphasis was on the absolute dense volume.

In terms of absolute dense volume, we found a near-significant association between higher dense volume and statin use, after multivariable adjustment, including concomitant use of low-dose aspirin and metformin (p-value = 0.06). The effect size is seen in Table 14. Also, we found no effect of statin class (lipophilicity) or treatment duration.

		Geometric mean (95 % CI)				
		Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	
Absolute	Statin use					
dense	No	56.8 (56.6–57.1)	57.1 (56.8–57.3)	57.1 (56.8–57.3)	57.0 (56.8–57.3)	
volume	Yes	60.7 (59.7–58.5)	57.6 (56.7-58.5)	57.5 (56.7–58.4)	58.0 (57.0–59.0)	
(cm³)	p value	<0.001	0.31	0.32	0.06	

Table 14. Absolute dense volume in relation to statin use in paper I.

Our results showed a positive association between statin use and absolute dense volume in women who had ever used HRT ($P_{interaction} = 0.03$).

Discussion

Metabolites of the mevalonate pathway have apoptotic and anti-proliferative properties²³, hence the vast interest of statins in oncological research. Lower risk of breast cancer death and breast cancer recurrence has been shown in statin users (i.e., tumor progression)²⁷⁻³⁰. However, no associations have been shown between statins and the risk of developing breast cancer (i.e., tumor initiation)²⁴⁻²⁶. The current understanding is that statins do not have primary preventive properties in breast cancer. This, however, was less clear when this study was published in 2015. Our findings are in line with this current understanding, and perhaps paper I contributed a little to this knowledge.

The concept of paper I was to address a potential breast cancer risk-reducing effect of statins by studying its effect on an intermediate factor in breast cancer initiation – mammographic density – instead. Simply put, we wanted to study statins use in the primary prevention setting, but as a substitute, we studied statins association with mammographic density.

Considering statins anti-inflammatory, apoptotic and anti-proliferative properties²³, our pre-study hypothesis was that statin users would have lower mammographic density than non-users. Although not reaching the pre-defined level of significance, if anything, we found the opposite: higher mammographic density in statin-users compared to non-users. A previous population-based study⁴³³ of women attending breast cancer screening showed no association between statin use and change in breast density (BI-RADS) between two successive mammographic screenings; however, when patients using HRT were excluded, the study indicates a possible increase in breast density with statin use, which also was in the opposite direction of their hypotheses. In three small studies, no association was found between breast density (area based-percentage breast density, BI-RADS), and a volumetric density method (Cumulus), respectively) and statin use⁴³⁴⁻⁴³⁶.

Returning to the discussion of CD36-repression in high dense breast tissue (page 39 under the heading "Mammographic density on a cellular level"), the finding of an upregulation of CD36 by statins²⁶⁰, further adds to the biological reasoning of a possible links between mammographic density and statin use.

HRT interaction term

Since a previous study showed that (long term) use of HRT influenced the association between statins and breast cancer⁴³⁷, we included a multiplicative interaction term between statin and HRT in our adjusted models. HRT is widely known to increases mammographic density³¹⁰ and is an established risk factor for breast cancer^{438,439}, a risk that seems to be more pronounced in women having low levels endogen estrogen prior to HRT treatment⁴⁴⁰. One study, though only in 50 patients, showed that estrone sulfate levels were lower in women using statins⁴³⁴.

Hence, women with statin use could theoretically have lower levels of estrone sulfate, and this might explain the observed larger absolute dense volume in statin users who also reported HRT use in our study. An alternative explanation might be found in the underlying indication for statins: hypercholesterolemia. A metabolite of cholesterol, 27-hydroxycholesterol, has been linked to ER-positive breast cancer⁴⁴¹, indicating a cross-talk between cholesterol and estrogen. Thus, the larger absolute dense volume in women using/used both statins and HRT could be due to the effect of HRT on hypercholesterolemia and not statins itself. However, our findings in the subgroup of study participants using HRT are not easily comparable to the results found in a previously referenced study⁴³³ investigating the change in breast density during statin use, since they only report an increase in breast density with statin use when excluding HRT-users, and do not account for the effect of HRT on mammographic density in statin users. Also, the value of the comparison is limited since they categorized breast density according to BI-RADS, and small differences may not be apparent, and in paper I, an automatic volumetric method was used.

Effect size

Given the opportunity to further analyze the results from paper I while writing this thesis, I believe the effects sizes merit deepened attention. For example, there was a positive association between statin use and absolute dense volume in women who had ever used HRT (*p*-value = 0.01). The effects sizes were 53.0 (52.5–53.6) vs. 55.2 (53.7–56.7), the point estimates deviate from one another with 4%. A valid question is: Is this a clinically meaningful difference? For the non-significant association (*p*-value = 0.06) between absolute dense volume and statin use, the differences are even smaller (57.0 (56.8–57.3) vs 58.0 (57.0–59.0)). When interpreting the differences, the limits of the method, i.e., the measuring error with VolparaTM, needs to be considered. In my opinion, the difference in absolute dense volume in women using/not using statin among the HRT-users, is of borderline clinical significance. An even smaller difference in absolute dense volume depending on statin use is seen, and is, in my opinion, not a clinically significant difference, especially since the direction of the association is opposed to the prestudy hypothesis based on biologically plausible associations.

In conclusion, there might be a complex association between statin use and mammographic density, and it is possible that an association is masked when combined with characteristics of statin users, such as high BMI, old age, or concomitant use of HRT. Since mammographic density is an important risk factor for breast cancer, potential undesirable effects in women using HRT and statins merits further investigation.

Paper II

Results

The NeoMon cohort consists of 302 patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy from January 2005 to June 2016 in Skåne, Sweden. The number of patients with mammographic density BI-RADS a (N = 16), b (N = 120), c (N = 140), and d (N = 26), with most patients in the intermediate groups. A total of 19% (N = 57) of the patients accomplished pCR following neoadjuvant chemotherapy. At baseline, prior to chemotherapy, patients accomplishing pCR had to a higher degree smaller tumors, positive axillary lymph node status, high Ki67, negative ER/PR status, and/or HER2-overexpressing tumors, in comparison to patients not accomplishing pCR.

In our logistic regression models, using BI-RADS a as the reference, the likelihood of accomplishing pCR decreases with increasing mammographic density. In Table 15, the results for the whole cohort and the premenopausal patients, separately, are presented.

	BI-RADS	N	N of cases	OR (95% CI)
All patients				
Model 3*	а	11	4	(ref)
	b	92	22	0.32 (0.07-1.50)
	с	108	17	0.30 (0.06–1.45)
	d	17	1	0.06 (0.01–0.56)
Premenopausal patients only				
Model 3	а	4	2	(ref)
	b	27	2	0.07 (0.00-1.38)
	С	71	13	0.15 (0.01–1.67)
	d	13	1	0.03 (0.00-0.76)

Table 15. Association between mammographic density and pCR (logistic regression) in paper II.

*Model 3, adjusted for: age, BMI, menopause, pregnancies, HRT, ER, PR, Ki67, HER2, and tumor size at diagnosis

Discussion

Why are women with a high mammographic density less likely to accomplish pCR following neoadjuvant chemotherapy?

There might be several answers to this question. On a tissue level, a high mammographic density is associated with a proliferative and pro-inflammatory milieu due to a complex interaction between mitogens and mutagens^{238,306}. The interaction between tumor cells and stromal cells was stressed in a gene expression study, reporting that increased stromal gene expression predicted resistance to

neoadjuvant chemotherapy⁴⁴². Also, there is a higher proportion of both epithelial and stromal cells, and breast cancers develop from the former¹⁸. This might all be a part of the rationale between the higher risk of breast cancer¹⁸ and a higher risk of local recurrence of breast cancer³⁴⁴ for women with high mammographic density in comparison to women with low mammographic density.

We believe that these same mechanisms, responsible for the association between breast cancer development and mammographic density, are responsible for the poorer response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in high mammographic density breasts. Not only tumor characteristics, but also host factors are considered predictive factors. Mammographic density, a breast-imaging parameter, is thought to be a simplified marker of the microenvironment on a tissue level. Also, in the discussions part for paper II, we have hypothesized of a higher tissue grade in dense breasts^{443,444}, obstructing the transportation of the administrated drug to the tumor in the site, contributing to the poorer response to treatment. Drug delivery in solid tumors is a complicated dynamic physiochemical process⁴⁴⁵ and a detailed description is beyond the scope of this discussion. However, the matrix of a solid tumor, such as a breast tumor, might physically obstruct drug delivery⁴⁴⁵, and since the matrix of dense breast tissue share some properties of tumor matrix (please refer to page 39 under the heading "Mammographic density on a cellular level"), drug delivery obstruction is possibly applicable to high mammographic density matrix as well. Also, cancer-stromal (especially fibroblast) interactions seems to be important in the acquirement of chemotherapy resistance^{446,447}, if this process could perhaps be associated with the predictive value of mammographic density is only speculative.

Paper III

Results

The prospectively gathered NeoDense cohorts consist of 207 patients, of whom 200 patients were part of paper III. A total of 74% of the patients had a decrease in absolute dense volume during neoadjuvant chemotherapy (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Change in volumetric density during neoadjuvant chemotherapy⁴⁴⁸. Modified by Skarping et al., "Mammographic density changes during neoadjuvant breast cancer treatment: NeoDense, a prospective study in Sweden", *The Breast*, 2020. Permission to reprint under the terms of CC BY 4.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

No association was seen between neither volumetric mammographic density (assessed with VolparaTM) nor mammographic density assessed qualitatively with BI-RADS, and pCR in multivariable-adjusted logistic regression models (Table 16 and 17).

Table 16. Association between VBD% and pCR in paper III.

All patients	N	N of cases	Model 3* OR(95% CI)	Model 3 adjusted for VBD% _{bilat} at baseline (T0) OR(95% CI)
OR correspond to a 0.5 unit change in VBD%				
Static T0	188	42	1.01 (0.97-1.06)	
Static T2	187	43	1.01 (0.97-1.06)	
Dynamic T0-T1	180	41	0.96 (0.87-1.06)	0.97 (0.89-1.07)
Dynamic T0-T2	181	41	0.99 (0.91-1.08)	1.00 (0.92-1.09)
Dynamic T1-T2	181	42	1.02 (0.93-1.12)	1.05 (0.95-1.16)**

*Model 3, adjusted for: age, BMI, menopause, parity, HRT, ER, Ki67, HER2, axillary node status and tumor size at diagnosis

**adjusted for VBD%_{bilat} at T1

 Table 17. Association between BI-RADS and pCR (BI-RADS c as reference) in paper III.

All patients		N	N of cases	Model 3* OR (95% Cl)
BI-RADS	а	9	3	1.56 (0.43 - 5.70)
	b	72	19	1.49 (1.45 - 1.52)
	с	87	16	ref
	d	27	6	2.37 (1.15 - 4.88)

*Model 3, adjusted for: age, BMI, menopause, parity, HRT, ER, Ki67, HER2, axillary node status and tumor size at diagnosis

The same results are presented using BI-RADS a as reference (Table 18.), in order to enable an easier comparison between paper II and III.

Table 18. Association between BI-RADS and pCR (BI-RADS a as reference) in paper III.

All patients		N	N of cases	Model 3* OR (95% CI)
BI-RADS	а	9	3	ref
	b	72	19	0.95 (0.22 - 4.10)
	С	87	16	0.64 (0.15 - 2.70)
	d	27	6	1.52 (0.21 - 11.0)

*Model 3, adjusted for: age, BMI, menopause, parity, HRT, ER, Ki67, HER2, axillary node status and tumor size at diagnosis

Discussion paper II and III

Change in mammographic density during neoadjuvant chemotherapy

Temporal association (repeated density measurements over time; dynamic measurements) between mammographic density and a certain intervention is important, since a decrease in mammographic density is considered advantageous in terms of both risk and recurrence^{449,450}. In the case of tamoxifen treatment, a previous study showed a reduction in mammographic density at 18 months⁴⁵¹. On the other hand, despite the proven effect as a risk-reducing agent both in primary⁴⁵² and secondary breast cancer prevention⁴⁵³, studies exploring the association between change in mammographic density following aromatase inhibitors have shown conflicting results regarding consistent density change^{330,451}. A relatively large longitudinal cohort study investigating the effect of adjuvant endocrine treatment on volumetric mammographic density showed an annual decrease in VBD% (measured with VolparaTM and QuantraTM) of 1–2% among premenopausal women (tamoxifen treatment) and 0-1% for postmenopausal women (both tamoxifen and AI, with a larger reduction in tamoxifen-users in comparison to AIusers)³³⁰. The same question (volumetric density change during tamoxifen treatment) being addressed in a small MRI-based study, showed a median reduction of 5.8% VBD% during a mean of 17.5 months⁴⁵⁴. In terms of adjuvant radiotherapy, based on two studies, radiotherapy does not seem to be associated with change in mammographic density^{324,325}.

Two small studies (N < 45 in both studies), investigating the change in breast density measured with MRI during neoadjuvant chemotherapy, showed an 11–13% reduction in percent (MRI) breast density^{455,456}. Studies^{324,325,457} have shown a decline in mammographic density during adjuvant chemotherapy, although only one of them³²⁵ quantified the decline (approximately -3 percentage point in percent mammographic density).

For premenopausal breast cancer patients, permanent chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea, i.e., chemotherapy-induced menopause, is considered to be a positive prognostic indicator^{458,459}. In the NSABP B-30 trial⁴⁶⁰, the majority of premenopausal breast cancer patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy had at least a 6-months long period of amenorrhea. The resumption of menstruation was age-dependent, and for the youngest patients (< 40 years old), almost half of the patients started to menstruate again⁴⁶⁰. It is reasonable to believe that the corresponding proportions are about the same for the patients in our neoadjuvant treated cohort since the patients were treated with the same combination of chemotherapy agents as in the referenced study⁴⁶⁰. Mammographic density in women's breasts changes along with age and hormonal events, such as pregnancy, breastfeeding, and menopause²⁷⁵. A steep decline in mammographic density is seen in the perimenopausal period, and the reduction occurring around the menopausal change

can be compared to 15–20 years of aging²⁸². Chemotherapy-induced lobular atrophy and other processes in the benign breast tissue⁴⁶¹ might also influence the mammographic density change during chemotherapy treatment. Also, in lobular involution, before the final replacement of epithelia with adipose tissue, the dense stroma is an intermediate step, highlighting the importance of timing of the density assessment²⁸¹. In light of this, it is difficult to single out the underlying biological explanation for the small decline in mammographic density seen in our study.

Mammographic density in a breast cancer cohort compared to the general population

In our cohort, only 4.5% of the patients were categorized as BI-RADS a. The proportion of American women of breast screening age categorized as BI-RADS a ranges from 8% to 20% in different age categories³⁷², and in a Swedish screening population, the proportion of patients categorized as BI-RADS a was 15%⁴⁶². In a nationwide large Dutch screening cohort (median age 60 years (IOR 54 to 66)), the mean VBD% (VolparaTM) was 7.25³²², and in a large Swedish screening cohort (mean age 58 years, range 40–76 years), the median VBD% (VolparaTM) was 7.2⁴⁶³. In our study, the median VBD% of both breasts was 11.0 (IOR 7.5–17.1), and the median VBD% of the contralateral healthy breast was 10.2 (IQR 6.7-16.3) at baseline in our neoadjuvant treated breast cancer cohort (median age 53.1 years (IOR 45.9-62.5 years)). Hence, our cohort has many more patients with higher mammographic density relative to the general population, and this could partly be due to our cohort being younger than the general screening populations in the previously referenced studies. High breast density is a known risk factor for developing breast cancer¹⁸ and, thus, it might seem safe to assume that a breast cancer cohort, on average, will have a higher breast density in comparison to a healthy cohort (the screening population). Several case-control studies have shown a higher mammographic density in breast cancer patients compared to their healthy controls^{49,464,465}. However, the association is multifactorial with some paradoxical association with mammographic density and breast cancer, e.g., with increasing age, the risk of breast cancer increases and mammographic density decreases, explained by the Pike model³⁰². Also, high BMI is associated with lower percent mammographic density⁴⁶⁶, with different associations between increasing BMI and the risk of breast cancer depending on menopausal status^{17,466,467}. Hence, assuming a breast cancer cohort to have a higher average mammographic density compared to a healthy cohort based on their breast cancer diagnosis alone might be a premature conclusion.

*Volpara*TM

When investigating a relatively small temporal change in density, the software used must deliver consistent density readings in order to deduce that the perceived change is, in fact, not related to measurement error. Since VolparaTM is shown to be in

agreement with itself between serial exams^{468,469}, the software is believed to fulfill this demand for robustness. It has been indicated that VolparaTM underestimates mammographic density relative to MRI, and this is most pronounced in high-density breasts^{374,470}. In these studies, it seems that the underestimation by VolparaTM is mainly an issue in extremely dense breasts; the divergence is most apparent, starting at 30% breast density on MRI. A small systematic underestimation would not affect our Δ -mammographic density-measurements and would, thus, not influence the results of our logistic regression models. Also, in our cohort, only 1.5% of the patients had VBD% over 30, and 4.8% of the patients had VBD% over 25; thus, our VolparaTM-output is considered robust for our material.

Why the inconsistent results in paper II and III?

In Paper II, we found an association between mammographic density and pCR, whereas no such association was seen in Paper III. In this paragraph, possible explanations are discussed, and Table 19 gives a summary of the differences.

Since the number of patients included in the statistics was fairly similar, the different results could not be explained as a matter of different power in the studies. The distribution of pre- and postmenopausal patients was similar, although, of the patients categorized as BI-RADS d, 69% of the patients were premenopausal in paper II, whereas only 59% were premenopausal in paper III. Patients in paper II received their chemotherapy during 2005–2016, and patients in paper III were treated during 2014–2019. The recommendations for chemotherapy were rather similar across this period of time, although a change in the recommendation of HER2-blockade therapy; none of the patients with HER2-overexpressing tumors received double HER2-blockade in paper II, whereas a majority of patients with HER2-overexpressing tumors received double HER2-blockade in paper III. However, during this time period, there was probably a shift in the indication for neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Since information on the indication for neoadjuvant treatment lacks in both paper II and III, one could only hypothesize on the differences. One would assume that a larger proportion of patients in paper II, in comparison to patients in paper III, received neoadjuvant treatment in a downstaging purpose; however, this is not reflected in the only marginally larger tumors seen in paper II. However, in paper II N=10 patients presented with inflammatory breast cancer at the time of diagnosis and no tumor size was assessed, whereas for paper III, only one of the patients presented with inflammatory breast cancer and for this tumor, the radiologist could still give a size estimation. A larger proportion of patients in paper III, in comparison to patients in paper II, had axillary lymph node metastases, most likely due to indication for neoadjuvant breast cancer treatment.

No major differences were seen in the ER and PR status of the patients' tumors between paper II and III. There were different pCR-rates for BI-RADS d in paper II

(6%) and paper III (22%). Patients with BI-RADS d in paper II were more often premenopausal, current smokers and never users of HRT and oral contraceptives, in comparison to patients with BI-RADS d in paper III. Also, patients with BI-RADS d in paper II had smaller tumors, more often HER2-overexpressing tumors and less often highly proliferative tumors and a lower rate of axillary node positivity, in comparison to patients with BI-RADS d in paper III. Intuitively, larger tumors and a higher rate of axillary lymph node positivity should be correlated with lower pCR rates, in contrast to our results. In paper III, all patients categorized as BI-RADS d were highly proliferative (Ki67>20%), and a high Ki67 score is known to be associated with better response to chemotherapy³⁹⁶⁻³⁹⁸. One hypothesis contributing to the explanation of the different results seen in paper II and III is that high mammographic density might be associated with high proliferative tumors (Ki67), although with inconsistent results in the previous studies^{238,337-339}, which in turn is associated with better response to chemotherapy³⁹⁶, thus diluting the association between mammographic density and pCR.

Table 19. Comparison of papers II and III.

			Paper II	Paper III
Nicords and a stimute	All		N=302	N=200
Number of patients	BI-RADS d		N=26	N=27
Included in logistic regression models	All		N=228	N=195
Year of chemotherapy treatment			2005-2016	2014-2019
		BI-RADS a	5%	5%
Mammographic density		BI-RADS b and c	86%	82%
		BI-RADS d	9%	14%
Rate of pCR of patients included in logistic	All		19%	23%
regressions models	BI-RADS d		6%	22%
		Age (median, IQR)	53 (44-63)	53 (46-63)
		BMI (median, IQR)	25 (23-28)	26 (22-29)
		Premenopausal	45%	48%
	All	Current smoking	17%	10%
		Ever hormone replacement therapy	15%	9%
		Ever oral contraceptives	57%	76%
Patient characteristics	BI-RADS d	Age (median, IQR)	44 (37-54)	47 (43-60)
		BMI (median, IQR)	23 (21-26)	24 (22-26)
		Premenopausal	69%	59%
		Current smoking	15%	4%
		Ever hormone replacement therapy	4%	11%
		Ever oral contraceptives	46%	78%
		ER-positive	63%	60%
		PR-positive	48%	52%
	All	Tumor size (mm) median (IQR) (average between mammography and ultrasound if both values were known)	32.5 (23.3- 45.0)	29 (20.0-37.5).
		HER2-overexpression	31%	24%
		High Ki67 (>20%)	68%	92%
Tumor characteristic		Axillary node positivity	65%	72%
		ER-positive	77%	70%
		PR-positive	58%	59%
	BI-RADS d	Tumor size (mm) median (IQR) (average between mammography and ultrasound if both values were known)	30 (20-40)	39 (23-42)
		HER2-overexpression	35%	22%
		High Ki67 (>20%)	58%	100%
		Axillary node positivity	58%	89%

For this table, the values for tumor size for paper III has been recalculated and is here presented as the mean of two imaging moadlites and not the largest of the two as in the original study.

Paper IV

Results

A total of 202 patients from the NeoDense-cohort were included in paper IV. The median tumor size at baseline was similar between the three modalities: 30 mm (IQR 20–40), 28 mm (IQR 19–35), and 28 mm (IQR 21–36), as assessed with mammography, ultrasound, and tomosynthesis, respectively. At diagnosis, 71% of the patients had pathology/cytology verified lymph node metastases to the axilla. The largest proportion of non-measurability (i.e., the radiologist could not give a size estimate of the tumor), as well as un-detectability, were seen for mammography, although the differences were small (Table 20).

Modality		
Mammography	Tumor size, mm, median (IQR)	30 (20 - 40)
	No detectable tumor (%)	11 (5.4)
	Tumor size not assessable (%)	10 (5.0)
	Test not performed (%)	1 (0.5)
Tomosynthesis	Tumor size, mm, median (IQR)	28 (21 - 36)
	No detectable tumor (%)	6 (3.0)
	Tumor size not assessable (%)	6 (3.0)
	Test not performed (%)	50 (24.8)
Ultrasound	Tumor size, mm, median (IQR)	28 (19 - 35)
	No detectable tumor (%)	2 (1.0)
	Tumor size not assessable (%)	5 (2.5)
	Test not performed (%)	0 (0)

Table 20. Tumor size at baseline and numbers of non-measurability and un-detectability in paper IV.

According to the visual assessment of Bland-Altman plots, at baseline, the agreement, between the modalities was similar, although tomosynthesis vs. ultrasound had the smallest mean difference. At the later time points, after cycle 2 and after cycle 6, respectively, mammography and tomosynthesis showed the best agreement with one another. Ultrasound seemed to underestimate tumor size in comparison to both mammography and tomosynthesis, at the later time points.

The accuracy of tumor size estimation by imaging modality, separately, in relation to pathology within 2- and 5-mm margins, respectively, was slightly lower for tomosynthesis in comparison to mammography and ultrasound (Table 21).

Measure	N*	Median (IQR) size, mm	Accurate within 2 mm, N (%)	Accurate within 5 mm, N (%)
Invasive focus	202	10 (0 - 19)		
Mammography	182	13 (0 - 24)	57 (30)	88 (46)
Tomosynthesis	141	13 (7 - 23)	39 (27)	63 (43)
Ultrasound	195	10 (0 - 18)	61 (31)	92 (46)

 Table 21. Accuracy of radiological modalities post-neoadjuvant chemotherapy (in relation to the invasive focus on pathology) in paper IV.

*Tumors with size not assessable as well as tumors with size assessed as 0 at baseline were excluded, the latter since they were considered undetectable at baseline.

For the patients being categorized as early radiological responders by mammography, 35% accomplished pCR_{breast} post-treatment, in comparison to only 19% of the patients categorized as early radiological <u>non</u>-responders. The corresponding proportions of pCR_{breast} among early radiological responders for tomosynthesis and ultrasound were slightly higher; 44% and 42%, respectively (Table 22).

Table 22. pCR rate by radiological early response in paper IV.

After cycle 2	Radiologic <u>non</u> - responders	Radiologic responders	Relative chance* of pCR	95% CI
Mammography	23 (19%)	23 (35%)	1.8	1.1 - 3.0
Tomosynthesis	14 (16%)	23 (44%)	2.8	1.5 - 5.2
Ultrasound	16 (14%)	35 (42%)	2.9	1.6 - 5.2

*Relative chance (of the favourable outcome pCR) is used as a synonym to relativ risk.

Discussion

Our results show that being categorized as an early radiological responder is associated with a 2–3-times higher chance of accomplishing pCR in comparison to being categorized as an early radiological <u>non</u>-responder. Although current guidelines recommend re-evaluation of neoadjuvant chemotherapy only in case of tumor progression and intolerable toxicity during treatment³⁷, we believe the concept of response-guided neoadjuvant treatment⁴⁷¹, i.e., an adaptive treatment plan according to individual response, should be considered. We suggest an improved clinical awareness of early radiological <u>non</u>-responders. Also, we recognize the difficulties with early radiological <u>non</u>-responders, still accomplishing pCR, since these patients could be subjected to (unnecessary/unfavorable) treatment modification.

In paper IV, we made a distinction between undetectable and non-measurable tumors. A non-measurable tumor is a tumor that is detectable with that particular modality, although the radiologist could not make a size estimation. The undetectable tumors, on the other hand, was not visible at all, and, e.g., in a screening-setting, these tumors would have been missed, and the reply to the woman

would be that everything looked fine. It could be argued that undetectable and nonmeasurable tumors should be grouped together since they, in clinical practice, can be hard to separate from one another. However, we believe that a non-measurable, although visible, the tumor could be interpreted as a radiological non-responder, whereas the undetectable tumors were omitted from the statistics. Coherently, in the evaluation of radiological complete response as an indicator for pCR after completion of neoadjuvant chemotherapy, only patients with a visible (although not necessarily measurable) tumor in all three modalities at baseline were included in the statistics.

Pathological evaluation after neoadjuvant chemotherapy

In paper IV, we used pCR (or lack thereof) and the largest remaining invasive focus as a pathological outcome. However, there are several other systems for evaluating response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy. In general, most systems have a category corresponding to pCR and a category with little/none response; the largest difference lies in the categorization of partial response. In Table 23, some of the systems for pathological evaluation are listed along with a brief comment.

Previous studies assessing pathological response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in relation to radiological response have used different definitions of pCR; similar to our current study DCIS was accepted in the pCR group in some studies⁴⁷²⁻⁴⁷⁸, whereas patients with remaining DCIS did not qualify for a pCR categorization in other studies⁴⁷⁹⁻⁴⁸². Still, other studies have not specified how DCIS was handled⁴⁸³. Also, in the case of non-pCR different pathological measurements was used in comparison to radiological measurements: the largest remaining invasive focus^{472,473,481,484,485}, the extent⁴⁸⁰, the largest diameter of the tumor bed (rather than the largest cellular focus)⁴⁷⁴, and the sum of all invasive components as well as DCIS components⁴⁷⁹.

When evaluating neoadjuvant chemotherapy response, two different approaches can be used: absolute assessment of the residual tumor or the relative assessment of tumor response (relative pre-treatment tumor characteristics and imaging results). Parameters as the ypTNM stage belong to the former in which the largest invasive focus of residual tumor defines the ypT category according to the 8th Edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer System⁴⁸⁶. In 2003, the Miller-Payne system was presented, a histological prognostic 5-point grading system focusing on reduction in tumor cellularity as a response to chemotherapy⁴⁸⁷. One shortcoming with the pCR concept, as is used in this and most other studies, is that it does not reflect the different levels of partial responses as does the Miller-Payne grading system (Grade 1-4 categorized as partial response and grade 5 corresponding to pCR). The literature heavily supports the use of pCR as a surrogate marker for longbreast cancer patients term survival for treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy^{169,405,488}, even though many studies support the use of the MillerPayne system as a predictive tool^{487,489,490}, the literature is not as established. International guidelines recommend reporting information needed to determine pCR in the clinical pathology reports^{46,405}, and the reporting, according to Miller-Payne System, is not a clinical established routine in Sweden³⁷, hindering the clinical interpretation. Also, the Miller-Payne system does not take into account potential axillary lymph node metastases⁴⁹¹.

System	Features
AJCC system ⁴⁹²	TNM stage: Tumor size and lymph node status.
	Not include changes in cellularity, i.e., continuous carcinoma equates microscopic foci scattered in a tumor bed of the same size ⁴⁹³ .
The Miller Payne	Tumor cellularity
System ⁴⁸⁷	Not include the response in the lymph node.
Sataloff System ⁴⁹⁴	pCR includes "near-total therapeutic effect" ⁴⁹³
RCB System ⁴⁹⁵	Residual cancer burden: an algorithm using: residual invasive carcinoma cellularity distributed over the tumor bed, the number of lymph nodes with metastases, and the size of the largest metastasis. Available free Residual Cancer Burden Calculator at MD Anderson ⁴⁹⁶ .
Honkoop Classification ⁴⁹⁷	Two categories: minimal residual disease (either no residual tumor or scattered foci of tumor microscopically) and gross residual disease (either macroscopic tumor or diffuse infiltration microscopically)
The Kuerer classification ⁴⁹⁸	three categories of response: no evidence of residual tumor, <1 cm3 of residual tumor macroscopically and >1 cm3 of residual tumor macroscopically.

Table 23. Examples of systems for pathological evaluation of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy.

Conclusions

Paper I

We found no association between statin use and volumetric mammographic density in terms of absolute dense volume.

Paper II

For patients receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy, the higher mammographic density at baseline (assessed with BI-RADS), the lower likelihood of accomplishing pCR following treatment, an association more pronounced in premenopausal patients.

Paper III

A large proportion of the patients decreased their mammographic density during neoadjuvant chemotherapy. We found no association between mammographic density, assessed with both VolparaTM and BI-RADS, and the likelihood of accomplishing pCR following neoadjuvant chemotherapy.

Paper IV

Our results show that predicting residual tumor size after neoadjuvant chemotherapy is challenging using mammography, ultrasound, and tomosynthesis. Early radiological non-response is worrisome, and these patients might need improved monitoring and changed treatment plans.

Future perspectives

In order to offer future breast cancer patients the best care, both over-treatment – associated with unnecessary complications and toxicity – and under-treatment – leading to relapse – should be avoided. Personalized treatment requires more predictive biomarkers, there among imaging biomarkers.

Deepened knowledge of mammographic density and its biological link to breast cancer initiation, progression, as well as, response to treatment is needed. How can we optimally reduce the risk of breast cancer by modulating mammographic density? Current breast cancer preventive medicines, such as the anti-estrogen tamoxifen, are associated with severe side-effects and providing non-toxic alternatives, either lowering the dose until tolerable side-effects (i.e. as explored in the KARISMA trial) or finding new targets, are obviously needed. Through in-depth studies of molecular/cellular differences between breast tissue from low and high mammographic density areas and similarities between (benign) breast tissue from high mammographic density areas and breast cancer tissue, respectively, many possible targets have already been identified and, undoubtedly, more will be explored in the future. Risk assessment models already exists, but needs to be improved. Algorithms considering risk of specific breast cancer subtypes are needed since it is likely that future preventive medications will, at least partly, target a specific breast cancer subtype. It is also of great importance that the risk-assessment models, possibly followed by risk-reducing recommendations/medications, are applied to women at a young age, when there is still time to reduce the risk of breast cancer in an effective way. A personalized preventive approach based on information from a blood sample, a "liquid biopsy", or a minimally invasive breast tissue biopsy, is an appealing idea, probably not available in the near future, but perhaps not decades away either. A translational approach is warranted.

Mammographic density is currently not routinely used in Sweden, neither in the screening-setting nor in the breast cancer treatment setting. In paper I and III, VolparaTM, a software using raw-data mammograms, was used. However, in order to be an efficient imaging biomarker in the clinic, a software, of many who already exists at the time of writing, operating on processed mammograms, is preferred. Also, guidelines, enabling easy and standardized interpretation, with appropriate levels/cutoffs of mammographic density for the clinicians to relate to are needed.

It is my understanding that the concept used in paper I, using mammographic density as an intermediate marker for breast cancer risk, could be further explored in studies investigating breast cancer risk and its association with risk/protective factors. It would be interesting to investigate the association between mammographic density and a large number of dietary products as well as pharmaceuticals.

As a result of the findings in paper II and III regarding mammographic density as a predictive marker for treatment response during neoadjuvant chemotherapy, one can conclude that larger multicenter studies are required in order to make the results useful in the clinic. The NeoDense-cohort will be the subject of future studies, next ahead of a study with longer follow-up time investigating the association between mammographic density (with one additional time point, 1 year after treatment) and breast cancer-related events. It would be interesting to further explore the predictive value of mammographic density in the adjuvant setting, adjusting for many confounders, and with breast cancer events as the outcome measure.

Paper IV enlightens both the difficulties with conventional imaging during neoadjuvant treatment, but also the need for greater awareness of early radiological <u>non</u>-responders. In order to evaluate the clinical efficacy of changing or adding treatment for early radiological <u>non</u>-responders, prospectively conducted trials are warranted. In my opinion, more advanced *functional* imaging, e.g. MRI and, predominantly ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET), but also positron emission tomography with other radiotracers, should be considered more often in Swedish clinical practice in order to offer state-of-the-art treatment.

Since breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease, whenever possible, subgroup analyses based on breast cancer subtype should be performed. This, however, requires larger studies and should be accounted for in future study designs.

Acknowledgements

I thank all the study participants for their time and energy. Without their contribution to science, this work would not be possible; thank you!

Many people contributed to make this thesis possible. It is a pleasure to express my gratitude and appreciation to all that have helped and supported this work.

First, and foremost I would like to thank my main supervisor, **Signe Borgquist**. Thank you for your ever-lasting enthusiasm and brilliant tutoring. You are a true role model, not only in the academic world, but also in private. I first met you as a medical student during a selective course, and after finishing work as "AT-läkare", I contacted you and said I wanted to do oncological research. You responded right away, and from there on, we began a shared journey leading up to this thesis. Not always the easiest path: me starting work at a different clinic, you being in Boston for a year, and then moving home to Aarhus, Denmark. However, our long-distance tutoring has never been an issue. Emails, text, and phone calls at all hours of the day from all over the planet. Please don't consider this thesis as a goodbye.

Thank you, **Sophia Zackrisson**, **Daniel Förnvik**, and **Marie Klintman**, for being my co-supervisors.

Sophia, for your wise, sharp comments, supervision, and care. You are a superstar in the world of science, and I really enjoy working with you. **Daniel**, for encouragement, companionship, and technical aid when in need. **Marie**, for kind and wise support.

Uffe Heide-Jørgensen, "my" statistician in Aarhus. You have taught me a lot about statistics, and I hope we will continue to work together in the future.

Hanna Sartor, the coolest radiologist in town. Your straightforward, honest way in combination with your sharp mind is just wonderful.

Ann Rosendahl and all colleagues in the BCPI-research group for making me feel like a part of the group even though I spend most of my time at a desk somewhere else.

Lisa Rydén, co-author in paper IV, for giving valuable clinical input. I hope that we can continue working together.

Per Hall, for providing technical help with the NeoDense-study and for always speaking your mind when reading the manuscript. Your comments have had a substantial impact on the papers.

Lina Zander, the best research nurse I could ever dream of! Organized, reliable, and calm in a world of energetic physicians and researchers.

Susanne André, for never getting tired of all my emails throughout the years. When in administrative trouble, I turn to you.

All the personnel at Unilabs in Malmö and Helsingborg, for helping out with the study forms in the NeoDense-study. Your extra efforts are truly appreciated.

All my colleagues at the department of Clinical Physiology and Nuclear Medicine ("Klin Fys"). For making it fun to go to work!

From the clinic, some special thanks to:

My boss Jonas Jögi, always encouraging me and seeing possibilities.

Karin Larsson, for all administrative support in the clinic, and keeping track of all diverse activities throughout the years - thanks to you, I know which days pre-school ends early.

My clinical supervisor **Fredrik Hedeer** who has also turned into a friend. Thank you, Eva, for pairing us up almost 6(!) years ago. Thank you, Fredrik, for being kind, funny, interested and always taking the time for others and me.

My roommate at Klin Fys, **Ragnheidur Fridriksdóttir**. It was an instant match when we met in the corridors of Klin Fys in August 2018. Me being back from parental leave and you staring a few months earlier - after just a few weeks, it felt like we had known each other forever. I thank the country of Iceland for letting us borrow (keep!?) their absolute best person!

Kristian Valind, my partner in crime at Lund PET-centre ;). You are kind and reliable, loyal and hardworking. I look forward to being your colleague for many, many years to come!

I would also like to express my gratitude to the ones closest to me.

My parents **Gunnar** and **Marianne**, energetic scientists who have always encouraged my academic endeavors. Having children of my own, makes me understand the hard work you put in raising my sisters and me. I am forever grateful.

My sisters Line, Karin, and Malin, for always being persons I turn to during both good and bad times. Having you in my life truly is a privilege. To my brothers-inlaw Daniel, Pär, and Magnus, you are a much-needed balance in the Skarping/Dalene-family. In you, I have found the brothers I never had. To my lovely nephews and nieces, Arvid, Olof, Vera, Elin, Astrid, Agnes, Hedda, and Ellen, it is wonderful to be your aunt. We are all energetic, stubborn, people – spending time with you is never boring. You all mean so very much to me!

Thank you to my parents-in-law, **Gunilla** and **Bengt**, for being great grandparents to Ebba and Viktor and always ready to step in and help us when the time-schedule doesn't come together.

Oscar, we juggle hard work and two young children with minds of their own. Though it has been tough at times, we still manage to keep it together, and if anything, it deepens the feeling of us belonging together.

Ebba and **Viktor**, this book is dedicated to you - my wonderful, clever, kind, beautiful, and wild children. You were no help what so ever in writing this book. You are forever the center of my world, and I love you immensely, just the way you are. Tack Ebba och Viktor för att ni är de finaste i världen – mamma älskar er så.



Funding

The work with this thesis was made possible by grants from the Swedish Medical Training and Research Agreement (Avtal om läkarutbildning och forskning - ALF), grants from the Swedish Breast Cancer Group (BRO), and travel support from John och Augusta Perssons stiftelse.

References

- 1. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Nov 2018;68(6):394-424.
- Cancer Research UK. Breast cancer statistics, 2020; <u>https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/breast-cancer#heading-Four.</u> [Accessed 17 Aug, 2020].
- 3. American Cancer Society. How Common Is Breast Cancer? 2019; <u>https://www.cancer.org/cancer/breast-cancer/about/how-common-is-breast-cancer.html</u>. [Accessed 17 Aug, 2020].
- Socialstyrelsen Cancerfonden. Cancer i siffror 2018 -Populärvetenskapliga fakta om cancer, 2018; <u>https://static-files.cancerfonden.se/NY_Cancer%20i%20siffror%202018.pdf</u>. [Accessed 15 Sep, 2020].
- 5. Harbeck N, Penault-Llorca F, Cortes J, et al. Breast cancer. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. Sep 23 2019;5(1):66.
- **6.** Engholm G, Ferlay J, Christensen N, et al. NORDCAN--a Nordic tool for cancer information, planning, quality control and research. *Acta Oncol.* Jun 2010;49(5):725-736.
- Association of the Nordic Cancer Registries. Nordcan Data Visualization, 2020; <u>https://nordcan.iarc.fr/en/dataviz/trends?mode=cancer&group_populations=1&multiple_cancers=1&cancers=20&populations=752&key=crude_rate&sexes=2&types=0_1&years=1960_2016</u>. [Accessed 24 Aug, 2020].
- 8. Bertos NR, Park M. Breast cancer one term, many entities? *J Clin Invest*. Oct 2011;121(10):3789-3796.
- 9. Perou CM, Sorlie T, Eisen MB, et al. Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature*. Aug 17 2000;406(6797):747-752.
- **10.** Goldhirsch A, Wood WC, Coates AS, et al. Strategies for subtypes--dealing with the diversity of breast cancer: highlights of the St. Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2011. *Ann Oncol.* Aug 2011;22(8):1736-1747.
- **11.** Broeders M, Moss S, Nystrom L, et al. The impact of mammographic screening on breast cancer mortality in Europe: a review of observational studies. *J Med Screen*. 2012;19 Suppl 1:14-25.

- 12. Gelmon K, Dent R, Mackey JR, Laing K, McLeod D, Verma S. Targeting triplenegative breast cancer: optimising therapeutic outcomes. *Ann Oncol.* Sep 2012;23(9):2223-2234.
- **13.** Maas P, Barrdahl M, Joshi AD, et al. Breast Cancer Risk From Modifiable and Nonmodifiable Risk Factors Among White Women in the United States. *JAMA Oncol.* Oct 1 2016;2(10):1295-1302.
- 14. Huo CW, Chew GL, Britt KL, et al. Mammographic density-a review on the current understanding of its association with breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Apr 2014;144(3):479-502.
- **15.** Sherratt MJ, McConnell JC, Streuli CH. Raised mammographic density: causative mechanisms and biological consequences. *Breast Cancer Res.* May 3 2016;18(1):45.
- 16. McPherson K, Steel CM, Dixon JM. ABC of breast diseases. Breast cancerepidemiology, risk factors, and genetics. *BMJ*. Sep 9 2000;321(7261):624-628.
- 17. Engmann NJ, Golmakani MK, Miglioretti DL, Sprague BL, Kerlikowske K, Breast Cancer Surveillance C. Population-Attributable Risk Proportion of Clinical Risk Factors for Breast Cancer. *JAMA Oncol.* Sep 1 2017;3(9):1228-1236.
- **18.** McCormack VA, dos Santos Silva I. Breast density and parenchymal patterns as markers of breast cancer risk: a meta-analysis. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jun 2006;15(6):1159-1169.
- **19.** Brenner H, Chen C. The colorectal cancer epidemic: challenges and opportunities for primary, secondary and tertiary prevention. *Br J Cancer*. Oct 2018;119(7):785-792.
- **20.** Evans DG, Howell A. Can the breast screening appointment be used to provide risk assessment and prevention advice? *Breast Cancer Res.* Jul 9 2015;17:84.
- **21.** Howell A, Anderson AS, Clarke RB, et al. Risk determination and prevention of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* Sep 28 2014;16(5):446.
- 22. Thorat MA, Cuzick J. Preventing invasive breast cancer using endocrine therapy. *Breast.* Aug 2017;34 Suppl 1:S47-S54.
- **23.** Lefer DJ. Statins as potent antiinflammatory drugs. *Circulation*. Oct 15 2002;106(16):2041-2042.
- 24. Cauley JA, McTiernan A, Rodabough RJ, et al. Statin use and breast cancer: prospective results from the Women's Health Initiative. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* May 17 2006;98(10):700-707.
- **25.** Bonovas S, Filioussi K, Tsavaris N, Sitaras NM. Use of statins and breast cancer: a meta-analysis of seven randomized clinical trials and nine observational studies. *J Clin Oncol.* Dec 1 2005;23(34):8606-8612.
- **26.** Undela K, Srikanth V, Bansal D. Statin use and risk of breast cancer: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. Aug 2012;135(1):261-269.
- 27. Borgquist S, Broberg P, Tojjar J, Olsson H. Statin use and breast cancer survival a Swedish nationwide study. *BMC Cancer*. Jan 11 2019;19(1):54.
- **28.** Murtola TJ, Visvanathan K, Artama M, Vainio H, Pukkala E. Statin use and breast cancer survival: a nationwide cohort study from Finland. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(10):e110231.

- **29.** Nielsen SF, Nordestgaard BG, Bojesen SE. Statin use and reduced cancer-related mortality. *N Engl J Med.* Nov 8 2012;367(19):1792-1802.
- **30.** Ahern TP, Pedersen L, Tarp M, et al. Statin prescriptions and breast cancer recurrence risk: a Danish nationwide prospective cohort study. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Oct 5 2011;103(19):1461-1468.
- **31.** Houssami N, Sainsbury R. Breast cancer: multidisciplinary care and clinical outcomes. *Eur J Cancer*. Oct 2006;42(15):2480-2491.
- **32.** Patkar V, Acosta D, Davidson T, Jones A, Fox J, Keshtgar M. Cancer multidisciplinary team meetings: evidence, challenges, and the role of clinical decision support technology. *Int J Breast Cancer*. 2011;2011:831605.
- **33.** Burstein HJ, Curigliano G, Loibl S, et al. Estimating the benefits of therapy for earlystage breast cancer: the St. Gallen International Consensus Guidelines for the primary therapy of early breast cancer 2019. *Ann Oncol.* Oct 1 2019;30(10):1541-1557.
- **34.** Tan W, Yang M, Yang H, Zhou F, Shen W. Predicting the response to neoadjuvant therapy for early-stage breast cancer: tumor-, blood-, and imaging-related biomarkers. *Cancer Manag Res.* 2018;10:4333-4347.
- **35.** Rubens RD, Sexton S, Tong D, Winter PJ, Knight RK, Hayward JL. Combined chemotherapy and radiotherapy for locally advanced breast cancer. *Eur J Cancer*. Mar 1980;16(3):351-356.
- **36.** Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative G. Long-term outcomes for neoadjuvant versus adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer: meta-analysis of individual patient data from ten randomised trials. *Lancet Oncol.* Jan 2018;19(1):27-39.
- Regionala cancercentrum i samverkan. Nationellt vårdprogram Bröstcancer, 2019; <u>http://www.swebcg.se/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/nationellt-vardprogram-brostcancer.pdf</u>. [Accessed 15 Sep, 2020].
- **38.** Alabousi M, Zha N, Salameh JP, et al. Digital breast tomosynthesis for breast cancer detection: a diagnostic test accuracy systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Radiol.* Jan 3 2020.
- **39.** Barrett T, Bowden DJ, Greenberg DC, Brown CH, Wishart GC, Britton PD. Radiological staging in breast cancer: which asymptomatic patients to image and how. *Br J Cancer*. Nov 3 2009;101(9):1522-1528.
- **40.** Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Stampfer M, Bartek J, et al. Keratin expression in human mammary epithelial cells cultured from normal and malignant tissue: relation to in vivo phenotypes and influence of medium. *J Cell Sci.* Nov 1989;94 (Pt 3):403-413.
- **41.** Allred DC, Mohsin SK, Fuqua SA. Histological and biological evolution of human premalignant breast disease. *Endocr Relat Cancer*. Mar 2001;8(1):47-61.
- **42.** Anderson WF, Chu KC, Devesa SS. Distinct incidence patterns among in situ and invasive breast carcinomas, with possible etiologic implications. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. Nov 2004;88(2):149-159.
- 43. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. Jan 7 2000;100(1):57-70.
- **44.** Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell*. Mar 4 2011;144(5):646-674.

- **45.** Lim SZ, Ong KW, Tan BK, Selvarajan S, Tan PH. Sarcoma of the breast: an update on a rare entity. *J Clin Pathol*. May 2016;69(5):373-381.
- **46.** Cardoso F, Kyriakides S, Ohno S, et al. Early breast cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-updagger. *Ann Oncol.* Aug 1 2019;30(8):1194-1220.
- Sinn HP, Kreipe H. A Brief Overview of the WHO Classification of Breast Tumors, 4th Edition, Focusing on Issues and Updates from the 3rd Edition. *Breast Care* (*Basel*). May 2013;8(2):149-154.
- **48.** Jung S, Wang M, Anderson K, et al. Alcohol consumption and breast cancer risk by estrogen receptor status: in a pooled analysis of 20 studies. *Int J Epidemiol.* Jun 2016;45(3):916-928.
- **49.** Bravi F, Decarli A, Russo AG. Risk factors for breast cancer in a cohort of mammographic screening program: a nested case-control study within the FRiCaM study. *Cancer Med.* May 2018;7(5):2145-2152.
- **50.** Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast C. Breast cancer and breastfeeding: collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 47 epidemiological studies in 30 countries, including 50302 women with breast cancer and 96973 women without the disease. *Lancet.* Jul 20 2002;360(9328):187-195.
- Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast C. Type and timing of menopausal hormone therapy and breast cancer risk: individual participant metaanalysis of the worldwide epidemiological evidence. *Lancet.* Sep 28 2019;394(10204):1159-1168.
- **52.** Christodoulatos GS, Spyrou N, Kadillari J, Psallida S, Dalamaga M. The Role of Adipokines in Breast Cancer: Current Evidence and Perspectives. *Curr Obes Rep.* Dec 2019;8(4):413-433.
- **53.** Kahlenborn C, Modugno F, Potter DM, Severs WB. Oral contraceptive use as a risk factor for premenopausal breast cancer: a meta-analysis. *Mayo Clin Proc.* Oct 2006;81(10):1290-1302.
- **54.** Morch LS, Skovlund CW, Hannaford PC, Iversen L, Fielding S, Lidegaard O. Contemporary Hormonal Contraception and the Risk of Breast Cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Dec 7 2017;377(23):2228-2239.
- **55.** Bouchardy C, Morabia A, Verkooijen HM, Fioretta G, Wespi Y, Schafer P. Remarkable change in age-specific breast cancer incidence in the Swiss canton of Geneva and its possible relation with the use of hormone replacement therapy. *BMC Cancer*. Mar 22 2006;6:78.
- **56.** Fuglede N, Langballe O, Svendsen AL, Tjonneland A, Dalton SO, Johansen C. Development in incidence of breast cancer in non-screened Danish women, 1973-2002--a population-based study. *Int J Cancer*. May 1 2006;118(9):2366-2369.
- **57.** Larsen SB, Olsen A, Lynch J, et al. Socioeconomic position and lifestyle in relation to breast cancer incidence among postmenopausal women: a prospective cohort study, Denmark, 1993-2006. *Cancer Epidemiol.* Oct 2011;35(5):438-441.
- **58.** Klassen AC, Smith KC. The enduring and evolving relationship between social class and breast cancer burden: a review of the literature. *Cancer Epidemiol.* Jun 2011;35(3):217-234.

- **59.** Chen WY, Rosner B, Hankinson SE, Colditz GA, Willett WC. Moderate alcohol consumption during adult life, drinking patterns, and breast cancer risk. *JAMA*. Nov 2 2011;306(17):1884-1890.
- **60.** Smith-Warner SA, Spiegelman D, Yaun SS, et al. Alcohol and breast cancer in women: a pooled analysis of cohort studies. *JAMA*. Feb 18 1998;279(7):535-540.
- **61.** Singletary KW, Gapstur SM. Alcohol and breast cancer: review of epidemiologic and experimental evidence and potential mechanisms. *JAMA*. Nov 7 2001;286(17):2143-2151.
- 62. Macacu A, Autier P, Boniol M, Boyle P. Active and passive smoking and risk of breast cancer: a meta-analysis. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. Nov 2015;154(2):213-224.
- **63.** Ronckers CM, Erdmann CA, Land CE. Radiation and breast cancer: a review of current evidence. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2005;7(1):21-32.
- **64.** Tamimi RM, Rosner B, Colditz GA. Evaluation of a breast cancer risk prediction model expanded to include category of prior benign breast disease lesion. *Cancer.* Nov 1 2010;116(21):4944-4953.
- **65.** Shiovitz S, Korde LA. Genetics of breast cancer: a topic in evolution. *Ann Oncol.* Jul 2015;26(7):1291-1299.
- 66. Walsh MF, Nathanson KL, Couch FJ, Offit K. Genomic Biomarkers for Breast Cancer Risk. In: Stearns V, ed. *Novel Biomarkers in the Continuum of Breast Cancer*. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2016:1-32.
- **67.** King MC, Marks JH, Mandell JB, New York Breast Cancer Study G. Breast and ovarian cancer risks due to inherited mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. *Science*. Oct 24 2003;302(5645):643-646.
- Lindor NM, McMaster ML, Lindor CJ, Greene MH, National Cancer Institute DoCPCO, Prevention Trials Research G. Concise handbook of familial cancer susceptibility syndromes - second edition. *J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr*. 2008(38):1-93.
- **69.** Li N, Rowley SM, Thompson ER, et al. Evaluating the breast cancer predisposition role of rare variants in genes associated with low-penetrance breast cancer risk SNPs. *Breast Cancer Res.* Jan 9 2018;20(1):3.
- **70.** Russo J, Moral R, Balogh GA, Mailo D, Russo IH. The protective role of pregnancy in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2005;7(3):131-142.
- **71.** Endogenous H, Breast Cancer Collaborative G, Key TJ, et al. Sex hormones and risk of breast cancer in premenopausal women: a collaborative reanalysis of individual participant data from seven prospective studies. *Lancet Oncol.* Sep 2013;14(10):1009-1019.
- Key T, Appleby P, Barnes I, Reeves G, Endogenous H, Breast Cancer Collaborative G. Endogenous sex hormones and breast cancer in postmenopausal women: reanalysis of nine prospective studies. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Apr 17 2002;94(8):606-616.
- **73.** Manjer J, Johansson R, Berglund G, et al. Postmenopausal breast cancer risk in relation to sex steroid hormones, prolactin and SHBG (Sweden). *Cancer Causes Control.* Sep 2003;14(7):599-607.
- 74. Ma H, Bernstein L, Pike MC, Ursin G. Reproductive factors and breast cancer risk according to joint estrogen and progesterone receptor status: a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2006;8(4):R43.
- **75.** Cintolo-Gonzalez JA, Braun D, Blackford AL, et al. Breast cancer risk models: a comprehensive overview of existing models, validation, and clinical applications. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Jul 2017;164(2):263-284.
- 76. Sun YS, Zhao Z, Yang ZN, et al. Risk Factors and Preventions of Breast Cancer. *Int J Biol Sci.* 2017;13(11):1387-1397.
- 77. Britt KL, Cuzick J, Phillips KA. Key steps for effective breast cancer prevention. *Nat Rev Cancer*. Aug 2020;20(8):417-436.
- **78.** Cuzick J, Sestak I, Forbes JF, et al. Use of anastrozole for breast cancer prevention (IBIS-II): long-term results of a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* Jan 11 2020;395(10218):117-122.
- **79.** Karoliniska Insitituet. Studieinformation om Karisma 2, <u>https://karmaprojektet.se/studie/karisma-2/</u>. [Accessed 15 Sep, 2020].
- **80.** Lindahl G, Rzepecka A, Dabrosin C. Increased Extracellular Osteopontin Levels in Normal Human Breast Tissue at High Risk of Developing Cancer and Its Association With Inflammatory Biomarkers in situ. *Front Oncol.* 2019;9:746.
- **81.** Nazari SS, Mukherjee P. An overview of mammographic density and its association with breast cancer. *Breast Cancer*. May 2018;25(3):259-267.
- **82.** Chu DT, Phuong TNT, Tien NLB, et al. The Effects of Adipocytes on the Regulation of Breast Cancer in the Tumor Microenvironment: An Update. *Cells.* Aug 8 2019;8(8).
- **83.** Kershaw EE, Flier JS. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* Jun 2004;89(6):2548-2556.
- 84. Renehan AG, Zwahlen M, Egger M. Adiposity and cancer risk: new mechanistic insights from epidemiology. *Nat Rev Cancer*. Aug 2015;15(8):484-498.
- **85.** Picon-Ruiz M, Morata-Tarifa C, Valle-Goffin JJ, Friedman ER, Slingerland JM. Obesity and adverse breast cancer risk and outcome: Mechanistic insights and strategies for intervention. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Sep 2017;67(5):378-397.
- **86.** Munsell MF, Sprague BL, Berry DA, Chisholm G, Trentham-Dietz A. Body mass index and breast cancer risk according to postmenopausal estrogen-progestin use and hormone receptor status. *Epidemiol Rev.* 2014;36:114-136.
- **87.** Pierobon M, Frankenfeld CL. Obesity as a risk factor for triple-negative breast cancers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. Jan 2013;137(1):307-314.
- **88.** Cotterchio M, Kreiger N, Theis B, Sloan M, Bahl S. Hormonal factors and the risk of breast cancer according to estrogen- and progesterone-receptor subgroup. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Oct 2003;12(10):1053-1060.
- **89.** Suzuki R, Rylander-Rudqvist T, Ye W, Saji S, Wolk A. Body weight and postmenopausal breast cancer risk defined by estrogen and progesterone receptor status among Swedish women: A prospective cohort study. *Int J Cancer*. Oct 1 2006;119(7):1683-1689.

- **90.** Bhandari R, Kelley GA, Hartley TA, Rockett IR. Metabolic syndrome is associated with increased breast cancer risk: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Int J Breast Cancer*. 2014;2014:189384.
- **91.** Allott EH, Hursting SD. Obesity and cancer: mechanistic insights from transdisciplinary studies. *Endocr Relat Cancer*. Dec 2015;22(6):R365-386.
- **92.** Fagherazzi G, Fabre A, Boutron-Ruault MC, Clavel-Chapelon F. Serum cholesterol level, use of a cholesterol-lowering drug, and breast cancer: results from the prospective E3N cohort. *Eur J Cancer Prev.* Mar 2010;19(2):120-125.
- **93.** Boeke CE, Eliassen AH, Oh H, Spiegelman D, Willett WC, Tamimi RM. Adolescent physical activity in relation to breast cancer risk. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. Jun 2014;145(3):715-724.
- **94.** Steindorf K, Ritte R, Eomois PP, et al. Physical activity and risk of breast cancer overall and by hormone receptor status: the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. *Int J Cancer*. Apr 1 2013;132(7):1667-1678.
- **95.** Eliassen AH, Hankinson SE, Rosner B, Holmes MD, Willett WC. Physical activity and risk of breast cancer among postmenopausal women. *Arch Intern Med.* Oct 25 2010;170(19):1758-1764.
- **96.** Sung H, Siegel RL, Torre LA, et al. Global patterns in excess body weight and the associated cancer burden. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Mar 2019;69(2):88-112.
- **97.** Pearson-Stuttard J, Zhou B, Kontis V, Bentham J, Gunter MJ, Ezzati M. Worldwide burden of cancer attributable to diabetes and high body-mass index: a comparative risk assessment. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* Jun 2018;6(6):e6-e15.
- **98.** Nechuta S, Chen WY, Cai H, et al. A pooled analysis of post-diagnosis lifestyle factors in association with late estrogen-receptor-positive breast cancer prognosis. *Int J Cancer.* May 1 2016;138(9):2088-2097.
- **99.** Calle EE, Kaaks R. Overweight, obesity and cancer: epidemiological evidence and proposed mechanisms. *Nat Rev Cancer*. Aug 2004;4(8):579-591.
- **100.** Renehan AG, Frystyk J, Flyvbjerg A. Obesity and cancer risk: the role of the insulin-IGF axis. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* Oct 2006;17(8):328-336.
- 101. Alimova IN, Liu B, Fan Z, et al. Metformin inhibits breast cancer cell growth, colony formation and induces cell cycle arrest in vitro. *Cell Cycle*. Mar 15 2009;8(6):909-915.
- **102.** Jiralerspong S, Palla SL, Giordano SH, et al. Metformin and pathologic complete responses to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in diabetic patients with breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* Jul 10 2009;27(20):3297-3302.
- 103. Tang GH, Satkunam M, Pond GR, et al. Association of Metformin with Breast Cancer Incidence and Mortality in Patients with Type II Diabetes: A GRADE-Assessed Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jun 2018;27(6):627-635.
- 104. Kowall B, Stang A, Rathmann W, Kostev K. No reduced risk of overall, colorectal, lung, breast, and prostate cancer with metformin therapy in diabetic patients: database analyses from Germany and the UK. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* Aug 2015;24(8):865-874.

- **105.** Hong JL, Jonsson Funk M, Buse JB, et al. Comparative Effect of Initiating Metformin Versus Sulfonylureas on Breast Cancer Risk in Older Women. *Epidemiology*. May 2017;28(3):446-454.
- 106. Zhang P, Li H, Tan X, Chen L, Wang S. Association of metformin use with cancer incidence and mortality: a meta-analysis. *Cancer Epidemiol.* Jun 2013;37(3):207-218.
- **107.** Holmes MD, Chen WY. Hiding in plain view: the potential for commonly used drugs to reduce breast cancer mortality. *Breast Cancer Res.* Dec 10 2012;14(6):216.
- **108.** Cook NR, Lee IM, Gaziano JM, et al. Low-dose aspirin in the primary prevention of cancer: the Women's Health Study: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. Jul 6 2005;294(1):47-55.
- **109.** Takkouche B, Regueira-Mendez C, Etminan M. Breast cancer and use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: a meta-analysis. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Oct 15 2008;100(20):1439-1447.
- **110.** Muck AO, Seeger H, Wallwiener D. Inhibitory effect of statins on the proliferation of human breast cancer cells. *Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther*. Dec 2004;42(12):695-700.
- **111.** Garwood ER, Kumar AS, Baehner FL, et al. Fluvastatin reduces proliferation and increases apoptosis in women with high grade breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Jan 2010;119(1):137-144.
- **112.** Ballman KV. Biomarker: Predictive or Prognostic? *J Clin Oncol.* Nov 20 2015;33(33):3968-3971.
- **113.** Edge SB, Compton CC. The American Joint Committee on Cancer: the 7th edition of the AJCC cancer staging manual and the future of TNM. *Ann Surg Oncol.* Jun 2010;17(6):1471-1474.
- **114.** Amin MB ES, Greene FL, et al. *AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. 8th ed.* New York2017.
- **115.** Edge SB BD, Compton CC, Fritz AG, Greene FL, Trotti A, editor. *AJCC CANCER STAGING MANUAL Seventh Edition* New York, NY: Springer;2010. .
- **116.** Elston CW, Ellis IO. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. *Histopathology*. Nov 1991;19(5):403-410.
- 117. Rakha EA, Reis-Filho JS, Baehner F, et al. Breast cancer prognostic classification in the molecular era: the role of histological grade. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2010;12(4):207.
- **118.** Li CI, Uribe DJ, Daling JR. Clinical characteristics of different histologic types of breast cancer. *Br J Cancer*. Oct 31 2005;93(9):1046-1052.
- **119.** Sorlie T, Perou CM, Tibshirani R, et al. Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Sep 11 2001;98(19):10869-10874.
- **120.** Parker JS, Mullins M, Cheang MC, et al. Supervised risk predictor of breast cancer based on intrinsic subtypes. *J Clin Oncol.* Mar 10 2009;27(8):1160-1167.
- **121.** Cheang MC, Martin M, Nielsen TO, et al. Defining breast cancer intrinsic subtypes by quantitative receptor expression. *Oncologist.* May 2015;20(5):474-482.

- **122.** Cheang MC, Chia SK, Voduc D, et al. Ki67 index, HER2 status, and prognosis of patients with luminal B breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* May 20 2009;101(10):736-750.
- 123. Coates AS, Winer EP, Goldhirsch A, et al. Tailoring therapies-improving the management of early breast cancer: St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2015. *Annals of Oncology*. Aug 2015;26(8):1533-1546.
- **124.** Vissio E, Metovic J, Osella-Abate S, et al. Integration of Ki-67 index into AJCC 2018 staging provides additional prognostic information in breast tumours candidate for genomic profiling. *Br J Cancer*. Nov 29 2019.
- **125.** Lundgren C, Bendahl PO, Borg A, et al. Agreement between molecular subtyping and surrogate subtype classification: a contemporary population-based study of ERpositive/HER2-negative primary breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. Nov 2019;178(2):459-467.
- **126.** Vargo-Gogola T, Rosen JM. Modelling breast cancer: one size does not fit all. *Nat Rev Cancer*. Sep 2007;7(9):659-672.
- **127.** Senkus E, Kyriakides S, Penault-Llorca F, et al. Primary breast cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol.* Oct 2013;24 Suppl 6:vi7-23.
- **128.** Vuong D, Simpson PT, Green B, Cummings MC, Lakhani SR. Molecular classification of breast cancer. *Virchows Arch.* Jul 2014;465(1):1-14.
- **129.** Pennisi A, Kieber-Emmons T, Makhoul I, Hutchins L. Relevance of Pathological Complete Response after Neoadjuvant Therapy for Breast Cancer. *Breast Cancer* (*Auckl*). 2016;10:103-106.
- **130.** von Minckwitz G, Untch M, Blohmer JU, et al. Definition and impact of pathologic complete response on prognosis after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in various intrinsic breast cancer subtypes. *J Clin Oncol.* May 20 2012;30(15):1796-1804.
- **131.** Cortazar P, Zhang L, Untch M, et al. Pathological complete response and long-term clinical benefit in breast cancer: the CTNeoBC pooled analysis. *Lancet*. Jul 12 2014;384(9938):164-172.
- **132.** Sanchez-Munoz A, Plata-Fernandez YM, Fernandez M, et al. The role of immunohistochemistry in breast cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy: an old tool with an enduring prognostic value. *Clin Breast Cancer*. Apr 2013;13(2):146-152.
- **133.** Chou HH, Kuo WL, Yu CC, et al. Impact of age on pathological complete response and locoregional recurrence in locally advanced breast cancer after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Biomed J.* Feb 2019;42(1):66-74.
- **134.** Usiskin I, Li F, Irwin ML, Cartmel B, Sanft T. Association between pre-diagnosis BMI, physical activity, pathologic complete response, and chemotherapy completion in women treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Breast Cancer*. Nov 2019;26(6):719-728.
- **135.** Karatas F, Erdem GU, Sahin S, et al. Obesity is an independent prognostic factor of decreased pathological complete response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer patients. *Breast.* Apr 2017;32:237-244.

- **136.** Denkert C, von Minckwitz G, Darb-Esfahani S, et al. Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes and prognosis in different subtypes of breast cancer: a pooled analysis of 3771 patients treated with neoadjuvant therapy. *Lancet Oncol.* Jan 2018;19(1):40-50.
- **137.** Soliman H, Wagner S, Flake DD, 2nd, et al. Evaluation of the 12-Gene Molecular Score and the 21-Gene Recurrence Score as Predictors of Response to Neo-adjuvant Chemotherapy in Estrogen Receptor-Positive, HER2-Negative Breast Cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol.* Jan 6 2020.
- **138.** Swisher SK, Vila J, Tucker SL, et al. Locoregional Control According to Breast Cancer Subtype and Response to Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy in Breast Cancer Patients Undergoing Breast-conserving Therapy. *Ann Surg Oncol.* Mar 2016;23(3):749-756.
- **139.** Matsen CB, Neumayer LA. Breast cancer: a review for the general surgeon. *JAMA Surg.* Oct 2013;148(10):971-979.
- 140. Miller KD, Nogueira L, Mariotto AB, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2019. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Sep 2019;69(5):363-385.
- 141. Dominici LS, Morrow M, Mittendorf E, Bellon J, King TA. Trends and controversies in multidisciplinary care of the patient with breast cancer. *Curr Probl Surg.* Dec 2016;53(12):559-595.
- **142.** Litiere S, Werutsky G, Fentiman IS, et al. Breast conserving therapy versus mastectomy for stage I-II breast cancer: 20 year follow-up of the EORTC 10801 phase 3 randomised trial. *Lancet Oncol.* Apr 2012;13(4):412-419.
- **143.** Fisher B, Anderson S, Bryant J, et al. Twenty-year follow-up of a randomized trial comparing total mastectomy, lumpectomy, and lumpectomy plus irradiation for the treatment of invasive breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Oct 17 2002;347(16):1233-1241.
- 144. Zahoor S, Haji A, Battoo A, Qurieshi M, Mir W, Shah M. Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy in Breast Cancer: A Clinical Review and Update. *J Breast Cancer*. Sep 2017;20(3):217-227.
- **145.** van Wely BJ, de Wilt JH, Francissen C, Teerenstra S, Strobbe LJ. Meta-analysis of ultrasound-guided biopsy of suspicious axillary lymph nodes in the selection of patients with extensive axillary tumour burden in breast cancer. *Br J Surg.* Feb 2015;102(3):159-168.
- **146.** Giuliano AE, Kirgan DM, Guenther JM, Morton DL. Lymphatic mapping and sentinel lymphadenectomy for breast cancer. *Ann Surg.* Sep 1994;220(3):391-398; discussion 398-401.
- 147. Canavese G, Gipponi M, Catturich A, et al. Sentinel lymph node mapping in earlystage breast cancer: technical issues and results with vital blue dye mapping and radioguided surgery. *J Surg Oncol.* May 2000;74(1):61-68.
- **148.** Jatoi I, Benson JR, Toi M. De-escalation of axillary surgery in early breast cancer. *Lancet Oncol.* Oct 2016;17(10):e430-e441.
- 149. Kuehn T, Vogl FD, Helms G, et al. Sentinel-node biopsy for axillary staging in breast cancer: results from a large prospective German multi-institutional trial. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* Apr 2004;30(3):252-259.

- **150.** Yuan Q, Wu G, Xiao SY, et al. Identification and Preservation of Arm Lymphatic System in Axillary Dissection for Breast Cancer to Reduce Arm Lymphedema Events: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Ann Surg Oncol.* Oct 2019;26(11):3446-3454.
- **151.** Togawa K, Ma H, Sullivan-Halley J, et al. Risk factors for self-reported arm lymphedema among female breast cancer survivors: a prospective cohort study. *Breast Cancer Res.* Aug 22 2014;16(4):414.
- **152.** Kuehn T, Bauerfeind I, Fehm T, et al. Sentinel-lymph-node biopsy in patients with breast cancer before and after neoadjuvant chemotherapy (SENTINA): a prospective, multicentre cohort study. *Lancet Oncology*. Jun 2013;14(7):609-618.
- **153.** Zetterlund L, Celebioglu F, Axelsson R, de Boniface J, Frisell J. Swedish prospective multicenter trial on the accuracy and clinical relevance of sentinel lymph node biopsy before neoadjuvant systemic therapy in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* May 2017;163(1):93-101.
- **154.** Moo TA, Edelweiss M, Hajiyeva S, et al. Is Low-Volume Disease in the Sentinel Node After Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy an Indication for Axillary Dissection? *Ann Surg Oncol.* Jun 2018;25(6):1488-1494.
- **155.** Nogi H, Uchida K, Mimoto R, et al. Long-Term Follow-Up of Node-Negative Breast Cancer Patients Evaluated via Sentinel Node Biopsy After Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy. *Clin Breast Cancer*. Dec 2017;17(8):644-649.
- **156.** Galimberti V, Ribeiro Fontana SK, Maisonneuve P, et al. Sentinel node biopsy after neoadjuvant treatment in breast cancer: Five-year follow-up of patients with clinically node-negative or node-positive disease before treatment. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* Mar 2016;42(3):361-368.
- **157.** Classe JM, Loaec C, Gimbergues P, et al. Sentinel lymph node biopsy without axillary lymphadenectomy after neoadjuvant chemotherapy is accurate and safe for selected patients: the GANEA 2 study. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Jan 2019;173(2):343-352.
- **158.** Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative G, Darby S, McGale P, et al. Effect of radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery on 10-year recurrence and 15-year breast cancer death: meta-analysis of individual patient data for 10,801 women in 17 randomised trials. *Lancet.* Nov 12 2011;378(9804):1707-1716.
- **159.** Ebctcg, McGale P, Taylor C, et al. Effect of radiotherapy after mastectomy and axillary surgery on 10-year recurrence and 20-year breast cancer mortality: meta-analysis of individual patient data for 8135 women in 22 randomised trials. *Lancet.* Jun 21 2014;383(9935):2127-2135.
- **160.** Kunkler IH, Canney P, van Tienhoven G, Russell NS, Group MESTM. Elucidating the role of chest wall irradiation in 'intermediate-risk' breast cancer: the MRC/EORTC SUPREMO trial. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol).* Feb 2008;20(1):31-34.
- **161.** Darby SC, Ewertz M, McGale P, et al. Risk of ischemic heart disease in women after radiotherapy for breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Mar 14 2013;368(11):987-998.
- **162.** Clarke M, Collins R, Darby S, et al. Effects of radiotherapy and of differences in the extent of surgery for early breast cancer on local recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. *Lancet.* Dec 17 2005;366(9503):2087-2106.

- **163.** Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative G, Peto R, Davies C, et al. Comparisons between different polychemotherapy regimens for early breast cancer: meta-analyses of long-term outcome among 100,000 women in 123 randomised trials. *Lancet.* Feb 4 2012;379(9814):432-444.
- **164.** Fontanella C, Bolzonello S, Lederer B, Aprile G. Management of breast cancer patients with chemotherapy-induced neutropenia or febrile neutropenia. *Breast Care* (*Basel*). Apr 2014;9(4):239-245.
- **165.** Azim HA, Jr., de Azambuja E, Colozza M, Bines J, Piccart MJ. Long-term toxic effects of adjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer. *Ann Oncol.* Sep 2011;22(9):1939-1947.
- **166.** Cardoso F, van't Veer LJ, Bogaerts J, et al. 70-Gene Signature as an Aid to Treatment Decisions in Early-Stage Breast Cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Aug 25 2016;375(8):717-729.
- **167.** Sparano JA, Gray RJ, Makower DF, et al. Adjuvant Chemotherapy Guided by a 21-Gene Expression Assay in Breast Cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Jul 12 2018;379(2):111-121.
- 168. Krop I, Ismaila N, Andre F, et al. Use of Biomarkers to Guide Decisions on Adjuvant Systemic Therapy for Women With Early-Stage Invasive Breast Cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline Focused Update. J Clin Oncol. Aug 20 2017;35(24):2838-2847.
- **169.** Mieog JS, van der Hage JA, van de Velde CJ. Preoperative chemotherapy for women with operable breast cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* Apr 18 2007(2):CD005002.
- 170. Fisher B, Brown A, Mamounas E, et al. Effect of preoperative chemotherapy on local-regional disease in women with operable breast cancer: findings from National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project B-18. *J Clin Oncol.* Jul 1997;15(7):2483-2493.
- **171.** Mohiuddin JJ, Deal AM, Lund JL, et al. Evaluating the Effectiveness of Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy in Reducing Mastectomy for Women With Breast Cancer. *JNCI Cancer Spectr.* Sep 2017;1(1):pkx004.
- **172.** Denduluri N, Chavez-MacGregor M, Telli ML, et al. Selection of Optimal Adjuvant Chemotherapy and Targeted Therapy for Early Breast Cancer: ASCO Clinical Practice Guideline Focused Update. *J Clin Oncol.* Aug 10 2018;36(23):2433-2443.
- **173.** Masuda N, Lee SJ, Ohtani S, et al. Adjuvant Capecitabine for Breast Cancer after Preoperative Chemotherapy. *N Engl J Med.* Jun 1 2017;376(22):2147-2159.
- 174. Regionala cancercentrum i samverkan. Nationellt vårdprogram Bröstcancer, 2020; <u>http://www.swebcg.se/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/nationellt-vardprogram-brostcancer_200211.pdf</u>. [Accessed 15 Sep, 2020].
- **175.** Reinbolt RE, Mangini N, Hill JL, et al. Endocrine therapy in breast cancer: the neoadjuvant, adjuvant, and metastatic approach. *Semin Oncol Nurs*. May 2015;31(2):146-155.
- **176.** Osborne CK, Schiff R. Mechanisms of endocrine resistance in breast cancer. *Annu Rev Med.* 2011;62:233-247.

- **177.** Buzdar AU, Robertson JF, Eiermann W, Nabholtz JM. An overview of the pharmacology and pharmacokinetics of the newer generation aromatase inhibitors anastrozole, letrozole, and exemestane. *Cancer*. Nov 1 2002;95(9):2006-2016.
- 178. Davies C, Pan H, Godwin J, et al. Long-term effects of continuing adjuvant tamoxifen to 10 years versus stopping at 5 years after diagnosis of oestrogen receptor-positive breast cancer: ATLAS, a randomised trial. *Lancet.* Mar 9 2013;381(9869):805-816.
- **179.** Burstein HJ, Lacchetti C, Anderson H, et al. Adjuvant Endocrine Therapy for Women With Hormone Receptor-Positive Breast Cancer: ASCO Clinical Practice Guideline Focused Update. *J Clin Oncol.* Feb 10 2019;37(5):423-438.
- 180. Owusu C, Buist DS, Field TS, et al. Predictors of tamoxifen discontinuation among older women with estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* Feb 1 2008;26(4):549-555.
- **181.** Chlebowski RT, Haque R, Hedlin H, et al. Benefit/risk for adjuvant breast cancer therapy with tamoxifen or aromatase inhibitor use by age, and race/ethnicity. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Dec 2015;154(3):609-616.
- **182.** Van Asten K, Neven P, Lintermans A, Wildiers H, Paridaens R. Aromatase inhibitors in the breast cancer clinic: focus on exemestane. *Endocr Relat Cancer*. Feb 2014;21(1):R31-49.
- **183.** Moja L, Tagliabue L, Balduzzi S, et al. Trastuzumab containing regimens for early breast cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* Apr 18 2012(4):CD006243.
- **184.** von Minckwitz G, Procter M, de Azambuja E, et al. Adjuvant Pertuzumab and Trastuzumab in Early HER2-Positive Breast Cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Jul 13 2017;377(2):122-131.
- **185.** Scheuer W, Friess T, Burtscher H, Bossenmaier B, Endl J, Hasmann M. Strongly enhanced antitumor activity of trastuzumab and pertuzumab combination treatment on HER2-positive human xenograft tumor models. *Cancer Res.* Dec 15 2009;69(24):9330-9336.
- **186.** Bregni G, Galli G, Gevorgyan A, de Braud F, Di Cosimo S. Trastuzumab cardiac toxicity: a problem we put our heart into. *Tumori.* Jan-Feb 2016;102(1):1-5.
- 187. Bal O, Oksuzoglu B, Dogan M, et al. Long-term outcomes of prolonged bisphosphonates more than 2 years in bone metastatic breast cancer: risk vs benefit. *Ir J Med Sci.* Dec 10 2019.
- **188.** Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative G. Adjuvant bisphosphonate treatment in early breast cancer: meta-analyses of individual patient data from randomised trials. *Lancet.* Oct 3 2015;386(10001):1353-1361.
- **189.** Kharkwal S, Sameer, Mukherjee A. Triple test in carcinoma breast. *J Clin Diagn Res.* Oct 2014;8(10):NC09-11.
- **190.** Ashley S, Royle GT, Corder A, et al. Clinical, radiological and cytological diagnosis of breast cancer in young women. *Br J Surg.* Aug 1989;76(8):835-837.
- **191.** Bedrich Vitak GS. Radiologi. In: Peter Aspelin HP, ed. *Radiologisk bröstdiagnostik* 1.1 ed: Studentlitteratur; 2008:383-407.

- **192.** Friedewald SM, Rafferty EA, Rose SL, et al. Breast cancer screening using tomosynthesis in combination with digital mammography. *JAMA*. Jun 25 2014;311(24):2499-2507.
- **193.** Aase HS, Holen AS, Pedersen K, et al. A randomized controlled trial of digital breast tomosynthesis versus digital mammography in population-based screening in Bergen: interim analysis of performance indicators from the To-Be trial. *Eur Radiol.* Mar 2019;29(3):1175-1186.
- **194.** Bernardi D, Macaskill P, Pellegrini M, et al. Breast cancer screening with tomosynthesis (3D mammography) with acquired or synthetic 2D mammography compared with 2D mammography alone (STORM-2): a population-based prospective study. *Lancet Oncol.* Aug 2016;17(8):1105-1113.
- **195.** Gennaro G, Bernardi D, Houssami N. Radiation dose with digital breast tomosynthesis compared to digital mammography: per-view analysis. *Eur Radiol.* Feb 2018;28(2):573-581.
- **196.** Hendrick RE. Radiation doses and cancer risks from breast imaging studies. *Radiology*. Oct 2010;257(1):246-253.
- **197.** J T. Echomammography: Technique and Results. In: E.A S, ed. *Radiological Diagnosis of Breast Diseases. Medical Radiology (Diagnostic Imaging and Radiation Oncology).* Berlin, Heidleberg Springer; 2000.
- **198.** Guo R, Lu G, Qin B, Fei B. Ultrasound Imaging Technologies for Breast Cancer Detection and Management: A Review. *Ultrasound Med Biol.* Jan 2018;44(1):37-70.
- 199. Health Quality O. Ultrasound as an Adjunct to Mammography for Breast Cancer Screening: A Health Technology Assessment. Ont Health Technol Assess Ser. 2016;16(15):1-71.
- **200.** Lauby-Secretan B, Scoccianti C, Loomis D, et al. Breast-cancer screening--viewpoint of the IARC Working Group. *N Engl J Med.* Jun 11 2015;372(24):2353-2358.
- **201.** Expert Panel on Breast I, Slanetz PJ, Moy L, et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria((R)) Monitoring Response to Neoadjuvant Systemic Therapy for Breast Cancer. *J Am Coll Radiol.* Nov 2017;14(11S):S462-S475.
- 202. Mann RM, Kuhl CK, Moy L. Contrast-enhanced MRI for breast cancer screening. J Magn Reson Imaging. Aug 2019;50(2):377-390.
- **203.** Arponen O, Masarwah A, Sutela A, et al. Incidentally detected enhancing lesions found in breast MRI: analysis of apparent diffusion coefficient and T2 signal intensity significantly improves specificity. *Eur Radiol.* Dec 2016;26(12):4361-4370.
- **204.** Mann RM, Cho N, Moy L. Breast MRI: State of the Art. *Radiology*. Sep 2019;292(3):520-536.
- **205.** Bakker MF, de Lange SV, Pijnappel RM, et al. Supplemental MRI Screening for Women with Extremely Dense Breast Tissue. *N Engl J Med.* Nov 28 2019;381(22):2091-2102.
- **206.** Houssami N, Turner RM, Morrow M. Meta-analysis of pre-operative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and surgical treatment for breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Sep 2017;165(2):273-283.

- **207.** Heywang-Kobrunner SH, Hacker A, Sedlacek S. Magnetic resonance imaging: the evolution of breast imaging. *Breast.* Aug 2013;22 Suppl 2:S77-82.
- **208.** Gonzalez V, Sandelin K, Karlsson A, et al. Preoperative MRI of the breast (POMB) influences primary treatment in breast cancer: a prospective, randomized, multicenter study. *World J Surg.* Jul 2014;38(7):1685-1693.
- **209.** Houssami N, Turner R, Macaskill P, et al. An individual person data meta-analysis of preoperative magnetic resonance imaging and breast cancer recurrence. *J Clin Oncol.* Feb 10 2014;32(5):392-401.
- **210.** Fangberget A, Nilsen LB, Hole KH, et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer-response evaluation and prediction of response to treatment using dynamic contrast-enhanced and diffusion-weighted MR imaging. *Eur Radiol.* Jun 2011;21(6):1188-1199.
- **211.** Martincich L, Montemurro F, De Rosa G, et al. Monitoring response to primary chemotherapy in breast cancer using dynamic contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Jan 2004;83(1):67-76.
- **212.** Francescone MA, Jochelson MS, Dershaw DD, et al. Low energy mammogram obtained in contrast-enhanced digital mammography (CEDM) is comparable to routine full-field digital mammography (FFDM). *Eur J Radiol.* Aug 2014;83(8):1350-1355.
- **213.** Ghaderi KF, Phillips J, Perry H, Lotfi P, Mehta TS. Contrast-enhanced Mammography: Current Applications and Future Directions. *Radiographics*. Nov-Dec 2019;39(7):1907-1920.
- **214.** Skaane P, Bandos AI, Gullien R, et al. Comparison of digital mammography alone and digital mammography plus tomosynthesis in a population-based screening program. *Radiology*. Apr 2013;267(1):47-56.
- **215.** Marinovich ML, Hunter KE, Macaskill P, Houssami N. Breast Cancer Screening Using Tomosynthesis or Mammography: A Meta-analysis of Cancer Detection and Recall. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Sep 1 2018;110(9):942-949.
- **216.** Tagliafico AS, Calabrese M, Bignotti B, et al. Accuracy and reading time for six strategies using digital breast tomosynthesis in women with mammographically negative dense breasts. *Eur Radiol.* Dec 2017;27(12):5179-5184.
- **217.** Conant EF, Toledano AY, Periaswamy S, et al. Improving Accuracy and Efficiency with Concurrent Use of Artificial Intelligence for Digital Breast Tomosynthesis. *Radiol Artif Intell.* Jul 31 2019;1(4):e180096.
- **218.** Levine D, McDonald RJ, Kressel HY. Gadolinium Retention After Contrast-Enhanced MRI. *JAMA*. Nov 13 2018;320(18):1853-1854.
- **219.** Jochelson MS, Dershaw DD, Sung JS, et al. Bilateral contrast-enhanced dual-energy digital mammography: feasibility and comparison with conventional digital mammography and MR imaging in women with known breast carcinoma. *Radiology*. Mar 2013;266(3):743-751.
- **220.** Patel BK, Lobbes MBI, Lewin J. Contrast Enhanced Spectral Mammography: A Review. *Semin Ultrasound CT MR*. Feb 2018;39(1):70-79.
- **221.** Cheung YC, Lin YC, Wan YL, et al. Diagnostic performance of dual-energy contrast-enhanced subtracted mammography in dense breasts compared to

mammography alone: interobserver blind-reading analysis. *Eur Radiol*. Oct 2014;24(10):2394-2403.

- **222.** Lobbes MB, Lalji U, Houwers J, et al. Contrast-enhanced spectral mammography in patients referred from the breast cancer screening programme. *Eur Radiol.* Jul 2014;24(7):1668-1676.
- **223.** Sung JS, Lebron L, Keating D, et al. Performance of Dual-Energy Contrast-enhanced Digital Mammography for Screening Women at Increased Risk of Breast Cancer. *Radiology.* Oct 2019;293(1):81-88.
- 224. Cozzi A, Schiaffino S, Sardanelli F. The emerging role of contrast-enhanced mammography. *Quant Imaging Med Surg.* Dec 2019;9(12):2012-2018.
- **225.** Marmot MG, Altman DG, Cameron DA, Dewar JA, Thompson SG, Wilcox M. The benefits and harms of breast cancer screening: an independent review. *Br J Cancer*. Jun 11 2013;108(11):2205-2240.
- **226.** Tabar L, Vitak B, Chen TH, et al. Swedish two-county trial: impact of mammographic screening on breast cancer mortality during 3 decades. *Radiology*. Sep 2011;260(3):658-663.
- **227.** Nystrom L, Andersson I, Bjurstam N, Frisell J, Nordenskjold B, Rutqvist LE. Longterm effects of mammography screening: updated overview of the Swedish randomised trials. *Lancet*. Mar 16 2002;359(9310):909-919.
- **228.** Massat NJ, Dibden A, Parmar D, Cuzick J, Sasieni PD, Duffy SW. Impact of Screening on Breast Cancer Mortality: The UK Program 20 Years On. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Mar 2016;25(3):455-462.
- **229.** Independent UKPoBCS. The benefits and harms of breast cancer screening: an independent review. *Lancet.* Nov 17 2012;380(9855):1778-1786.
- **230.** Humphrey LL, Helfand M, Chan BK, Woolf SH. Breast cancer screening: a summary of the evidence for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. *Ann Intern Med.* Sep 3 2002;137(5 Part 1):347-360.
- **231.** Christiansen CL, Wang F, Barton MB, et al. Predicting the cumulative risk of falsepositive mammograms. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Oct 18 2000;92(20):1657-1666.
- **232.** Paci E, Group EW. Summary of the evidence of breast cancer service screening outcomes in Europe and first estimate of the benefit and harm balance sheet. *J Med Screen.* 2012;19 Suppl 1:5-13.
- **233.** Acerbi I, Cassereau L, Dean I, et al. Human breast cancer invasion and aggression correlates with ECM stiffening and immune cell infiltration. *Integr Biol (Camb).* Oct 2015;7(10):1120-1134.
- **234.** Boyd NF, Martin LJ, Bronskill M, Yaffe MJ, Duric N, Minkin S. Breast tissue composition and susceptibility to breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Aug 18 2010;102(16):1224-1237.
- **235.** Boyd NF, Lockwood GA, Byng JW, Tritchler DL, Yaffe MJ. Mammographic densities and breast cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Dec 1998;7(12):1133-1144.

- **236.** Guo YP, Martin LJ, Hanna W, et al. Growth factors and stromal matrix proteins associated with mammographic densities. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Mar 2001;10(3):243-248.
- **237.** Li T, Sun L, Miller N, et al. The association of measured breast tissue characteristics with mammographic density and other risk factors for breast cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Feb 2005;14(2):343-349.
- **238.** Huo CW, Chew G, Hill P, et al. High mammographic density is associated with an increase in stromal collagen and immune cells within the mammary epithelium. *Breast Cancer Res.* Jun 4 2015;17:79.
- **239.** Britt K, Ingman W, Huo C, Chew G, Thompson E. The pathobiology of mammographic density. 2014.
- **240.** Boyd NF, Jensen HM, Cooke G, Han HL. Relationship between mammographic and histological risk factors for breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Aug 5 1992;84(15):1170-1179.
- **241.** Ghosh K, Brandt KR, Reynolds C, et al. Tissue composition of mammographically dense and non-dense breast tissue. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Jan 2012;131(1):267-275.
- **242.** Hawes D, Downey S, Pearce CL, et al. Dense breast stromal tissue shows greatly increased concentration of breast epithelium but no increase in its proliferative activity. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2006;8(2):R24.
- **243.** Alowami S, Troup S, Al-Haddad S, Kirkpatrick I, Watson PH. Mammographic density is related to stroma and stromal proteoglycan expression. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2003;5(5):R129-135.
- **244.** Lin SJ, Cawson J, Hill P, et al. Image-guided sampling reveals increased stroma and lower glandular complexity in mammographically dense breast tissue. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Jul 2011;128(2):505-516.
- 245. Maller O, Hansen KC, Lyons TR, et al. Collagen architecture in pregnancy-induced protection from breast cancer. *J Cell Sci.* Sep 15 2013;126(Pt 18):4108-4110.
- 246. MacMahon B, Cole P, Lin TM, et al. Age at first birth and breast cancer risk. *Bull World Health Organ*. 1970;43(2):209-221.
- 247. McConnell JC, O'Connell OV, Brennan K, et al. Increased peri-ductal collagen micro-organization may contribute to raised mammographic density. *Breast Cancer Res.* Jan 8 2016;18(1):5.
- **248.** Boyd NF, Stone J, Martin LJ, et al. The association of breast mitogens with mammographic densities. *Br J Cancer*. Oct 7 2002;87(8):876-882.
- **249.** Walker K, Fletcher O, Johnson N, et al. Premenopausal mammographic density in relation to cyclic variations in endogenous sex hormone levels, prolactin, and insulin-like growth factors. *Cancer Res.* Aug 15 2009;69(16):6490-6499.
- **250.** Byrne C, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Speizer FE, Pollak M, Hankinson SE. Plasma insulin-like growth factor (IGF) I, IGF-binding protein 3, and mammographic density. *Cancer Res.* Jul 15 2000;60(14):3744-3748.
- **251.** Boyd NF, McGuire V. Evidence of lipid peroxidation in premenopausal women with mammographic dysplasia. *Cancer Lett.* Apr 9 1990;50(1):31-37.

- **252.** Hong CC, Tang BK, Rao V, et al. Cytochrome P450 1A2 (CYP1A2) activity, mammographic density, and oxidative stress: a cross-sectional study. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2004;6(4):R338-351.
- **253.** Boyd NF, Connelly P, Byng J, et al. Plasma lipids, lipoproteins, and mammographic densities. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Oct-Nov 1995;4(7):727-733.
- **254.** Hojilla CV, Mohammed FF, Khokha R. Matrix metalloproteinases and their tissue inhibitors direct cell fate during cancer development. *Br J Cancer*. Nov 17 2003;89(10):1817-1821.
- **255.** DeFilippis RA, Chang H, Dumont N, et al. CD36 repression activates a multicellular stromal program shared by high mammographic density and tumor tissues. *Cancer Discov.* Sep 2012;2(9):826-839.
- **256.** Houthuijzen JM, Jonkers J. Cancer-associated fibroblasts as key regulators of the breast cancer tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* Dec 2018;37(4):577-597.
- **257.** Sahai E, Astsaturov I, Cukierman E, et al. A framework for advancing our understanding of cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Nat Rev Cancer*. Mar 2020;20(3):174-186.
- **258.** Matasic R, Dietz AB, Vuk-Pavlovic S. Dexamethasone inhibits dendritic cell maturation by redirecting differentiation of a subset of cells. *J Leukoc Biol.* Dec 1999;66(6):909-914.
- **259.** Vinals M, Bermudez I, Llaverias G, et al. Aspirin increases CD36, SR-BI, and ABCA1 expression in human THP-1 macrophages. *Cardiovasc Res.* Apr 1 2005;66(1):141-149.
- **260.** Ruiz-Velasco N, Dominguez A, Vega MA. Statins upregulate CD36 expression in human monocytes, an effect strengthened when combined with PPAR-gamma ligands Putative contribution of Rho GTPases in statin-induced CD36 expression. *Biochem Pharmacol.* Jan 15 2004;67(2):303-313.
- **261.** DeFilippis RA, Fordyce C, Patten K, et al. Stress signaling from human mammary epithelial cells contributes to phenotypes of mammographic density. *Cancer Res.* Sep 15 2014;74(18):5032-5044.
- **262.** Kaukonen R, Mai A, Georgiadou M, et al. Normal stroma suppresses cancer cell proliferation via mechanosensitive regulation of JMJD1a-mediated transcription. *Nat Commun.* Aug 4 2016;7:12237.
- **263.** Provenzano PP, Keely PJ. Mechanical signaling through the cytoskeleton regulates cell proliferation by coordinated focal adhesion and Rho GTPase signaling. *J Cell Sci.* Apr 15 2011;124(Pt 8):1195-1205.
- **264.** Folkerd EJ, Martin LA, Kendall A, Dowsett M. The relationship between factors affecting endogenous oestradiol levels in postmenopausal women and breast cancer. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol.* Dec 2006;102(1-5):250-255.
- **265.** Schoemaker MJ, Folkerd EJ, Jones ME, et al. Combined effects of endogenous sex hormone levels and mammographic density on postmenopausal breast cancer risk: results from the Breakthrough Generations Study. *Br J Cancer*. Apr 2 2014;110(7):1898-1907.

- **266.** Aiello EJ, Buist DS, White E, Porter PL. Association between mammographic breast density and breast cancer tumor characteristics. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Mar 2005;14(3):662-668.
- **267.** Tamimi RM, Hankinson SE, Colditz GA, Byrne C. Endogenous sex hormone levels and mammographic density among postmenopausal women. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Nov 2005;14(11 Pt 1):2641-2647.
- **268.** Greendale GA, Palla SL, Ursin G, et al. The association of endogenous sex steroids and sex steroid binding proteins with mammographic density: results from the Postmenopausal Estrogen/Progestin Interventions Mammographic Density Study. *Am J Epidemiol.* Nov 1 2005;162(9):826-834.
- **269.** McCormack VA, Dowsett M, Folkerd E, et al. Sex steroids, growth factors and mammographic density: a cross-sectional study of UK postmenopausal Caucasian and Afro-Caribbean women. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2009;11(3):R38.
- **270.** Fuhrman BJ, Brinton LA, Pfeiffer RM, et al. Estrogen metabolism and mammographic density in postmenopausal women: a cross-sectional study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Sep 2012;21(9):1582-1591.
- **271.** Bertrand KA, Eliassen AH, Hankinson SE, Rosner BA, Tamimi RM. Circulating Hormones and Mammographic Density in Premenopausal Women. *Horm Cancer.* Apr 2018;9(2):117-127.
- 272. Jung S, Stanczyk FZ, Egleston BL, et al. Endogenous sex hormones and breast density in young women. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Feb 2015;24(2):369-378.
- 273. Eriksson M, Czene K, Pawitan Y, Leifland K, Darabi H, Hall P. A clinical model for identifying the short-term risk of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* Mar 14 2017;19(1):29.
- 274. Gabrielson M, Azam S, Hardell E, et al. Hormonal determinants of mammographic density and density change. *Breast Cancer Res.* Aug 26 2020;22(1):95.
- **275.** Boyd NF, Rommens JM, Vogt K, et al. Mammographic breast density as an intermediate phenotype for breast cancer. *Lancet Oncol.* Oct 2005;6(10):798-808.
- 276. Azam S, Sjolander A, Eriksson M, Gabrielson M, Czene K, Hall P. Determinants of Mammographic Density Change. JNCI Cancer Spectr. Mar 2019;3(1):pkz004.
- 277. Hovhannisyan G, Chow L, Schlosser A, Yaffe MJ, Boyd NF, Martin LJ. Differences in measured mammographic density in the menstrual cycle. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jul 2009;18(7):1993-1999.
- **278.** Ghosh K, Hartmann LC, Reynolds C, et al. Association between mammographic density and age-related lobular involution of the breast. *J Clin Oncol.* May 1 2010;28(13):2207-2212.
- **279.** Ghosh K, Vachon CM, Pankratz VS, et al. Independent association of lobular involution and mammographic breast density with breast cancer risk. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Nov 17 2010;102(22):1716-1723.
- **280.** Gierach GL, Patel DA, Pfeiffer RM, et al. Relationship of Terminal Duct Lobular Unit Involution of the Breast with Area and Volume Mammographic Densities. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila).* Feb 2016;9(2):149-158.

- 281. Maskarinec G, Ju D, Horio D, Loo LW, Hernandez BY. Involution of breast tissue and mammographic density. *Breast Cancer Res.* Dec 15 2016;18(1):128.
- **282.** Burton A, Maskarinec G, Perez-Gomez B, et al. Mammographic density and ageing: A collaborative pooled analysis of cross-sectional data from 22 countries worldwide. *PLoS Med.* Jun 2017;14(6):e1002335.
- **283.** Pettersson A, Hankinson SE, Willett WC, Lagiou P, Trichopoulos D, Tamimi RM. Nondense mammographic area and risk of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* Oct 21 2011;13(5):R100.
- **284.** Buechler C, Krautbauer S, Eisinger K. Adipose tissue fibrosis. *World J Diabetes*. May 15 2015;6(4):548-553.
- **285.** Seo BR, Bhardwaj P, Choi S, et al. Obesity-dependent changes in interstitial ECM mechanics promote breast tumorigenesis. *Sci Transl Med.* Aug 19 2015;7(301):301ra130.
- **286.** Arendt LM, Rudnick JA, Keller PJ, Kuperwasser C. Stroma in breast development and disease. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* Feb 2010;21(1):11-18.
- **287.** Abrahamsson A, Rzepecka A, Romu T, et al. Dense breast tissue in postmenopausal women is associated with a pro-inflammatory microenvironment in vivo. *Oncoimmunology*. 2016;5(10):e1229723.
- **288.** Abrahamsson A, Rzepecka A, Dabrosin C. Increased nutrient availability in dense breast tissue of postmenopausal women in vivo. *Sci Rep.* Feb 15 2017;7:42733.
- **289.** Huo CW, Hill P, Chew G, et al. High mammographic density in women is associated with protumor inflammation. *Breast Cancer Res.* Aug 9 2018;20(1):92.
- 290. Abrahamsson A, Rzepecka A, Dabrosin C. Equal Pro-inflammatory Profiles of CCLs, CXCLs, and Matrix Metalloproteinases in the Extracellular Microenvironment In Vivo in Human Dense Breast Tissue and Breast Cancer. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1994.
- **291.** Yang WT, Lewis MT, Hess K, et al. Decreased TGFbeta signaling and increased COX2 expression in high risk women with increased mammographic breast density. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Jan 2010;119(2):305-314.
- **292.** Yaghjyan L, Wijayabahu A, Eliassen AH, Colditz G, Rosner B, Tamimi RM. Associations of aspirin and other anti-inflammatory medications with mammographic breast density and breast cancer risk. *Cancer Causes Control.* Sep 2020;31(9):827-837.
- **293.** McTiernan A, Wang CY, Sorensen B, et al. No effect of aspirin on mammographic density in a randomized controlled clinical trial. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* May 2009;18(5):1524-1530.
- **294.** Stone J, Willenberg L, Apicella C, Treloar S, Hopper J. The association between mammographic density measures and aspirin or other NSAID use. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Feb 2012;132(1):259-266.
- **295.** Wood ME, Sprague BL, Oustimov A, et al. Aspirin use is associated with lower mammographic density in a large screening cohort. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Apr 2017;162(3):419-425.

- **296.** Saftlas AF, Hoover RN, Brinton LA, et al. Mammographic densities and risk of breast cancer. *Cancer*. Jun 1 1991;67(11):2833-2838.
- **297.** Wengert GJ, Helbich TH, Kapetas P, Baltzer PA, Pinker K. Density and tailored breast cancer screening: practice and prediction an overview. *Acta Radiol Open*. Sep 2018;7(9):2058460118791212.
- **298.** Whitehead J, Carlile T, Kopecky KJ, et al. Wolfe mammographic parenchymal patterns. A study of the masking hypothesis of Egan and Mosteller. *Cancer.* Sep 15 1985;56(6):1280-1286.
- **299.** Boyd NF, Guo H, Martin LJ, et al. Mammographic density and the risk and detection of breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Jan 18 2007;356(3):227-236.
- **300.** von Euler-Chelpin M, Lillholm M, Vejborg I, Nielsen M, Lynge E. Sensitivity of screening mammography by density and texture: a cohort study from a population-based screening program in Denmark. *Breast Cancer Res.* Oct 17 2019;21(1):111.
- **301.** Alonzo-Proulx O, Mainprize JG, Harvey JA, Yaffe MJ. Investigating the feasibility of stratified breast cancer screening using a masking risk predictor. *Breast Cancer Res.* Aug 9 2019;21(1):91.
- **302.** Pike MC, Krailo MD, Henderson BE, Casagrande JT, Hoel DG. 'Hormonal' risk factors, 'breast tissue age' and the age-incidence of breast cancer. *Nature.* Jun 30 1983;303(5920):767-770.
- **303.** Boyd NF, Martin LJ, Yaffe M, Minkin S. Mammographic density. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2009;11 Suppl 3:S4.
- **304.** Napolitano G, Lynge E, Lillholm M, et al. Change in mammographic density across birth cohorts of Dutch breast cancer screening participants. *Int J Cancer*. Dec 1 2019;145(11):2954-2962.
- **305.** Boyd NF, Dite GS, Stone J, et al. Heritability of mammographic density, a risk factor for breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Sep 19 2002;347(12):886-894.
- **306.** Martin LJ, Boyd NF. Mammographic density. Potential mechanisms of breast cancer risk associated with mammographic density: hypotheses based on epidemiological evidence. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2008;10(1):201.
- 307. Vachon CM, Kuni CC, Anderson K, Anderson VE, Sellers TA. Association of mammographically defined percent breast density with epidemiologic risk factors for breast cancer (United States). *Cancer Causes Control.* Aug 2000;11(7):653-662.
- **308.** Lope V, Perez-Gomez B, Sanchez-Contador C, et al. Obstetric history and mammographic density: a population-based cross-sectional study in Spain (DDM-Spain). *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Apr 2012;132(3):1137-1146.
- **309.** Gabrielson M, Chiesa F, Behmer C, Ronnow K, Czene K, Hall P. Association of reproductive history with breast tissue characteristics and receptor status in the normal breast. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Aug 2018;170(3):487-497.
- **310.** Greendale GA, Reboussin BA, Slone S, Wasilauskas C, Pike MC, Ursin G. Postmenopausal hormone therapy and change in mammographic density. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Jan 1 2003;95(1):30-37.

- **311.** Azam S, Lange T, Huynh S, et al. Hormone replacement therapy, mammographic density, and breast cancer risk: a cohort study. *Cancer Causes Control.* Jun 2018;29(6):495-505.
- **312.** Dorgan JF, Klifa C, Deshmukh S, et al. Menstrual and reproductive characteristics and breast density in young women. *Cancer Causes Control*. Nov 2013;24(11):1973-1983.
- **313.** Boyd NF, Lockwood GA, Byng JW, Little LE, Yaffe MJ, Tritchler DL. The relationship of anthropometric measures to radiological features of the breast in premenopausal women. *Br J Cancer*. Nov 1998;78(9):1233-1238.
- **314.** Caglayan EK, Caglayan K, Alkis I, et al. Factors Associated with Mammographic Density in Postmenopausal Women. *J Menopausal Med.* Aug 2015;21(2):82-88.
- **315.** Azam S, Kemp Jacobsen K, Aro AR, et al. Regular physical activity and mammographic density: a cohort study. *Cancer Causes Control.* Nov 2018;29(11):1015-1025.
- **316.** Brand JS, Czene K, Eriksson L, et al. Influence of lifestyle factors on mammographic density in postmenopausal women. *PLoS One.* 2013;8(12):e81876.
- **317.** McDonald JA, Michels KB, Cohn BA, Flom JD, Tehranifar P, Terry MB. Alcohol intake from early adulthood to midlife and mammographic density. *Cancer Causes Control.* Apr 2016;27(4):493-502.
- **318.** MacKenzie TA, Titus-Ernstoff L, Vacek PM, et al. Breast density in relation to risk of ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast in women undergoing screening mammography. *Cancer Causes Control.* Nov 2007;18(9):939-945.
- **319.** Reinier KS, Vacek PM, Geller BM. Risk factors for breast carcinoma in situ versus invasive breast cancer in a prospective study of pre- and post-menopausal women. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Jul 2007;103(3):343-348.
- **320.** Gierach GL, Loud JT, Chow CK, et al. Mammographic density does not differ between unaffected BRCA1/2 mutation carriers and women at low-to-average risk of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Aug 2010;123(1):245-255.
- **321.** Masala G, Assedi M, Sera F, et al. Can Dietary and Physical Activity Modifications Reduce Breast Density in Postmenopausal Women? The DAMA Study, a Randomized Intervention Trial in Italy. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jan 2019;28(1):41-50.
- **322.** van der Waal D, Emaus MJ, Bakker MF, et al. Geographic variation in volumetric breast density between screening regions in the Netherlands. *Eur Radiol.* Nov 2015;25(11):3328-3337.
- **323.** Yaghjyan L, Colditz GA, Rosner B, Tamimi RM. Mammographic breast density and breast cancer risk: interactions of percent density, absolute dense, and non-dense areas with breast cancer risk factors. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. Feb 2015;150(1):181-189.
- **324.** Eriksson L, He W, Eriksson M, et al. Adjuvant Therapy and Mammographic Density Changes in Women With Breast Cancer. *JNCI Cancer Spectr.* Oct 2018;2(4):pky071.
- **325.** Knight JA, Blackmore KM, Fan J, et al. The association of mammographic density with risk of contralateral breast cancer and change in density with treatment in the WECARE study. *Breast Cancer Res.* Mar 22 2018;20(1):23.

- **326.** Sellers TA, Vachon CM, Pankratz VS, et al. Association of childhood and adolescent anthropometric factors, physical activity, and diet with adult mammographic breast density. *Am J Epidemiol*. Aug 15 2007;166(4):456-464.
- **327.** Hardefeldt PJ, Edirimanne S, Eslick GD. Diabetes increases the risk of breast cancer: a meta-analysis. *Endocr Relat Cancer*. Dec 2012;19(6):793-803.
- **328.** Oskar S, Engmann NJ, Azus AR, Tehranifar P. Gestational diabetes, type II diabetes, and mammographic breast density in a U.S. racially diverse population screened for breast cancer. *Cancer Causes Control.* Aug 2018;29(8):731-736.
- **329.** Skarping I, Brand JS, Hall P, Borgquist S. Effects of statin use on volumetric mammographic density: results from the KARMA study. *BMC Cancer*. May 28 2015;15:435.
- **330.** Engmann NJ, Scott CG, Jensen MR, et al. Longitudinal Changes in Volumetric Breast Density with Tamoxifen and Aromatase Inhibitors. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jun 2017;26(6):930-937.
- **331.** Bertrand KA, Tamimi RM, Scott CG, et al. Mammographic density and risk of breast cancer by age and tumor characteristics. *Breast Cancer Res.* Nov 4 2013;15(6):R104.
- **332.** Boyd NF, Martin LJ, Yaffe MJ, Minkin S. Mammographic density and breast cancer risk: current understanding and future prospects. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2011;13(6):223.
- **333.** Antoni S, Sasco AJ, dos Santos Silva I, McCormack V. Is mammographic density differentially associated with breast cancer according to receptor status? A meta-analysis. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Jan 2013;137(2):337-347.
- **334.** Velasquez Garcia HA, Gotay CC, Wilson CM, et al. Mammographic density parameters and breast cancer tumor characteristics among postmenopausal women. *Breast Cancer (Dove Med Press).* 2019;11:261-271.
- **335.** Hack CC, Haberle L, Geisler K, et al. Mammographic Density and Prediction of Nodal Status in Breast Cancer Patients. *Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd*. Feb 2013;73(2):136-141.
- **336.** Krishnan K, Baglietto L, Stone J, et al. Mammographic density and risk of breast cancer by tumor characteristics: a case-control study. *BMC Cancer*. Dec 16 2017;17(1):859.
- **337.** Sartor H, Zackrisson S, Elebro K, Hartman L, Borgquist S. Mammographic density in relation to tumor biomarkers, molecular subtypes, and mode of detection in breast cancer. *Cancer Causes Control.* Jun 2015;26(6):931-939.
- **338.** Khan QJ, Kimler BF, O'Dea AP, Zalles CM, Sharma P, Fabian CJ. Mammographic density does not correlate with Ki-67 expression or cytomorphology in benign breast cells obtained by random periareolar fine needle aspiration from women at high risk for breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2007;9(3):R35.
- **339.** Heusinger K, Jud SM, Haberle L, et al. Association of mammographic density with the proliferation marker Ki-67 in a cohort of patients with invasive breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Oct 2012;135(3):885-892.
- **340.** Boyd N, Berman H, Zhu J, et al. The origins of breast cancer associated with mammographic density: a testable biological hypothesis. *Breast Cancer Res.* Mar 7 2018;20(1):17.

- **341.** Ghosh K, Vierkant RA, Frank RD, et al. Association between mammographic breast density and histologic features of benign breast disease. *Breast Cancer Res.* Dec 19 2017;19(1):134.
- 342. Cil T, Fishell E, Hanna W, et al. Mammographic density and the risk of breast cancer recurrence after breast-conserving surgery. *Cancer*. Dec 15 2009;115(24):5780-5787.
- **343.** Buist DS, Abraham LA, Barlow WE, et al. Diagnosis of second breast cancer events after initial diagnosis of early stage breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Dec 2010;124(3):863-873.
- **344.** Eriksson L, Czene K, Rosenberg L, Humphreys K, Hall P. Possible influence of mammographic density on local and locoregional recurrence of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2013;15(4):R56.
- **345.** van der Waal D, Verbeek ALM, Broeders MJM. Breast density and breast cancerspecific survival by detection mode. *BMC Cancer*. Apr 5 2018;18(1):386.
- **346.** Olsson A, Sartor H, Borgquist S, Zackrisson S, Manjer J. Breast density and mode of detection in relation to breast cancer specific survival: a cohort study. *BMC Cancer*. Mar 28 2014;14:229.
- **347.** Porter GJ, Evans AJ, Cornford EJ, et al. Influence of mammographic parenchymal pattern in screening-detected and interval invasive breast cancers on pathologic features, mammographic features, and patient survival. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*. Mar 2007;188(3):676-683.
- **348.** Eriksson L, Czene K, Rosenberg LU, Tornberg S, Humphreys K, Hall P. Mammographic density and survival in interval breast cancers. *Breast Cancer Res.* Jun 20 2013;15(3):R48.
- **349.** Gierach GL, Ichikawa L, Kerlikowske K, et al. Relationship between mammographic density and breast cancer death in the Breast Cancer Surveillance Consortium. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Aug 22 2012;104(16):1218-1227.
- **350.** Hwang KT, Chu AJ, Kim J, et al. Prognostic Influence of Preoperative Mammographic Breast Density in Operable Invasive Female Breast Cancer. *Sci Rep.* Oct 30 2018;8(1):16075.
- **351.** Sartor H. *Mammographic density in relation to breast cancer Tumor characteristics, mode of detection, and density assessments.*: Medical Radiology Unit., Lund University; 2015.
- **352.** Destounis S, Arieno A, Morgan R, Roberts C, Chan A. Qualitative Versus Quantitative Mammographic Breast Density Assessment: Applications for the US and Abroad. *Diagnostics (Basel)*. May 31 2017;7(2).
- **353.** Wolfe JN. Risk for breast cancer development determined by mammographic parenchymal pattern. *Cancer*. May 1976;37(5):2486-2492.
- **354.** Gram IT, Funkhouser E, Tabar L. The Tabar classification of mammographic parenchymal patterns. *Eur J Radiol.* Feb 1997;24(2):131-136.
- **355.** Sickles E, D'Orsi CJ, Bassett LW, et al. ACR BI-RADS® Mammography. In: ACR BI-RADS® Atlas, Breast Imaging Reporting and Data System. In: Radiology ACo, ed. Reston, VA2013.

- **356.** Beattie L, Harkness E, Bydder M, et al. Factors Affecting Agreement between Breast Density Assessment Using Volumetric Methods and Visual Analogue Scales. 2014; Cham.
- **357.** Byng JW, Boyd NF, Fishell E, Jong RA, Yaffe MJ. The quantitative analysis of mammographic densities. *Phys Med Biol.* Oct 1994;39(10):1629-1638.
- **358.** Ursin G, Astrahan MA, Salane M, et al. The detection of changes in mammographic densities. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jan 1998;7(1):43-47.
- **359.** FDA US Food and Drug. DenSeeMammo, 2018; <u>https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/cdrh_docs/pdf17/K173574.pdf</u>. [Accessed 15 sep, 2020].
- **360.** Nickson C, Arzhaeva Y, Aitken Z, et al. AutoDensity: an automated method to measure mammographic breast density that predicts breast cancer risk and screening outcomes. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2013;15(5):R80.
- **361.** Li J, Szekely L, Eriksson L, et al. High-throughput mammographic-density measurement: a tool for risk prediction of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* Jul 30 2012;14(4):R114.
- **362.** Keller BM, Chen J, Daye D, Conant EF, Kontos D. Preliminary evaluation of the publicly available Laboratory for Breast Radiodensity Assessment (LIBRA) software tool: comparison of fully automated area and volumetric density measures in a case-control study with digital mammography. *Breast Cancer Res.* Aug 25 2015;17:117.
- **363.** Tagliafico A, Tagliafico G, Tosto S, et al. Mammographic density estimation: comparison among BI-RADS categories, a semi-automated software and a fully automated one. *Breast.* Feb 2009;18(1):35-40.
- **364.** Shepherd JA, Herve L, Landau J, Fan B, Kerlikowske K, Cummings SR. Novel use of single X-ray absorptiometry for measuring breast density. *Technol Cancer Res Treat.* Apr 2005;4(2):173-182.
- **365.** Alonzo-Proulx O, Packard N, Boone JM, et al. Validation of a method for measuring the volumetric breast density from digital mammograms. *Phys Med Biol.* Jun 7 2010;55(11):3027-3044.
- **366.** Hartman K, Highnam R, Warren R, Jackson V. Volumetric assessment of breast tissue composition from FFDM images. *Lect Notes Comput Sc.* 2008;5116:33-+.
- **367.** Ducote JL, Molloi S. Quantification of breast density with dual energy mammography: a simulation study. *Med Phys.* Dec 2008;35(12):5411-5418.
- **368.** Highnam R, Brady M, Yaffe MJ, Karssemeijer N, Harvey J. Robust Breast Composition Measurement - Volpara (TM). *Digital Mammography*. 2010;6136:342-+.
- **369.** Spak DA, Plaxco JS, Santiago L, Dryden MJ, Dogan BE. BI-RADS((R)) fifth edition: A summary of changes. *Diagn Interv Imaging*. Mar 2017;98(3):179-190.
- **370.** Price ER, Hargreaves J, Lipson JA, et al. The California breast density information group: a collaborative response to the issues of breast density, breast cancer risk, and breast density notification legislation. *Radiology*. Dec 2013;269(3):887-892.
- **371.** Posso M, Louro J, Sanchez M, et al. Mammographic breast density: How it affects performance indicators in screening programmes? *Eur J Radiol.* Jan 2019;110:81-87.

- **372.** Sprague BL, Gangnon RE, Burt V, et al. Prevalence of mammographically dense breasts in the United States. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Oct 2014;106(10).
- **373.** Carney PA, Miglioretti DL, Yankaskas BC, et al. Individual and combined effects of age, breast density, and hormone replacement therapy use on the accuracy of screening mammography. *Ann Intern Med.* Feb 4 2003;138(3):168-175.
- **374.** Gubern-Merida A, Kallenberg M, Platel B, Mann RM, Marti R, Karssemeijer N. Volumetric breast density estimation from full-field digital mammograms: a validation study. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(1):e85952.
- **375.** Wang J, Azziz A, Fan B, et al. Agreement of mammographic measures of volumetric breast density to MRI. *PLoS One.* 2013;8(12):e81653.
- **376.** Damases CN, Brennan PC, McEntee MF. Mammographic density measurements are not affected by mammography system. *J Med Imaging (Bellingham)*. Jan 2015;2(1):015501.
- **377.** Brand JS, Czene K, Shepherd JA, et al. Automated measurement of volumetric mammographic density: a tool for widespread breast cancer risk assessment. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Sep 2014;23(9):1764-1772.
- **378.** Pettersson A, Graff RE, Ursin G, et al. Mammographic density phenotypes and risk of breast cancer: a meta-analysis. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* May 10 2014;106(5).
- **379.** Byrne C, Schairer C, Wolfe J, et al. Mammographic features and breast cancer risk: effects with time, age, and menopause status. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Nov 1 1995;87(21):1622-1629.
- **380.** Lokate M, Peeters PH, Peelen LM, Haars G, Veldhuis WB, van Gils CH. Mammographic density and breast cancer risk: the role of the fat surrounding the fibroglandular tissue. *Breast Cancer Res.* Oct 26 2011;13(5):R103.
- **381.** Haars G, van Noord PA, van Gils CH, Grobbee DE, Peeters PH. Measurements of breast density: no ratio for a ratio. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Nov 2005;14(11 Pt 1):2634-2640.
- **382.** Sak MA, Littrup PJ, Duric N, Mullooly M, Sherman ME, Gierach GL. Current and Future Methods for Measuring Breast Density: A Brief Comparative Review. *Breast Cancer Manag.* 2015;4(4):209-221.
- **383.** Freer PE. Mammographic breast density: impact on breast cancer risk and implications for screening. *Radiographics*. Mar-Apr 2015;35(2):302-315.
- **384.** Houssami N, Lee CI. The impact of legislation mandating breast density notification Review of the evidence. *Breast.* Dec 2018;42:102-112.
- **385.** Sobotka J, Hinrichs C. Breast Density Legislation: Discussion of Patient Utilization and Subsequent Direct Financial Ramifications for Insurance Providers. *J Am Coll Radiol.* Oct 2015;12(10):1011-1015.
- 386. Chau SL, Alabaster A, Luikart K, Brenman LM, Habel LA. The Effect of California's Breast Density Notification Legislation on Breast Cancer Screening. J Prim Care Community Health. Apr 2017;8(2):55-62.
- **387.** Mason C, Yokubaitis K, Howard E, Shah Z, Wang J. Impact of Henda's law on the utilization of screening breast magnetic resonance imaging. *Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent)*. Jan 2015;28(1):7-9.

- 388. Bahl M, Baker JA, Bhargavan-Chatfield M, Brandt EK, Ghate SV. Impact of Breast Density Notification Legislation on Radiologists' Practices of Reporting Breast Density: A Multi-State Study. *Radiology*. Sep 2016;280(3):701-706.
- **389.** Gabrielson M, Eriksson M, Hammarstrom M, et al. Cohort Profile: The Karolinska Mammography Project for Risk Prediction of Breast Cancer (KARMA). *Int J Epidemiol.* Dec 1 2017;46(6):1740-1741g.
- **390.** Hammond ME, Hayes DF, Dowsett M, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology/College Of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for immunohistochemical testing of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* Jun 1 2010;28(16):2784-2795.
- **391.** Prabhu JS, Korlimarla A, Desai K, et al. A Majority of Low (1-10%) ER Positive Breast Cancers Behave Like Hormone Receptor Negative Tumors. *J Cancer*. 2014;5(2):156-165.
- **392.** Iwamoto T, Booser D, Valero V, et al. Estrogen receptor (ER) mRNA and ER-related gene expression in breast cancers that are 1% to 10% ER-positive by immunohistochemistry. *J Clin Oncol.* Mar 1 2012;30(7):729-734.
- **393.** de Azambuja E, Cardoso F, de Castro G, Jr., et al. Ki-67 as prognostic marker in early breast cancer: a meta-analysis of published studies involving 12,155 patients. *Br J Cancer.* May 21 2007;96(10):1504-1513.
- **394.** Hashmi AA, Hashmi KA, Irfan M, et al. Ki67 index in intrinsic breast cancer subtypes and its association with prognostic parameters. *BMC Res Notes*. Sep 23 2019;12(1):605.
- **395.** Yerushalmi R, Woods R, Ravdin PM, Hayes MM, Gelmon KA. Ki67 in breast cancer: prognostic and predictive potential. *Lancet Oncol.* Feb 2010;11(2):174-183.
- **396.** Sueta A, Yamamoto Y, Hayashi M, et al. Clinical significance of pretherapeutic Ki67 as a predictive parameter for response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer: is it equally useful across tumor subtypes? *Surgery*. May 2014;155(5):927-935.
- **397.** Yoshioka T, Hosoda M, Yamamoto M, et al. Prognostic significance of pathologic complete response and Ki67 expression after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer.* Mar 2015;22(2):185-191.
- **398.** Kim KI, Lee KH, Kim TR, Chun YS, Lee TH, Park HK. Ki-67 as a predictor of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer patients. *J Breast Cancer*. Mar 2014;17(1):40-46.
- **399.** Inic Z, Zegarac M, Inic M, et al. Difference between Luminal A and Luminal B Subtypes According to Ki-67, Tumor Size, and Progesterone Receptor Negativity Providing Prognostic Information. *Clin Med Insights Oncol.* 2014;8:107-111.
- **400.** Goldhirsch A, Winer EP, Coates AS, et al. Personalizing the treatment of women with early breast cancer: highlights of the St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2013. *Ann Oncol.* Sep 2013;24(9):2206-2223.
- **401.** Tashima R, Nishimura R, Osako T, et al. Evaluation of an Optimal Cut-Off Point for the Ki-67 Index as a Prognostic Factor in Primary Breast Cancer: A Retrospective Study. *PLoS One.* 2015;10(7):e0119565.

- **402.** Chen YY, Tseng LM, Yang CF, Lien PJ, Hsu CY. Adjust cut-off values of immunohistochemistry models to predict risk of distant recurrence in invasive breast carcinoma patients. *J Chin Med Assoc.* Dec 2016;79(12):649-655.
- **403.** Bustreo S, Osella-Abate S, Cassoni P, et al. Optimal Ki67 cut-off for luminal breast cancer prognostic evaluation: a large case series study with a long-term follow-up. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Jun 2016;157(2):363-371.
- **404.** Maisonneuve P, Disalvatore D, Rotmensz N, et al. Proposed new clinicopathological surrogate definitions of luminal A and luminal B (HER2-negative) intrinsic breast cancer subtypes. *Breast Cancer Res.* Jun 20 2014;16(3):R65.
- **405.** Bossuyt V, Provenzano E, Symmans WF, et al. Recommendations for standardized pathological characterization of residual disease for neoadjuvant clinical trials of breast cancer by the BIG-NABCG collaboration. *Ann Oncol.* Jul 2015;26(7):1280-1291.
- **406.** Eisenhauer EA, Therasse P, Bogaerts J, et al. New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). *Eur J Cancer*. Jan 2009;45(2):228-247.
- **407.** McHugh ML. Multiple comparison analysis testing in ANOVA. *Biochem Med* (*Zagreb*). 2011;21(3):203-209.
- **408.** de Jong VMT, Eijkemans MJC, van Calster B, et al. Sample size considerations and predictive performance of multinomial logistic prediction models. *Stat Med.* Apr 30 2019;38(9):1601-1619.
- **409.** McHugh ML. Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. *Biochem Med (Zagreb)*. 2012;22(3):276-282.
- **410.** Bland JM, Altman DG. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. *Lancet.* Feb 8 1986;1(8476):307-310.
- **411.** Bland JM, Altman DG. Comparing methods of measurement: why plotting difference against standard method is misleading. *Lancet.* Oct 21 1995;346(8982):1085-1087.
- **412.** Giavarina D. Understanding Bland Altman analysis. *Biochem Med (Zagreb)*. 2015;25(2):141-151.
- **413.** Little RJ, D'Agostino R, Cohen ML, et al. The prevention and treatment of missing data in clinical trials. *N Engl J Med.* Oct 4 2012;367(14):1355-1360.
- **414.** Sterne JA, White IR, Carlin JB, et al. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. *BMJ*. Jun 29 2009;338:b2393.
- **415.** VanderWeele TJ. Principles of confounder selection. *Eur J Epidemiol*. Mar 2019;34(3):211-219.
- **416.** Hernan MA, Hernandez-Diaz S, Werler MM, Mitchell AA. Causal knowledge as a prerequisite for confounding evaluation: an application to birth defects epidemiology. *Am J Epidemiol.* Jan 15 2002;155(2):176-184.
- **417.** VanderWeele TJ, Shpitser I. On the definition of a confounder. *Ann Stat.* Feb 2013;41(1):196-220.

- **418.** Pourhoseingholi MA, Baghestani AR, Vahedi M. How to control confounding effects by statistical analysis. *Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench*. Spring 2012;5(2):79-83.
- **419.** Wallach JD, Serghiou S, Chu L, et al. Evaluation of confounding in epidemiologic studies assessing alcohol consumption on the risk of ischemic heart disease. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* Mar 14 2020;20(1):64.
- **420.** Assi V, Warwick J, Cuzick J, Duffy SW. Clinical and epidemiological issues in mammographic density. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* Dec 6 2011;9(1):33-40.
- **421.** Kenneth J. Rothman SG, Timothy L. Lash Validity in epidemiological studies. *Modern Epidemiology*. Third ed: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins 2008.
- **422.** Song JW, Chung KC. Observational studies: cohort and case-control studies. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* Dec 2010;126(6):2234-2242.
- **423.** Greenland S, Senn SJ, Rothman KJ, et al. Statistical tests, P values, confidence intervals, and power: a guide to misinterpretations. *Eur J Epidemiol*. Apr 2016;31(4):337-350.
- **424.** Amrhein V, Greenland S, McShane B. Scientists rise up against statistical significance. *Nature*. Mar 2019;567(7748):305-307.
- **425.** Lash TL. The Harm Done to Reproducibility by the Culture of Null Hypothesis Significance Testing. *Am J Epidemiol.* Sep 15 2017;186(6):627-635.
- **426.** Button KS, Ioannidis JP, Mokrysz C, et al. Power failure: why small sample size undermines the reliability of neuroscience. *Nat Rev Neurosci*. May 2013;14(5):365-376.
- **427.** Rothman KJ, Greenland S. Planning Study Size Based on Precision Rather Than Power. *Epidemiology*. Sep 2018;29(5):599-603.
- **428.** Ekholm O, Strandberg-Larsen K, Christensen K, Gronbaek M. Comparison of assessment methods for self-reported alcohol consumption in health interview surveys. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. Feb 2008;62(2):286-291.
- **429.** Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *J Biomed Inform*. Apr 2009;42(2):377-381.
- **430.** Kohler BA, Sherman RL, Howlader N, et al. Annual Report to the Nation on the Status of Cancer, 1975-2011, Featuring Incidence of Breast Cancer Subtypes by Race/Ethnicity, Poverty, and State. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Jun 2015;107(6):djv048.
- **431.** Bhardwaj SS, Camacho F, Derrow A, Fleischer AB, Jr., Feldman SR. Statistical significance and clinical relevance: the importance of power in clinical trials in dermatology. *Arch Dermatol.* Dec 2004;140(12):1520-1523.
- **432.** Copay AG, Subach BR, Glassman SD, Polly DW, Jr., Schuler TC. Understanding the minimum clinically important difference: a review of concepts and methods. *Spine J.* Sep-Oct 2007;7(5):541-546.
- **433.** Boudreau DM, Rutter CM, Buist DS. The influence of statin use on breast density. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* May 2006;15(5):1026-1029.

- **434.** Higgins MJ, Prowell TM, Blackford AL, et al. A short-term biomarker modulation study of simvastatin in women at increased risk of a new breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Feb 2012;131(3):915-924.
- **435.** Ji Y, Rounds T, Crocker A, et al. The Effect of Atorvastatin on Breast Cancer Biomarkers in High-Risk Women. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)*. May 2016;9(5):379-384.
- **436.** Vinayak S, Schwartz EJ, Jensen K, et al. A clinical trial of lovastatin for modification of biomarkers associated with breast cancer risk. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Nov 2013;142(2):389-398.
- **437.** Beck P, Wysowski DK, Downey W, Butler-Jones D. Statin use and the risk of breast cancer. *J Clin Epidemiol.* Mar 2003;56(3):280-285.
- **438.** Fournier A, Fabre A, Mesrine S, Boutron-Ruault MC, Berrino F, Clavel-Chapelon F. Use of different postmenopausal hormone therapies and risk of histology- and hormone receptor-defined invasive breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* Mar 10 2008;26(8):1260-1268.
- **439.** Borgquist S, Anagnostaki L, Jirstrom K, Landberg G, Manjer J. Breast tumours following combined hormone replacement therapy express favourable prognostic factors. *Int J Cancer*. May 15 2007;120(10):2202-2207.
- **440.** Farhat GN, Parimi N, Chlebowski RT, et al. Sex hormone levels and risk of breast cancer with estrogen plus progestin. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Oct 2 2013;105(19):1496-1503.
- **441.** Nelson ER, Wardell SE, Jasper JS, et al. 27-Hydroxycholesterol links hypercholesterolemia and breast cancer pathophysiology. *Science*. Nov 29 2013;342(6162):1094-1098.
- **442.** Farmer P, Bonnefoi H, Anderle P, et al. A stroma-related gene signature predicts resistance to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer. *Nat Med.* Jan 2009;15(1):68-74.
- **443.** Cox TR, Erler JT. Remodeling and homeostasis of the extracellular matrix: implications for fibrotic diseases and cancer. *Dis Model Mech.* Mar 2011;4(2):165-178.
- **444.** Swartz MA, Fleury ME. Interstitial flow and its effects in soft tissues. *Annu Rev Biomed Eng.* 2007;9:229-256.
- 445. Jang SH, Wientjes MG, Lu D, Au JL. Drug delivery and transport to solid tumors. *Pharm Res.* Sep 2003;20(9):1337-1350.
- **446.** Pietras K, Ostman A. Hallmarks of cancer: interactions with the tumor stroma. *Exp Cell Res.* May 1 2010;316(8):1324-1331.
- 447. Tredan O, Galmarini CM, Patel K, Tannock IF. Drug resistance and the solid tumor microenvironment. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Oct 3 2007;99(19):1441-1454.
- **448.** Skarping I, Fornvik D, Heide-Jorgensen U, et al. Mammographic density changes during neoadjuvant breast cancer treatment: NeoDense, a prospective study in Sweden. *Breast.* Jun 4 2020;53:33-41.
- **449.** Li J, Humphreys K, Eriksson L, Edgren G, Czene K, Hall P. Mammographic density reduction is a prognostic marker of response to adjuvant tamoxifen therapy in

postmenopausal patients with breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* Jun 20 2013;31(18):2249-2256.

- **450.** Roman M, Sala M, Bare M, et al. Changes in mammographic density over time and the risk of breast cancer: An observational cohort study. *Breast.* Aug 2019;46:108-115.
- **451.** Shawky MS, Martin H, Hugo HJ, et al. Mammographic density: a potential monitoring biomarker for adjuvant and preventative breast cancer endocrine therapies. *Oncotarget.* Jan 17 2017;8(3):5578-5591.
- **452.** Mocellin S, Goodwin A, Pasquali S. Risk-reducing medications for primary breast cancer: a network meta-analysis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* Apr 29 2019;4:CD012191.
- **453.** Derks MGM, Blok EJ, Seynaeve C, et al. Adjuvant tamoxifen and exemestane in women with postmenopausal early breast cancer (TEAM): 10-year follow-up of a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* Sep 2017;18(9):1211-1220.
- **454.** Chen JH, Chang YC, Chang D, et al. Reduction of breast density following tamoxifen treatment evaluated by 3-D MRI: preliminary study. *Magn Reson Imaging*. Jan 2011;29(1):91-98.
- **455.** Chen JH, Pan WF, Kao J, et al. Effect of taxane-based neoadjuvant chemotherapy on fibroglandular tissue volume and percent breast density in the contralateral normal breast evaluated by 3T MR. *NMR Biomed.* Dec 2013;26(12):1705-1713.
- **456.** Chen JH, Nie K, Bahri S, et al. Decrease in breast density in the contralateral normal breast of patients receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy: MR imaging evaluation. *Radiology*. Apr 2010;255(1):44-52.
- **457.** Sandberg ME, Li J, Hall P, et al. Change of mammographic density predicts the risk of contralateral breast cancer--a case-control study. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2013;15(4):R57.
- **458.** Zhou Q, Yin W, Du Y, Shen Z, Lu J. Prognostic impact of chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea on premenopausal breast cancer: a meta-analysis of the literature. *Menopause.* Oct 2015;22(10):1091-1097.
- **459.** Ordu C, Pilanci KN, Alco G, et al. Prognostic Significance of Adjuvant Chemotherapy Induced Amenorrhea in Luminal A and B Subtypes. *Eur J Breast Health*. Jul 2018;14(3):173-179.
- **460.** Swain SM, Land SR, Ritter MW, et al. Amenorrhea in premenopausal women on the doxorubicin-and-cyclophosphamide-followed-by-docetaxel arm of NSABP B-30 trial. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* Jan 2009;113(2):315-320.
- **461.** Aktepe F, Kapucuoglu N, Pak I. The effects of chemotherapy on breast cancer tissue in locally advanced breast cancer. *Histopathology*. Jul 1996;29(1):63-67.
- **462.** Fornvik D, Fornvik H, Fieselmann A, Lang K, Sartor H. Comparison between software volumetric breast density estimates in breast tomosynthesis and digital mammography images in a large public screening cohort. *Eur Radiol.* Jan 2019;29(1):330-336.
- **463.** Sartor H, Lang K, Rosso A, Borgquist S, Zackrisson S, Timberg P. Measuring mammographic density: comparing a fully automated volumetric assessment versus

European radiologists' qualitative classification. *Eur Radiol.* Dec 2016;26(12):4354-4360.

- **464.** Shepherd JA, Kerlikowske K, Ma L, et al. Volume of mammographic density and risk of breast cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jul 2011;20(7):1473-1482.
- **465.** Habel LA, Lipson JA, Achacoso N, et al. Case-control study of mammographic density and breast cancer risk using processed digital mammograms. *Breast Cancer Res.* May 21 2016;18(1):53.
- **466.** Baglietto L, Krishnan K, Stone J, et al. Associations of mammographic dense and nondense areas and body mass index with risk of breast cancer. *Am J Epidemiol.* Feb 15 2014;179(4):475-483.
- **467.** van den Brandt PA, Spiegelman D, Yaun SS, et al. Pooled analysis of prospective cohort studies on height, weight, and breast cancer risk. *Am J Epidemiol.* Sep 15 2000;152(6):514-527.
- **468.** Holland K, van Zelst J, den Heeten GJ, et al. Consistency of breast density categories in serial screening mammograms: A comparison between automated and human assessment. *Breast.* Oct 2016;29:49-54.
- **469.** Alonzo-Proulx O, Mawdsley GE, Patrie JT, Yaffe MJ, Harvey JA. Reliability of automated breast density measurements. *Radiology*. May 2015;275(2):366-376.
- **470.** Rahbar K, Gubern-Merida A, Patrie JT, Harvey JA. Automated Volumetric Mammographic Breast Density Measurements May Underestimate Percent Breast Density for High-density Breasts. *Acad Radiol.* Dec 2017;24(12):1561-1569.
- **471.** von Minckwitz G, Blohmer JU, Costa SD, et al. Response-guided neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* Oct 10 2013;31(29):3623-3630.
- **472.** Atkins JJ, Appleton CM, Fisher CS, Gao F, Margenthaler JA. Which imaging modality is superior for prediction of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in patients with triple negative breast cancer? *J Oncol.* 2013;2013:964863.
- **473.** Park J, Chae EY, Cha JH, et al. Comparison of mammography, digital breast tomosynthesis, automated breast ultrasound, magnetic resonance imaging in evaluation of residual tumor after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Eur J Radiol.* Nov 2018;108:261-268.
- **474.** Peintinger F, Kuerer HM, Anderson K, et al. Accuracy of the combination of mammography and sonography in predicting tumor response in breast cancer patients after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Ann Surg Oncol.* Nov 2006;13(11):1443-1449.
- **475.** Savaridas SL, Sim YT, Vinnicombe SJ, Purdie CA, Thompson AM, Evans A. Are baseline ultrasound and mammographic features associated with rates of pathological completes response in patients receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer? *Cancer Imaging.* Oct 21 2019;19(1):67.
- **476.** Li SP, Makris A, Gogbashian A, Simcock IC, Stirling JJ, Goh V. Predicting response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in primary breast cancer using volumetric helical perfusion computed tomography: a preliminary study. *Eur Radiol.* Sep 2012;22(9):1871-1880.
- **477.** Lee HJ, Park IA, Song IH, et al. Comparison of Pathologic Response Evaluation Systems after Anthracycline with/without Taxane-Based Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy among Different Subtypes of Breast Cancers. *PLoS One.* 2015;10(9):e0137885.

- **478.** Hayashi M, Yamamoto Y, Ibusuki M, et al. Evaluation of tumor stiffness by elastography is predictive for pathologic complete response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in patients with breast cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol.* Sep 2012;19(9):3042-3049.
- **479.** An YY, Kim SH, Kang BJ. Residual microcalcifications after neoadjuvant chemotherapy for locally advanced breast cancer: comparison of the accuracies of mammography and MRI in predicting pathological residual tumor. *World J Surg Oncol.* Nov 6 2017;15(1):198.
- **480.** Um E, Kang JW, Lee S, et al. Comparing Accuracy of Mammography and Magnetic Resonance Imaging for Residual Calcified Lesions in Breast Cancer Patients Undergoing Neoadjuvant Systemic Therapy. *Clin Breast Cancer*. Oct 2018;18(5):e1087-e1091.
- **481.** Iotti V, Ravaioli S, Vacondio R, et al. Contrast-enhanced spectral mammography in neoadjuvant chemotherapy monitoring: a comparison with breast magnetic resonance imaging. *Breast Cancer Res.* Sep 11 2017;19(1):106.
- **482.** Croshaw R, Shapiro-Wright H, Svensson E, Erb K, Julian T. Accuracy of clinical examination, digital mammogram, ultrasound, and MRI in determining postneoadjuvant pathologic tumor response in operable breast cancer patients. *Ann Surg Oncol.* Oct 2011;18(11):3160-3163.
- **483.** Keune JD, Jeffe DB, Schootman M, Hoffman A, Gillanders WE, Aft RL. Accuracy of ultrasonography and mammography in predicting pathologic response after neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Am J Surg.* Apr 2010;199(4):477-484.
- **484.** Lee MC, Gonzalez SJ, Lin H, et al. Prospective trial of breast MRI versus 2D and 3D ultrasound for evaluation of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Ann Surg Oncol.* Sep 2015;22(9):2888-2894.
- **485.** Segara D, Krop IE, Garber JE, et al. Does MRI predict pathologic tumor response in women with breast cancer undergoing preoperative chemotherapy? *J Surg Oncol.* Nov 1 2007;96(6):474-480.
- **486.** Giuliano AE, Connolly JL, Edge SB, et al. Breast Cancer-Major changes in the American Joint Committee on Cancer eighth edition cancer staging manual. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Jul 8 2017;67(4):290-303.
- **487.** Ogston KN, Miller ID, Payne S, et al. A new histological grading system to assess response of breast cancers to primary chemotherapy: prognostic significance and survival. *Breast.* Oct 2003;12(5):320-327.
- **488.** Guarneri V, Broglio K, Kau SW, et al. Prognostic value of pathologic complete response after primary chemotherapy in relation to hormone receptor status and other factors. *J Clin Oncol.* Mar 1 2006;24(7):1037-1044.
- **489.** Zhao Y, Dong X, Li R, et al. Evaluation of the pathological response and prognosis following neoadjuvant chemotherapy in molecular subtypes of breast cancer. *Onco Targets Ther.* 2015;8:1511-1521.
- **490.** Corben AD, Abi-Raad R, Popa I, et al. Pathologic response and long-term follow-up in breast cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy: a comparison between classifications and their practical application. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* Aug 2013;137(8):1074-1082.

- **491.** Viale G. Characterization and clinical impact of residual disease after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Breast.* Aug 2013;22 Suppl 2:S88-91.
- **492.** Carey LA, Metzger R, Dees EC, et al. American Joint Committee on Cancer tumornode-metastasis stage after neoadjuvant chemotherapy and breast cancer outcome. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Aug 3 2005;97(15):1137-1142.
- **493.** Sahoo S, Lester SC. Pathology of breast carcinomas after neoadjuvant chemotherapy: an overview with recommendations on specimen processing and reporting. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* Apr 2009;133(4):633-642.
- **494.** Sataloff DM, Mason BA, Prestipino AJ, Seinige UL, Lieber CP, Baloch Z. Pathologic response to induction chemotherapy in locally advanced carcinoma of the breast: a determinant of outcome. *J Am Coll Surg.* Mar 1995;180(3):297-306.
- **495.** Symmans WF, Peintinger F, Hatzis C, et al. Measurement of residual breast cancer burden to predict survival after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *J Clin Oncol.* Oct 1 2007;25(28):4414-4422.
- **496.** The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center. Residual Cancer Burden Calculator, 2020; <u>http://www.mdanderson.org/breastcancer_RCB</u>. [Accessed 15 Sep, 2020].
- **497.** Honkoop AH, van Diest PJ, de Jong JS, et al. Prognostic role of clinical, pathological and biological characteristics in patients with locally advanced breast cancer. *Br J Cancer*. Feb 1998;77(4):621-626.
- **498.** Kuerer HM, Newman LA, Buzdar AU, et al. Pathologic tumor response in the breast following neoadjuvant chemotherapy predicts axillary lymph node status. *Cancer J Sci Am.* Jul-Aug 1998;4(4):230-236.